Lancashire County Council

Regulatory Committee

Wednesday, 16th September, 2020 at 10.30 am - Virtual meeting

Agenda

Part | (Open to Press and Public)

No.

1.

Item

Apologies

Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary
Interests

Members are asked to consider any Pecuniary and
Non-Pecuniary Interests they may have to disclose to
the meeting in relation to matters under consideration
on the Agenda.

Minutes of the last meeting (Pages 1-12)
Guidance (Pages 13 - 36)

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review
of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of
Way and certain Orders to be made under the
Highways Act 1980 is presented for the information of
the Committee.

The Constitution, Membership, Terms of Reference (Pages 37 - 40)
and Programme of Meetings for the Regulatory
Committee

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (Pages 41 - 168)
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation

Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna

Hall and Upgrade of Footpath to Bridleway from

Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle

File No. 804-609

Lancasl;.i‘fe
Sonsy gg;}g



10.

1.

12.

13.

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line
from Strongstry Bridge to Stubbins Station

File No. 804-614

Highways Act 1980 - Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A
Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Heapey 27
at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton, Chorley Borough

Highways Act 1980 - Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A
Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Wheelton 19
at Clovian House and Miry Fold Farm, Briers Brow,
Wheelton, Chorley Borough

Highways Act 1980 - Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A
Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Trawden 188
at Parson Lee Farm, Wycoller Road, Trawden,
Pendle Borough

Highways Act 1980 - Section 118

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A
Proposed Extinguishment of Part of the Recorded
Route of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, From Windsor
Avenue to Staghills Road, Rossendale Borough

Urgent Business

An item of urgent business may only be considered
under this heading where, by reason of special
circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the
Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion that the item
should be considered at the meeting as a matter of
urgency. Wherever possible, the Chief Executive
should be given advance warning of any Member's
intention to raise a matter under this heading.

Date of Next Meeting

The next scheduled meeting will be held at 10.30am on
Wednesday 18 November 2020.

(Pages 169 - 248)

(Pages 249 - 276)

(Pages 277 - 304)

(Pages 305 - 328)

(Pages 329 - 344)



L Sales

Director of Corporate Services
County Hall
Preston






Agenda ltem 3

Lancashire County Council
Regulatory Committee

Minutes of the Meeting held on Wednesday, 11th March, 2020 at 10.30 am in
Cabinet Room 'B' - The Diamond Jubilee Room, County Hall, Preston

Present:
County Councillor Jimmy Eaton BEM (Chair)

County Councillors

| Brown T Aldridge
P Steen D Howarth
J Marsh B Yates

T Burns D Stansfield
B Dawson

1. Apologies

County Councillor Stansfield replaced County Councillor Barron.
County Councillor Yates replaced County Councillor Clempson.
County Councillor Dawson replaced County Councillor Cox.

2, Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests
No pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests were disclosed.

3. Minutes of the last meeting

Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 29" January 2020 be
confirmed and signed by the Chair.

4, Guidance

A report was presented providing guidance on the law relating to the continuous
review of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way and the law
and actions taken by the authority in respect of certain Orders to be made under
the Highways Act 1980.

Resolved: That the Guidance as set out in Annexes 'A’, 'B' and 'C' of the report
presented, be noted.

5. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Investigation into the public rights over the route from Keighley
Road at Parson Lee Farm along Smithy Clough, Trawden, Borough

Page 1



of Pendle
File No. 804-611

A report was presented on an investigation into the public rights over the route
from the eastern end of Keighley Road at Parson Lee Farm along Smithy Clough
to the junction with Bridleway Trawden 191 and Byway Open to all Traffic
Trawden 254, Pendle, as shown between points A-B-C-D on the Committee plan
attached to the agenda papers.

It was reported that the route formed part of promoted footpath — the Bronte Way
— and the Pennine Bridleway National Trail but that it currently had no recorded
public status.

A site inspection had been carried out in May 2019.

The Committee were advised that, on balance, the map and other documentary
evidence was considered sufficient in itself to conclude that the route was a
historical public highway, and it was suggested to Committee that inferred
dedication could, on balance, be satisfied. Although the route had historical
evidence of public carriageway rights, it was no longer possible to record the
route as a byway open to all traffic, due to the introduction of Section 67 Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. The implication of this Section
meant that the highest status that could be achieved by this route was that of
restricted byway.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting how the route was recorded on
the old county maps and the investigations of the Head of Service for Planning
and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on a balance of
probabilities there was sufficient evidence that the route ought to be shown as a
restricted byway.

Resolved:

(i) That an Order(s) be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53
(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a Restricted Byway
on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as shown on
Committee Plan between points A-B-C-D.

(i) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Order be promoted to confirmation.

6. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Addition of a Footpath from Footpath Preesall 1 running along the
sea embankment and ramp to Fluke Hall Lane, Wyre Borough
File No. 804-502

Page 2



A report was presented on an investigation into the addition of a Footpath to be
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way from a
point on Footpath Preesall 1 running along the sea embankment and ramp to
Fluke Hall Lane, Wyre Borough.

It was reported that, from the 1960s until the present time, the map and
photographic evidence examined supported the user evidence and suggested
that the route under investigation was capable of being used. It appeared likely
that once the section of sea wall extending from point A to the ramp (point B) as
shown on the Committee plan had been constructed, this was more likely to be
the route used by people walking the route of Footpath 1, as opposed to
traversing the steep bank between point A and point D.

The Committee noted that the application had been described as extending from
point A to point B, referred to as the public slipway onto Fluke Hall Lane, and that
the slipway had no recorded public status. However, to access Fluke Hall Lane it
was necessary to walk down the concrete slipway/ramp from point B to point C.
The route under investigation therefore included the additional section of the
route C-B, and the evaluation was on that basis.

A site inspection had been carried out by the county council prior to the
submission of the application in 2008, and photographs taken recording what the
route looked like at that time. These photographs have been used to describe
what the route looked like at that time, and a further site inspection had been
carried out by the Investigating Officer in 2019 to note any changes since that
time.

The Committee were informed that, taking all of the evidence into account, the
Committee on balance may consider that the provisions of Section 31 of the
Highways Act 1980 could be satisfied. In addition, or in the alternative,
Committee were advised they may also consider that it could be reasonably
alleged that there was sufficient evidence from which to infer dedication of a
public footpath at common law.

Page 3



Resolved:

(i) That the application for a Footpath from a point on Footpath Preesall 1 to
'the public ramp' to be recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, and
shown on the Committee plan by a thick dashed line between point A and
point B, in accordance with File no. 804-502, be accepted.

(i) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a public
footpath from a point on Footpath Preesall 1 along the sea embankment and
ramp to a point on Fluke Hall Lane on the Definitive Map and Statement of
Public Rights of Way as shown on Committee Plan between points A-B-C.

(iif) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Order be promoted to confirmation.

7. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Addition of Footpath between Lightfoot Lane and Tanterton Hall
Road, Preston
File No. 804-379a

In 2000, an application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 had been received for the addition of a number of footpaths which had been
described by the applicant as being situated on land forming part of Ingol Golf
Course, and as having been provided by the former Central Lancashire
Development Corporation. Five separate sets of routes had been listed and
numbered 1 to 5, and evidence in support of each route had been provided.

This report considered the route referred to as 'Route 1' — the addition of footpath
length from Lightfoot Lane to Tom Benson Way and continuing to meet Footway
F8513 at Tanterton Hall Road. The route was shown between points A-B-C and
D-E-F-G-H-I-J-K-L on the Committee plan attached to the agenda papers.

Although the route had recently been inspected, because the application related
largely to user evidence predating 2000, details of the 2006 site inspection had
been included in the report rather than a detailed description of the site in 2016,
as the 2006 inspection provided a better indication of what existed on the ground,
closer to the time that the routes were said to have been used.

The Committee were advised that, in addition to the user evidence, map and
documentary evidence should also be considered.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting the investigations of the Head
of Service for Planning and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on
a balance of probabilities, there was sufficient evidence that the route ought to be
shown as footpaths.

Page 4



Resolved:

(i) That the application to add to the Definitive Map and Statement footpath
lengths between Nog Tow and Tanterton, Preston, in accordance with file
804-379a, be accepted.

(i) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add two
footpaths between Lightfoot Lane and Tom Benson Way and between Tom
Benson Way and Tanterton Hall Road, Fulwood, Preston City to the Definitive
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as shown on Committee Plan
between points A-B-C and D-E-F-G-H-I-J-K-L.

(iif) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Order be promoted to confirmation.

8. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
1) Addition of public footpaths from Walker Lane to Tanterton
Hall Road, Preston
i) Addition of a public footpath from Walker Lane to Lightfoot
Lane, Preston File No. 804-379b

In 2000, an application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 had been received for the addition of a number of footpaths which had been
described by the applicant as being situated on land forming part of Ingol Golf
Course, and as having been provided by the former Central Lancashire
Development Corporation. Five separate sets of routes had been listed and
numbered 1 to 5, and evidence in support of each route had been provided.

This report considered the routes referred to by the applicant as 'Route 2'.
However, due to its length and the fact that it is split by Walker Lane, it has been
split down further into routes 2A and 2B for the purpose of this report as
described below:

Route 2A — Two footpaths from Walker Lane to Tanterton Hall Road shown by a
thick dashed line between points A-B-C-D-E-F-G and H-I-J-K-L-E on the
Committee plan attached to the agenda papers.

Route 2B — A footpath from Walker Lane to Lightfoot Lane shown by a thick
dashed line between points V-W-X-Y on the Committee plan attached to the
agenda papers.

It was noted that, because the application related largely to user evidence pre-
dating 2000, details of the 2006 site inspection had been included in the report.
This provided a better indication of what existed on the ground, closer to the time
that the routes were said to have been used. Further site inspections had been

Page 5



carried out in 2016 and 2017 to see what changes had occurred since the 2006
inspection.

The Committee were advised that, in addition to the user evidence, map and
documentary evidence should also be considered.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting the investigations of the Head
of Service for Planning and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on
a balance of probabilities, there was sufficient evidence that the routes ought to
be shown as footpaths.

Resolved:

(i) That the application to add to the Definitive Map and Statement footpath
lengths from Walker Lane to Tanterton Hall Road, Preston, in accordance with
file 804-379b, be accepted.

(i) That the application to add to the Definitive Map and Statement footpath
lengths from Walker Lane to Lightfoot Lane, Preston, in accordance with file
804-379b, be accepted.

(iif) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way two footpaths from
Walker Lane to Tanterton Hall Road, Preston as shown on Committee Plan
between A-B-C-D-E-F-G and H-I-J-K-L-E.

(iv) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way a footpath from Walker
Lane to Lightfoot Lane at Ingol Golf Course, Preston as shown on Committee
Plan between V-W-X-Y.

(v) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Orders be promoted to confirmation.

9. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Addition of Footpaths from Manor Court and Greenacres across
Sharoe Brook to Footpath Fulwood 43, Preston
File No. 804-379c

In 2000, an application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 had been received for the addition of a number of footpaths which had been
described by the applicant as being situated on land forming part of Ingol Golf
Course, and as having been provided by the former Central Lancashire

Page 6



Development Corporation. Five separate sets of routes had been listed and
numbered 1 to 5, and evidence in support of each route had been provided.

This report considered the route referred to by the applicant as 'Route 3' —
addition of footpaths from Manor Court and Greenacres across Sharoe Brook to
2 points on Footpath Fulwood 43, Preston. The route was shown by a thick
dashed line between points A-B-C, B-D-E-F, G-H-I-J and H-L-K on the
Committee plan attached to the agenda papers.

It was reported that because the application related largely to user evidence pre-
dating 2000, details of the 2005 site inspection had been included in the report.
This provided a better indication of what existed on the ground closer to the time
that the routes were said to have been used. A further site inspection had been
carried out in 2019 to see if any changes had occurred since the 2005 inspection.

The Committee were advised that, in addition to the user evidence, map and
documentary evidence should also be considered.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting the investigations of the Head
of Service for Planning and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on
a balance of probabilities, there was sufficient evidence that the route ought to be
shown as footpaths.

Resolved:

(i) That the application to add to the Definitive Map and Statement footpath
lengths between Manor Court and Greenacres across Sharoe Brook to
Footpath Fulwood 43, Preston, in accordance with File Number 804-379c, be
accepted.

(i) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way footpaths from Manor
Court and Greenacres across Sharoe Brook to Footpath Fulwood 43, Preston
as shown on the Committee Plan between points A-B-C, B-D-E-F, G-H-I-J
and H-L-K.

(i) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Order be promoted to confirmation.

10. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
Addition of footpath between FP Preston 64 and the east bank of
Sharoe Brook, Preston
File No. 804-379d

Page 7



In 2000, an application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 was received for the addition of a number of public footpaths which were
described by the applicant as being situated on land forming part of Ingol Golf
Course, and as having been provided by the former Central Lancashire
Development Corporation. Five separate sets of routes had been listed and
numbered 1 to 5, and evidence in support of each route was provided.

This report considers the route referred to by the applicant as 'Route 4' — the
addition of a footpath between Ingol and Walker Lane at Ingol Golf Course,
Preston, as shown between points A-B-C-D on the Committee plan attached to
the agenda papers.

It was reported that because the application related largely to user evidence pre-
dating 2000, details of the 2005 site inspection were included in the report. This
provided a better indication of what existed on the ground closer to the time that
the routes were said to have been used. A further site inspection had taken place
in 2019 to see what changes had occurred since the 2005 inspection.

The Committee were advised that, in addition to the user evidence, map and
documentary evidence should also be considered.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting the investigations of the Head
of Service for Planning and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on
a balance of probabilities, there was sufficient evidence that the route ought to be
shown as footpath.

Resolved:

() That the application to add to the Definitive Map and Statement footpath
lengths between Ingol and Walker Lane at Ingol Golf Course, Preston, in
accordance with File No. 804-379d, be accepted.

(i) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way a footpath between
Ingol and Walker Lane at Ingol Golf Course, Preston as shown on Committee
Plan between A-B-C-D.

(iif) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met
Order be promoted to confirmation.

11.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation
) Addition of Footpaths from Lower Greenfield to the east bank
of Sharoe Brook with a spur to Walker Lane, Preston
i) Addition of Footpath from Walker Lane to FP Fulwood 43,

Page 8



Preston
File No. 804-379e

In 2000, an application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 was received for the addition of a number of public footpaths which were
described by the applicant as being situated on land forming part of Ingol Golf
Course, and as having been provided by the former Central Lancashire
Development Corporation. Five separate sets of routes had been listed and
numbered 1 to 5 and evidence in support of each route was provided.

This report considered the route referred to by the applicant as 'Route 5' and, due
to its length and the fact that it was split by Walker Lane, it was split down further
into two routes:

Route 5(1) — Application to record a public footpath from Lower Greenfield to two
different points on Walker Lane, Fulwood, Preston, and shown on the Committee
plan attached to the agenda papers by a thick dashed line between points A-B-C-
D-E-F-G, E-G and a spur D-H.

Route 5(2) — Application to record a public footpath from Walker Lane across the
former Ingol Golf Course to the junction of Footpaths Fulwood 43 and 46 near
Sharoe Brook, Preston and shown on the Committee plan attached to the agenda
papers by a thick dashed line between points I-J-K-L-M-N.

The Committee noted that, because the application related largely to user
evidence pre-dating 2000, details of the 2006 site inspection had been included
in the report. This provided a better indication of what existed on the ground,
closer to the time that the routes were claimed to have been used. A further site
inspection had been carried out in 2018 to see what changes had occurred since
the 2006 inspection.

The Committee were advised that, in addition to the user evidence, map and
documentary evidence should also be considered.

Taking all of the evidence into account and noting the investigations of the Head
of Service for Planning and Environment, it was suggested to Committee that on
a balance of probabilities, there was sufficient evidence that the routes ought to

be shown as footpaths.

Resolved:

() That the application for the addition to the Definitive Map and Statement of
a Footpath from Lower Greenfield to two different points on Walker Lane,
Fulwood, Preston City, in accordance with File No. 804-379e, be accepted.

(i) That the application for the addition to the Definitive Map and Statement of

Page 9



a Footpath from Walker Lane to the junction of Footpaths Fulwood 43 and 46
at Sharoe Brook, Preston City in accordance with File No. 804-379e¢, be
accepted.

(iif) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a
Footpath from Lower Greenfield to a point on the east bank of Sharoe Brook
and a point on Walker Lane with a further spur to a different point on Walker
Lane, Fulwood, Preston City on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public
Rights of Way as shown on Committee Plans between points A-B-C-D-E-F-G,
E-G and D-H.

(iv) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a
Footpath from Walker Lane to the junction of Footpaths Fulwood 43 and 46 at
Sharoe Brook, Preston City on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public
Rights of Way as shown on Committee Plans between points I-J-K-L-M-N.

(v) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the
Orders be promoted to confirmation.

12. Urgent Business

The Chair informed the Committee that he had agreed that the following report

should be considered at the meeting as an item of urgent business. The special
circumstances for the use of the urgent business procedure were set out in the

report.

a. Highways Act 1980 — Section 119
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A
Realignment of Footpaths around Nan's Nook near Forton in
Connection with the Removal of the Motorway Footbridge

A report was presented on the proposed diversion of part of Footpaths Forton 18,
24, parts of Footpath Forton 27 and Footpaths Ellel 46 and 47 in the districts of
Wyre Borough and Lancaster City, from the routes shown by bold continuous
lines and marked A-B, H-B, K-L-M-N and P-M, to the routes shown by bold
broken lines and marked A-C-D-E-F-G, H-J-C, K-O-L and P-L on the Committee
plan attached to the agenda papers.

Nan's Nook Footbridge carried Footpath Forton 18, which was also part of a
regional trail promoted as the 'Wyre Way'. The Committee noted that, due to
safety concerns, Highways England had recently dismantled and removed the
bridge and that this diversion proposal, if successful, would provide the public
with a safe and convenient means of crossing the M6.

This matter could not await the next Regulatory Committee scheduled for 26
June 2020, due to the popularity of the network of public rights of way in this

Page 10



area, and it was considered that the proposed diversion should be progressed as
a priority.

Resolved:

(i) That subject to no significantly adverse responses to the consultations, an
Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert part of
Footpaths Forton 18 and 24, parts of Footpath Forton 27 and Footpaths Ellel
46 and 47 from the routes shown by bold continuous lines and marked A-B,
H-B, K-L-M-N and P-M, to the routes shown by bold broken lines and marked
A-C-D-E-F-G, H-J-C, K-O-L and P-L on the maps.

(i) That in the event of no objections being received, the Order be confirmed
and in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn, the Order
be sent to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
and the Authority take a neutral stance with respect to its confirmation.

(iif) That provision be included in the Order such that it is also made under
Section 53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the Definitive
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in consequence of the coming
into operation of the diversion.

13. Date of Next Meeting
It was noted that the next meeting would be held at 10.30am on Wednesday 24

June 2020 in Cabinet Room 'B' — the Diamond Jubilee Room at County Hall,
Preston.

L Sales
Director of Corporate Services

County Hall
Preston

Page 11



Page 12



Agenda ltem 4

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16 September 2020

Electoral Division affected:
All

Guidance for the members of the Regulatory Committee
(Annexes 'A','B' and 'C' refer)

Contact for further information: Jane Turner, 01772 32813, Office of the Chief
Executive, jane.turner@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the Definitive Map and
Statement of Public Rights of Way and the law and actions taken by the authority in
respect of certain Orders to be made under the Highways Act 1980 is presented for
the information of the Committee.

Recommendation
The Committee is asked to note the current Guidance as set out in the attached

Annexes and have reference to the relevant sections of it during consideration of
any reports on the agenda.

Background and Advice

In addition to any advice which may be given at meetings the members of the
committee are also provided with Guidance on the law in relation to the various types
of Order which may appear on an agenda.

A copy of the current Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way is attached as Annex 'A'.
Guidance on the law relating to certain Orders to be made under the Highways Act
1980 is attached as Annex 'B' and on the actions of the Authority on submission of
Public Path Orders to the Secretary of State as Annex 'C'.

Consultations

N/A

Implications:

This item has the following implications, as indicated:

Lancasg.i‘[e
Soundy gggg

Page 13


mailto:jane.turner@lancashire.gov.uk

Risk management
Providing the members of the Committee with Guidance will assist them to consider

the various reports which may be presented.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel

Current legislation Jane Turner, Office of the
Chief Executive 01772
32813

Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate
N/A

Page 14



Regulatory Committee ANNEX 'A'
Meeting to be held on the 16 September 2020

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the Definitive Map and
Statement of Public Rights of Way

Definitions

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 gives the following definitions of the public rights of
way which are able to be recorded on the Definitive Map:-

Footpath — means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot only, other
than such a highway at the side of a public road; these rights are without prejudice to any
other public rights over the way;

Bridleway — means a highway over which the public have the following, but no other,
rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on foot and a right of way on horseback or
leading a horse, with or without a right to drive animals of any description along the
highway; these rights are without prejudice to any other public rights over the way;

Restricted Byway — means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot,
on horseback or leading a horse and a right of way for vehicles other than mechanically
propelled vehicles, with or without a right to drive animals along the highway.
(Mechanically propelled vehicles do not include vehicles in S189 Road Traffic Act 1988)

Byway open to all traffic (BOATs) — means a highway over which the public have a right
of way for vehicular and all other kinds of traffic. These routes are recorded as Byways
recognising their particular type of vehicular highway being routes whose character make
them more likely to be used by walkers and horseriders because of them being more
suitable for these types of uses;

Duty of the Surveying Authority

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority
shall keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events by
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event.

Orders following “evidential events”

The prescribed events include —

Sub Section (3)

b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the Map relates, of

any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period
raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or restricted

byway;

Page 15



C) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered with all
other relevant evidence available to them) shows —

0] that a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement subsists or
is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map
relates,being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is
a public path, a restricted byway or, a byway open to all traffic; or

(i) that a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of a
particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different
description; or

(i) that there is no public right of way over land shown in the Map and
Statement as a highway of any description, or any other particulars
contained in the Map and Statement require modification.

The modifications which may be made by an Order shall include the addition to the
statement of particulars as to:-

(@) the position and width of any public path or byway open to all traffic which is
or is to be shown on the Map; and

(b)  any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover.

Orders following “legal events”
Other events include

“The coming into operation of any enactment or instrument or any other event” whereby a
highway is stopped up diverted widened or extended or has ceased to be a highway of a
particular description or has been created and a Modification Order can be made to amend
the Definitive Map and Statement to reflect these legal events".

Since 6th April 2008 Diversion Orders, Creation Orders, Extinguishment Orders under the
Highways Act 1980 (and other types of Orders) can themselves include provisions to alter
the Definitive Map under the new S53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and be
‘combined orders” combining both the Order to divert and an order to alter the Map. The
alteration to the Definitive Map will take place on the date the extinguishment, diversion or
creation etc comes fully into effect.

Government Policy - DEFRA Circular 1/09

In considering the duty outlined above the Authority should have regard to the Department
of the Environment Food and Rural Affairs’ Rights of Way Circular (1/09). This replaces
earlier Circulars.

This Circular sets out DEFRA’s policy on public rights of way and its view of the law. It can

be viewed on the DEFRA web site. There are sections in the circular on informing and
liaising, managing and maintaining the rights of way network, the Orders under the

Page 16



Highways Act 1980 and also sections on the Definitive Map and Modification Orders. Many
aspects are considered such as -

When considering a deletion the Circular says - "4.33 The evidence needed to remove
what is shown as a public right from such an authoritative record as the definitive map and
statement — and this would equally apply to the downgrading of a way with “higher” rights
to a way with “lower” rights, as well as complete deletion — will need to fulfil certain
stringent requirements.

These are that:

e the evidence must be new — an order to remove a right of way cannot be founded
simply on the re-examination of evidence known at the time the definitive map was
surveyed and made.

e the evidence must be of sufficient substance to displace the presumption that the
definitive map is correct;

e the evidence must be cogent.

While all three conditions must be met they will be assessed in the order listed.

Before deciding to make an order, authorities must take into consideration all other
relevant evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of way and they
must be satisfied that the evidence shows on the balance of probability that the map or
statement should be modified."

Where a route is recorded on the List of Streets as an Unclassified County Road the
Circular says — "4.42 In relation to an application under the 1981 Act to add a route to a
definitive map of rights of way, the inclusion of an unclassified road on the 1980 Act list of
highways maintained at public expense may provide evidence of vehicular rights.

However, this must be considered with all other relevant evidence in order to determine
the nature and extent of those rights. It would be possible for a way described as an
unclassified road on a list prepared under the 1980 Act, or elsewhere, to be added to a
definitive map of public rights of way provided the route fulfils the criteria set out in Part Il
of the 1981 Act. However, authorities will need to examine the history of such routes and
the rights that may exist over them on a case by case basis in order to determine their
status."

Definitive Maps

The process for the preparation and revision of definitive maps was introduced by Part Il
of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949.

Information about rights of way was compiled through surveys carried out by Parish
Councils (or District Councils where there was no Parish Council) and transmitted to the
Surveying Authority (County or County Borough Councils) in the form of Survey Maps and
cards.

The Surveying Authority published a draft map and statement and there was a period for
the making of representations and objections to the draft map. The Authority could

Page 17



determine to modify the map, but if there was an objection to that modification the
Authority was obliged to hold a hearing to determine whether or not to uphold that
modification with a subsequent appeal to the Secretary of State against the decision.

After all appeals had been determined the Authority then published a Provisional Map and
Statement. Owners, lessees or occupiers of land were entitled to appeal to Quarter
Sessions (now the Crown Court) against the provisional map on various grounds.

Once this process had been completed the Authority published the Definitive Map and
Statement. The Map and Statement was subject to five yearly reviews which followed the
same stages.

The Map speaks as from a specific date (the relevant date) which is the date at which the
rights of way shown on it were deemed to exist. For historic reasons different parts of the
County have different Definitive Maps with different relevant dates, but for the major part of
the County the Definitive Map was published in 1962, with a relevant date of the 15
January 1953 and the first review of the Definitive Map was published in 1975 with a
relevant date of 1st September 1966.

Test to be applied when making an Order

The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out the tests which must be
addressed in deciding that the map should be altered.

S53 permits both upgrading and downgrading of highways and deletions from the map.

The statutory test at S53(3)(b) refers to the expiration of a period of time and use by the
public such that a presumption of dedication is raised.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(i) comprises two separate questions, one of which must be
answered in the affirmative before an Order is made under that subsection. There has to
be evidence discovered. The claimed right of way has to be found on balance to subsist
(Test A) or able to be reasonably alleged to subsist. (Test B).

This second test B is easier to satisfy but please note it is the higher Test A which needs
to be satisfied in confirming a route.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(ii) again refers to the discovery of evidence that the
highway on the definitive map ought to be shown as a different status.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(iii) again refers to evidence being discovered that there is
no public right of way of any description after all or that there is evidence that particulars in
the map of statement need to be modified.

The O’Keefe judgement reminds Order Making Authorities that they should make their own
assessment of the evidence and not accept unquestioningly what officers place before
them.

All evidence must be considered and weighed and a view taken on its relevance and
effect.

Page 18



An Order Making Authority should reach a conclusion on the balance of probabilities.
The balance of probability test demands a comparative assessment of the evidence on
opposing sides. This is a complex balancing act.

Recording a “new” route
For a route to have become a highway it must have been dedicated by the owner.

Once a route is a highway it remains a highway, even though it may fall into non use and
perhaps become part of a garden.

This is the position until a legal event causing the highway to cease can be shown to have
occurred, or the land on which the highway runs is destroyed, perhaps by erosion which
would mean that the highway length ceases to exist.

Sometimes there is documentary evidence of actual dedication but more often a
dedication can be inferred because of how the landowner appears to have treated the
route and given it over to public use (dedication at Common law) or dedication can be
deemed to have occurred if certain criteria laid down in Statute are fulfilled (dedication
under s31 Highways Act).

Dedication able to be inferred at Common law

A common law dedication of a highway may be inferred if the evidence points clearly and
unequivocally to an intention on the part of the landowner to dedicate. The burden of proof
is on the Claimant to prove a dedication. Evidence of use of the route by the public and
how an owner acted towards them is one of the factors which may be taken into account in
deciding whether a path has been dedicated. No minimum period of use is necessary. All
the circumstances must be taken into account. How a landowner viewed a route may also
be indicated in documents and maps

However, a landowner may rely on a variety of evidence to indicate that he did not intend
to dedicate, including signs indicating the way was private, blocking off the way or turning
people off the path, or granting permission or accepting payment to use the path.

There is no need to know who a landowner was.

Use needs to be by the public. This would seem to require the users to be a number of
people who together may sensibly be taken to represent the people as a whole/the local
community. Use wholly or largely by local people may still be use by the public. Use of a
way by trades people, postmen ,estate workers or by employees of the landowner to get to
work, or for the purpose of doing business with the landowner, or by agreement or licence
of the landowner or on payment would not normally be sufficient. Use by friends of or
persons known to the landowner would be less cogent evidence than use by other
persons.

The use also needs to be “as of right” which would mean that it had to be open, not

secretly or by force or with permission. Open use would arguably give the landowner the
opportunity to challenge the use. Toleration by the landowner of a use is not inconsistent

Page 19



with use as of right. Case law would indicate that the use has to be considered from the
landowner’s perspective as to whether the use, in all the circumstances, is such as to
suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a public right of way.

The use would have to be of a sufficient level for a landowner to have been aware of it.
The use must be by such a number as might reasonably have been expected if the way
had been unquestioningly a highway.

Current use (vehicular or otherwise) is not required for a route to be considered a Byway
Open to All Traffic but past use by the public using vehicles will need to be sufficiently
evidenced from which to infer the dedication of a vehicular route. Please note that the right
to use mechanically propelled vehicles may since have been extinguished.

Dedication deemed to have taken place (Statutory test)

By virtue of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 dedication of a path as a highway may
be presumed from use of the way by the public as of right — not secretly, not by force nor
by permission without interruption for a full period of twenty years unless there is sufficient
evidence that there was no intention during the twenty year period to dedicate it.

The 20 year period is computed back from the date the existence of the right of way is
called into question.

A landowner may prevent a presumption of dedication arising by erecting notices
indicating that the path is private. Further under Section 31(6) a landowner may deposit
with the Highway Authority a map (of a scale of not less than 1:10560 (6 inches to the
mile) and statement showing those ways, if any, which he or she agrees are dedicated as
highways. This statement must be followed by statutory declarations. These statutory
declarations used to have to be renewed at not more than 6 yearly intervals, but the
interval is now 10 years. The declaration would state that no additional rights of way have
been dedicated. These provisions do not preclude the other ways open to the landowner
to show the way has not been dedicated.

If the criteria in section 31are satisfied a highway can properly be deemed to have been
dedicated. This deemed dedication is despite a landowner now protesting or being the one
to now challenge the use as it is considered too late for him to now evidence his lack of
intention when he had failed to do something to sufficiently evidence this during the
previous twenty years.

The statutory presumption can arise in the absence of a known landowner. Once the
correct type of user is proved on balance, the presumption arises, whether or not the
landowner is known.

Guidance on the various elements of the Statutory criteria;-

e Use — see above as to sufficiency of use. The cogency, credibility and consistency of
user evidence should be considered.

e By the public — see above as to users which may be considered “the public”.

Page 20



e As of right - see above

e Without interruption - for a deemed dedication the use must have been without
interruption. The route should not have been blocked with the intention of excluding the
users.

e For a full period of twenty years - Use by different people, each for periods of less that
twenty years will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of twenty
years or more. The period must end with the route being "called into question".

e Calling into question - there must be something done which is sufficient at least to
make it likely that some of the users are made aware that the owner has challenged
their right to use the way as a highway. Barriers, signage and challenges to users can
all call a route into question. An application for a Modification Order is of itself sufficient
to be a “calling into question” (as provided in the new statutory provisions S31 (7a and
7B) Highways Act 1980). It is not necessary that it be the landowner who brings the
route into question.

e Sufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate - this would not need to be
evidenced for the whole of the twenty year period. It would be unlikely that lack of
intention could be sufficiently evidenced in the absence of overt and contemporaneous
acts on the part of the owner. The intention not to dedicate does have to be brought to
the attention of the users of the route such that a reasonable user would be able to
understand that the landowner was intending to disabuse him of the notion that the
land was a public highway.

Documentary evidence

By virtue of Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 in considering whether a highway has
been dedicated, maps plans and histories of the locality are admissible as evidence and
must be given such weight as is justified by the circumstances including the antiquity of the
document, status of the persons by whom and the purpose for which the document was
made or compiled and the custody from which it is produced.

In assessing whether or not a highway has been dedicated reference is commonly made
to old commercial maps of the County, Ordnance Survey maps, sometimes private estate
maps and other documents, other public documents such as Inclosure or Tithe Awards,
plans deposited in connection with private Acts of Parliament establishing railways, canals
or other public works, records compiled in connection with the valuation of land for the
purposes of the assessment of increment value duty and the Finance Act 1910. Works of
local history may also be relevant, as may be the records of predecessor highway
authorities and the information gained in connection with the preparation and review of the
Definitive Map.

It should be stressed that it is rare for a single document or piece of information to be
conclusive (although some documents are of more value than others e.g. Inclosure
Awards where the Commissioners were empowered to allot and set out highways). It is
necessary to look at the evidence as a whole to see if it builds up a picture of the route
being dedicated as a highway.

Page 21



It should be noted that Ordnance Survey Maps (other than recent series which purport to
show public rights of way and which derive their information from the Definitive Map)

contain a disclaimer to the effect that the recording of a highway or right of way does not
imply that it has any status. The maps reflect what the map makers found on the ground.

Synergy between pieces of highway status evidence — co-ordination as distinct from
repetition would significantly increase the collective impact of the documents.

Recording vehicular rights

Historical evidence can indicate that a route carries vehicular rights and following the
Bakewell Management case in 2004 (House of Lords) it is considered that vehicular rights
could be acquired on routes by long use during years even since 1930. However, in May
2006 Part 6 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 came into force.
Public rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles are now extinguished on routes
shown on the definitive map as footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways unless one of
eight exceptions applies. In essence mechanical vehicle rights no longer exist unless a
route is recorded in a particular way on the Council’s Definitive Map or List of Streets or
one of the other exceptions apply. In effect the provisions of the Act curtail the future
scope for applications to record a Byway Open to All Traffic to be successful.

The exceptions whereby mechanical vehicular rights are “saved” may be summarised as
follows-

1) main lawful public use of the route 2001-2006 was use for mechanically
propelled vehicles

2) that the route was not on the Definitive Map but was recorded on the List of Streets.

3) that the route was especially created to be a highway for mechanically propelled
vehicles

4) that the route was constructed under statutory powers as a road intended for use by
mechanically propelled vehicles

5) that the route was dedicated by use of mechanically propelled vehicles before
December 1930

6) that a proper application was made before 20th January 2005 for a
Modification Order to record the route as a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT)

7) that a Regulatory Committee had already made a decision re an application
for a BOAT before 6th April 2006

8) that an application for a Modification Order has already been made before 6%
April 2006 for a BOAT and at 6th April 2006 use of the way for mechanically
propelled vehicles was reasonably necessary to enable that applicant to access
land he has an interest in, even if not actually used.

Page 22



It is certainly the case that any application to add a byway to the Definitive Map and
Statement must still be processed and determined even though the outcome may now be
that a vehicular public right of way existed before May 2006 but has been extinguished for
mechanically propelled vehicles and that the route should be recorded as a restricted

byway.

Downgrading a route or taking a route off the Definitive Map

In such matters it is clear that the evidence to be considered relates to whether on balance
it is shown that a mistake was made when the right of way was first recorded.

In the Trevelyan case (Court of Appeal 2001) it was considered that where a right of way is
marked on the Definitive Map there is an initial presumption that it exists. It should be
assumed that the proper procedures were followed and thus evidence which made it
reasonably arguable that it existed was available when it was put on the Map. The
standard of proof required to justify a finding that no such right of way exists is on the
balance of probabilities and evidence of some substance is required to outweigh the initial
presumption.

Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to maintain
an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. “The evidence needed
to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will need to be cogent. The
procedures for defining and recording public rights of way have, in successive legislation,
been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they do not preclude errors, particularly where
recent research has uncovered previously unknown evidence, or where the review
procedures have never been implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is unlikely
that a large number of errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years without
being questioned earlier.”

Taking one route off and replacing it with an alternative

In some cases there will be no dispute that a public right of way exists between two points,
but there will be one route shown on the definitive map which is claimed to be in error and
an alternative route claimed to be the actual correct highway.

There is a need to consider whether, in accordance with section 53(3)( c)(i) a right of way
is shown to subsist or is reasonably alleged to subsist and also, in accordance with section
53(3) (c) (iii) whether there is no public right of way on the other route.

The guidance published under the statutory provisions make it clear that the evidence to
establish that a right of way should be removed from the authoritative record will need to
be cogent. In the case of R on the application of Leicestershire County Council v SSEFR
in 2003, Mr Justice Collins said that there “has to be a balance drawn between the
existence of the definitive map and the route shown on it which would have to be removed
and the evidence to support the placing on the map of, in effect a new right of way.” “If
there is doubt that there is sufficient evidence to show that the correct route is other than
that shown on the map, then what is shown on the map must stay.”

Page 23



The court considered that if it could merely be found that it was reasonable to allege that
the alternative existed, this would not be sufficient to remove what is shown on the map. It
is advised that, unless in extraordinary circumstances, evidence of an alternative route
which satisfied only the lower “Test B” (see page 4) would not be sufficiently cogent
evidence to remove the existing recorded route from the map.

Confirming an Order
An Order is not effective until confirmed.

The County Council may confirm unopposed orders. If there are objections the Order is
sent to the Secretary of State for determination. The County Council usually promotes its
Orders and actively seeks confirmation by the Secretary of State.

Until recently it was thought that the test to be applied to confirm an Order was the same
test as to make the order, which may have been under the lower Test B for the recording
of a “new” route. However, the Honourable Mr Justice Evans-Lombe heard the matter of
Todd and Bradley v SSEFR in May 2004 and on 22nd June 2004 decided that confirming
an Order made under S53(3)( c)(i) “implies a revisiting by the authority or Secretary of
State of the material upon which the original order was made with a view to subjecting it to
a more stringent test at the confirmation stage.” And that to confirm the Order the
Secretary of State (or the authority) must be “satisfied of a case for the subsistence of the
right of way in question on the balance of probabilities.” i.e. that Test A is satisfied.

It is advised that there may be cases where an Order to record a new route can be made
because there is sufficient evidence that a highway is reasonably alleged to subsist, but
unless Committee also consider that there is enough evidence, on balance of probabilities,
that the route can be said to exist, the Order may not be confirmed as an unopposed
Order by the County Council. This would mean that an Order could be made, but not
confirmed as unopposed, nor could confirmation actively be supported by the County
Council should an opposed Order be submitted to the Secretary of State.

July 2009

Page 24



Regulatory Committee ANNEX 'B'
Meeting to be held on the 16 September 2020

Revised basic Guidance on the law relating to certain Orders to be made under the
Highways Act 1980

* Diversion Orders under s119

* Diversion Orders under s119A

* Diversion Orders under s119ZA

* Diversion Orders under s119B

* Diversion Orders under s119C

* Diversion Orders under s119D

* Extinguishment Orders under s118

» Extinguishment Orders under s118A
* Extinguishment Orders under s118ZA
» Extinguishment Orders under s118B
* Extinguishment Orders under s118C
* Creation Order under s26

Committee members have received a copy of the relevant sections from the Highways Act
1980 (as amended). The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of
the Orders and to offer some guidance.

DEFRAs Rights of Way Circular (1/09 version 2) sets out DEFRA's policy on public rights
of way and its view of the law. It can be found on DEFRA's web site. Orders made under
the Highways Act 1980 are considered in Section 5 where the Guidance says that “the
statutory provisions for creating, diverting and extinguishing public rights of way in the
Highways Act 1980 have been framed to protect both the public’s rights and the interests
of owners and occupiers. They also protect the interests of bodies such as statutory
undertakers.”

Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the expediency of
something. It is suggested that for something to be expedient it is appropriate and suitable
to the circumstances and may incline towards being of an advantage even if not
particularly fair. Something which is expedient would seem to facilitate your achieving a
desired end.

Whether something is as convenient or not substantially less convenient may need to be
considered. It is suggested that convenient refers to being suitable and easy to use.

Under S40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, every public
authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the
proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.

Under Section 11 of the Countryside Act 1968 in the exercise of their functions relating to
land under any enactment every Minister, government department and public body shall
have regard to the desirability of conserving the natural beauty and amenity of the
countryside.

Page 25



Diversion Order s119
TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or Occupier.
OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all if it is a cul de sac
route (ending at a beauty spot for example).

OR

If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the termination point is only being
moved to another point on the same highway or to another highway connected to it and
the point is substantially as convenient to the public.

To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features.

TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or occupier
OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

To be satisfied that the route will not be substantially less convenient to the public.

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect the diversion would have on
public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole.

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on land served by the existing
right of way (compensation can be taken into account)

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on the land over which the
“‘new” section runs and any land held with it (compensation can be taken into account).

Also having regard to any material provision of any Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features.

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under, in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route unless the statutory
undertakers have consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be
unreasonably withheld).

GUIDANCE

The point of termination being as substantially convenient is a matter of judgement subject
to the test of reasonableness. Convenience would have its natural and ordinary meaning

Page 26



and refer to such matters as whether the new point of termination facilitated the access of
the highway network and accommodated user's normal use of the network.

That the diverted path is not substantially less convenient would mean convenience again
being considered. The wording in the Statute allows the diversion to be slightly less
convenient but it must not be substantially less so. The length of the diversion, difficulty of
walking it, effect on users who may approach the diversion from different directions are
factors to be considered.

The effect on public enjoyment of the whole route has to be considered. It would be
possible that a proposed diversion may be as convenient but made the route less
enjoyable (perhaps it was less scenic). Alternatively the diversion may give the route
greater public enjoyment but be substantially less convenient (being less accessible or
longer than the existing path).

It may be that the grounds to make an Order are satisfied but the Committee may be
unhappy that the route can satisfy the confirmation test. It is suggested that in such
circumstances the Order should be made but the Committee should consider deferring the
decision on whether to confirm it (if there are no objections) or (if there are objections)
whether to instruct officers not to even send the Order to the Secretary of State for
confirmation or to instruct to submit the Order to the Secretary of State and promote the
confirmation of same. The Council has a discretion whether to submit this type of Order to
the Secretary of State. It is not obliged to just because it has made the Order.

Under amended provisions, the “new” section of route will “appear” on confirmation of the
Order (or a set number of days thereafter) but the “old” route will remain until the new
route is certified as fit for use. It would appear that the public could quickly have the use of
a new section which is fit for use as soon as confirmed but if the new route is unfit for use
for a long time, the old line of the Right of Way is still there for the public to use.

It is advised that when considering orders made under Section 119(6), whether the right of
way will be/ will not be substantially less convenient to the public in consequence of the
diversion, an equitable comparison between the existing and proposed routes can only be
made by similarly disregarding any temporary circumstances preventing or diminishing the
use of the existing route by the public. Therefore, in all cases where this test is to be
applied, the convenience of the existing route is to be assessed as if the way were
unobstructed and maintained to a standard suitable for those users who have the right to
use it.

It would appear that a way created by a Diversion Order may follow an existing right of
way for some but not most or all of its length.

The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the breeding or keeping of
horses.

Reference to having regard to the material provisions of the Rights of Way Improvement

Plan refers to the RWIP prepared in June 2005. The full document is on the County
Council’'s web site.

Page 27



Diversion Orders under s119A
TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the safety of members of the public
using or likely to use a footpath or bridleway which crosses a railway otherwise than by a
tunnel or bridge

To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all if it is a cul de sac
route (ending at a beauty spot for example).

OR

If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the termination point is being
moved to another point on the same highway or to another highway connected to it.

To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features.

Whether the railway operator be required to maintain the diversion route.

Whether the rail operator enter into an agreement to defray or contribute towards
compensation, expenses or barriers and signage, bringing the alternative route into fit
condition.

TO CONFIRM AN ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM
THE SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF
THE ORDER IS OPPOSED

To be satisfied that it is expedient to do so having regard to all the circumstances and in
particular to —

Whether it is reasonably practicable to make the crossing safe for use by them public; and

What arrangements have been made for ensuring that any appropriate barriers and signs
are erected and maintained.

A rail crossing diversion order shall not be confirmed unless statutory undertakers whose
apparatus is affected have consented to the confirmation (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld).

GUIDANCE

The statutory provisions make it clear that the diversion can be onto land of another owner
lessee or occupier

A change to the point of termination has to be onto a highway but the statutory provisions
do not insist that the point has to be substantially as convenient (as is the requirement in
S119).

The grounds for this type of diversion order refer to balancing the safety of continuing to

use the level crossing and whether it could be made safe rather than divert the path. The
information from the rail operator is therefore considered to be very important.

Page 28



Diversion Orders under s119ZA

Diversion Orders under s119B

Diversion Orders under s119C

Diversion Orders under s119D

Guidance under these specific sections will be made available when required

Extinguishment Order under s118
TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that it is expedient that the path be stopped up on the ground that
the footpath or bridleway is not needed for public use.

To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features.

TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

To be satisfied that it is expedient to do so.

To have regard to the extent to which it appears that the path would be likely to be used by
the public.

To have regard to the effect which the extinguishment would have as respects land served
by the path (compensation can be taken into account).

Where the Order is linked with a Creation Order or a Diversion Order then the Authority or
Inspector can have regard to the extent to which the Creation Order or Diversion Order
would provide an alternative path.

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route unless the statutory
undertakers have consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be
unreasonably withheld).

GUIDANCE

Temporary circumstances preventing or diminishing the use of the path shall be
disregarded. These include obstructions, which are likely to be removed. Trees and 4 feet
wide hedges have been held to be temporary and even an electricity sub station. Many
obstructions seem therefore to be able to be disregarded but this does make it difficult to
assess what the use of the path would be if the obstruction were not there.

To be satisfied that it is expedient to confirm means that other considerations other than
use could be taken into account perhaps safety, perhaps cost.

An Order can be confirmed if it is thought that, despite the fact that it was likely to be used,
it is not needed because of a convenient path nearby.

Page 29



Councils are advised to take care to avoid creating a cul de sac when extinguishing only
part of a way.

The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the breeding or keeping of
horses.

Extinguishment Orders under s118A
TO MAKE AN ORDER

An Order under this section can be made where it appears expedient to stop up a footpath
or bridleway in the interests of the safety of members of the public using or likely to use a
footpath or bridleway which crosses a railway, other than by tunnel or bridge.

TO CONFIRM AN ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

The Order can be confirmed if satisfied that it is expedient to do so having regard

to all the circumstances and in particular whether it is reasonably practicable to make the
crossing safe for use by the public and what arrangements have been made for ensuring
that, if the Order is confirmed, any appropriate barriers and signs are erected and
maintained.

GUIDANCE

It is noted that there is not the same requirements as under S118 to consider need for the
route. Instead it is safety which is the reason for the Order being made to close the right of
way.

Extinguishment Orders under s118B

Section 118B enables footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways or byways open to all traffic
to be extinguished permanently by two types of Special Extinguishment Order.

TO MAKE THE FIRST TYPE OF S118B ORDER

The highway concerned has to be in an area specially designated by the Secretary of
State.

To be satisfied that it is expedient that the highway be extinguished for the purpose of
preventing or reducing crime which would otherwise disrupt the life of the community.

To be satisfied that premises adjoining or adjacent to the highway are affected by high
levels of crime and

That the existence of the highway is facilitating the persistent commission of criminal
offences.

Page 30



TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

The Order can be confirmed if all the reasons for making the Order (above) are still
satisfied and also

That it is expedient having regard to all circumstances

Also having regard to whether and to what extent the Order is consistent with any strategy
for the reduction of crime and disorder prepared under S6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998
and

Having regard to the availability of a reasonably convenient alternative route or, if no such
route is available, whether it would be reasonably practicable to divert the highway rather
than stopping it up, and

Having regard to the effect the extinguishment would have as respects land served by the
highway account being taken of the provisions available for compensation.

TO MAKE THE SECOND TYPE OF S118B ORDER

To be satisfied that the highway crosses land occupied for the purposes of a school.
That the extinguishment is expedient for the purpose of protecting the pupils or staff from
violence or the threat of violence, harassment, alarm or distress arising from unlawful
activity or any other risk to their health or safety arising from such activity.

TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

The Order can be confirmed if all the reasons for making the Order (above) are still
satisfied and also

That it is expedient having regard to all circumstances

That regard is had to any other measures that have been or could be taken for improving
or maintaining the security of the school

That regard is had as to whether it is likely that the Order will result in a substantial
improvement in that security

That regard is had to the availability of a reasonably convenient alternative route or, if no
such route is available, whether it would be reasonably practicable to divert the highway
rather than stopping it up, and

Having regard to the effect the extinguishment would have as respects land served by the
highway account being taken of the provisions available for compensation.

GUIDANCE

Page 31



Under S118B there are specific criteria to be satisfied before an Order can take effect and
to remove a highway from the network of rights of way. It should be noted that an Order
extinguishes the footpath (or other type of highway) permanently. Members of the
Committee may also be aware of the power, since April 2006, of the Council to make
Gating Orders whereby highway rights remain but subject to restrictions which are
reviewed annually and will eventually be lifted.

Extinguishment Orders under s118ZA
Guidance under this section will be made available when required

Extinguishment Orders under s118C
Guidance under this section will be made available when required

Creation Order under s26

TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that there is a need for the footpath or bridleway and
To be satisfied that it is expedient that the path be created

To have regard to the extent the path would add to the convenience or enjoyment of a
substantial section of the public, or

To have regard to the extent the path would add to the convenience of persons resident in
the area

To have regard to the effect on the rights of persons interested in the land, taking
compensation provisions into account.

To have due regard to the needs of agriculture and forestry and the desirability of
conserving flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features.

TO CONFIRM THE ORDER IF UNOPPOSED OR SEEK CONFIRMATION FROM THE
SECRETARY OF STATE (AT A PUBLIC INQUIRY IF NECESSARY) IF THE ORDER IS
OPPOSED

The same test as above.

GUIDANCE

Again there is convenience to consider.

There may also need to be some consensus as to what constitutes a substantial section of
the public.

Persons interested in the land may include owners and tenants and maybe mortgagees.

The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the breeding or keeping of
horses.

Page 32



ANNEX 'C'

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on the 16 September 2020

Guidance on the actions to be taken following submission of a Public Path
Order to the Secretary of State

Procedural step

Once an Order has been made it is advertised it may attract objections and
representations. These are considered by the Authority and efforts made to get them
withdrawn. If there are any objections or representations duly made and not
subsequently withdrawn the Authority may -

1. Consider that information is now available or circumstances have changed such
that the confirmation test would be difficult to satisfy and that the Order be not
proceeded with;

2. Consider that the Order should be sent into the Secretary of State with the
authority promoting the Order and submitting evidence and documentation
according to which ever procedure the Secretary of State adopts to deal with the
Order; or

3. Consider that the Order be sent to the Secretary of State with the authority taking
a neutral stance as to confirmation

Recovery of Costs from an Applicant

The Authority may only charge a third party if it has power to do so. We can charge
an applicant for a public path order but only up to a particular point in the procedure
— in particular, once the Order is with the Secretary of State we cannot recharge the
costs incurred promoting the Order at a public inquiry, hearing or by written
representations.

The power to charge is found in the - Local Authorities (Recovery of Costs for
Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993/407

Power to charge in respect of the making and confirmation of public path
orders

(1) Where—

(a) the owner, lessee or occupier of land or the operator of a railway requests an
authority to make a public path order under section 26, 118, 118A, 119 or 119A of
the 1980 Act, or

(b) any person requests an authority to make a public path order under section 257
or 261(2) of the 1990 Act, and the authority comply with that request, they may
impose on the person making the request any of the charges mentioned in
paragraph (2) below.

Page 33


http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=13&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFB9D5D0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=13&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IF0108151E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=13&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IF0164DB0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=13&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I12116BF0E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=13&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I801A81D0E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65

(2) Those charges are—
(a) a charge in respect of the costs incurred in the making of the order; and

(b) a charge in respect of each of the following local advertisements, namely the
local advertisements on the making, on the confirmation, and on the coming into
operation or force, of the order.

Amount of charge

(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the amount of a charge shall be at the
authority's discretion.

(3) The amount of a charge in respect of any one of the local advertisements
referred to in regulation 3(2)(b) shall not exceed the cost of placing one
advertisement in one newspaper

Refund of charges

The authority shall, on application by the person who requested them to make the
public path order, refund a charge where—

(a) they fail to confirm an unopposed order; or

(b) having received representations or objections which have been duly made, and
have not been withdrawn, the authority fail to submit the public path order to the
Secretary of State for confirmation, without the agreement of the person who
requested the order; or

(c) the order requested was an order made under section 26 of the 1980 Act and
proceedings preliminary to the confirmation of that order were not taken concurrently
with proceedings preliminary to the confirmation of an order made under section 118
of the 1980 Act; or

(d) the public path order is not confirmed by the authority or, on submission to the
Secretary of State, by him, on the ground that it was invalidly made.

Policy Guidance on these Regulations is found in Circular 11/1996. Administrative
charges can be charged up to the point where the order is submitted for
determination and thereafter for advertising the confirmation decision and any
separate notice of the Order coming into operation or force.

Careful consideration of stance

Recently there has careful analysis of all the work officers do and the cost of these
resources and how to best use the resources.

The above Regulations have been considered and it is advised that the test as to
when an Order should be promoted be clarified and applied consistently.

Page 34


http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=14&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFBA9920E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=15&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFB9D5D0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=15&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IF0108151E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65

It is advised that consideration needs to be given to whether the diversion is of such
little or no real public benefit such that resources should not be allocated to
promoting the Order once submitted although where there is no substantial
disbenefits to the public the applicants be able to promote the Order themselves.

This is not the same as considering whether the Order can be confirmed as set out
in the statute. It is consideration of what actions the Authority should take on
submitting the Order. It is not an easy consideration but officers will be able to advise
in each particular matter.

Page 35



Page 36



Agenda ltem 5

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 16 September 2020

| Part | |

Electoral Division affected:
(All Divisions);

The Constitution, Membership, Terms of Reference and Programme of
Meetings for the Regulatory Committee
(Appendix 'A' refers)

Contact for further information:
Joanne Mansfield, (01772) 534284, Office of the Chief Executive,
joanne.mansfield@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

This report sets out the constitution, membership, Terms of Reference of the
Regulatory Committee, and the programme of meetings for 2020/21.

Recommendation
The Committee is asked to note:

() The constitution/membership of the Committee, following the county council's
annual meeting on 16 July 2020.

(i) The Terms of Reference of the Committee.

(i) The agreed programme of meetings for the Committee.

Background and Advice

The county council at its annual meeting on 16 July 2020 agreed that the Regulatory
Committee shall comprise 12 County Councillors on the basis of 7 Conservative, 4
Labour and 1 Liberal Democrat/Independent member.

The following County Councillors have subsequently been nominated to serve on the
Committee for the remainder of the 2020/21 municipal year.

County Councillors

T Aldridge J Eaton

| Brown D Howarth
A Clempson J Marsh

J Cooney J Parr

Lancasg.i‘[e
Soundy gggg

Page 37



L Cox P Steen
B Dawson C Towneley

A copy of the Committee's Terms of Reference is attached at Appendix 'A'.

In October 2019, Full Council agreed the following programme of meetings for the
Committee, with all meetings to be held at County Hall, Preston, commencing at
10.30am.

24 June 2020

16 September 2020
18 November 2020
27 January 2021
10 March 2021

Consultations

N/A

Implications:

This item has the following implications, as indicated:

Risk management

There are no risk management implications arising from this report.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel
None
Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 38



Appendix 'A'

The Regulatory Committee

The Committee comprises twelve County Councillors and deals principally with
claims relating to public rights of way and various licensing and registration functions
(except registration functions relating to Social Services).

Meetings are open to the public but they may be excluded where information of an
exempt or confidential nature is being discussed — see Access to Information
Procedure Rules set out at Appendix ‘H’ to this Constitution.
Terms of Reference
The Committee shall carry out the following functions:
Public Rights of Way
To determine applications under S53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and
to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation Orders thereunder.

To exercise the following functions, duties and powers of the Council under the
Highways Act 1980:

(@) to authorise creation of footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways by
agreement under Section 25;

(b) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation Orders for the
creation of footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways under Section 26;

(c) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation Orders for the

extinguishment of footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways in
accordance with Section 118; with the exception of those which are
delegated to the Head of Service for Planning and Environment;

(d) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation rail crossing
extinguishment orders under Section 118A;
(e) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation special

extinguishment orders for the purpose of preventing or reducing crime or
of protecting school pupils or staff under Section 118B,;

) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation public path
extinguishment orders (Section 118ZA) and special extinguishment orders
(Section 118C);

(9) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation Orders for the
diversion of footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways in accordance
with Section 119; with the exception of those which are delegated to the
Head of Service for Planning and Environment;

(h) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation rail crossing
diversion orders under Section 119A;
0] to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation special diversion

orders for the purpose of preventing or reducing crime or of protecting
school pupils or staff under Section 119B;

()] to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation SSSI diversion
orders under Section 119D;

Page 39



(k) to decide whether to make and promote to confirmation public path
diversion orders (Section 119ZA) and a special diversion order (Section
119C(4).

3. To decide whether to make orders and promote to confirmation to extinguish
certain public rights of way under Section 32 of the Acquisition of Land Act
1981.

4. To decide whether to make orders and promote to confirmation orders to
designate a footpath as a cycle track under Section 3 of the Cycle Tracks Act
1984.

Other Licensing Registration and Regulatory Functions

1. To make appointments to outside bodies to which the Council is entitled to
have representation in connection with the discharge of any of the Committee’s
functions.

2. To establish Sub-Committees to undertake any part of the Committee’s
functions.

Common Land and Town and Village Greens

1. To decide whether to exercise the Council's powers under the Commons
Registration Act 1965 to alter the Register in respect of applications.

2. To make recommendations to the Cabinet on matters under the Commons
Registration Act 1965 as amended and Regulations thereunder where
responsibility lies with the Cabinet.

3. To make decisions on applications and proposals as determining authority
under Part 1 Commons Act 2006 save for those under Regulation 43 ofthe
Regulations thereunder.

4. To decide whether to apply to the Secretary of State as owner for de-
registration of Common Land or Town or Village Green under S16 Commons
Act 2006.

5. To decide whether to take steps and what steps to take to protect unclaimed

common land or town or village greens against unlawful interference and
whether to institute proceedings under Section 45 of the Commons Act 2006.

6. To decide whether to apply to the Court for orders against unlawful works on
common land under Section 41 of the Commons Act 2006.

Last updated 27 February 2020 by Full Council
Owner Democratic Services

Page 40



Agenda ltem 6

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 24 June 2020

| Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Pendle Rural

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation

Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall and Upgrade of
Footpath to Bridleway from Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge,
Pendle

File No. 804-609 (Annex ‘A’ refers)

Contact for further information:

Simon Moore, 01772 531280, Paralegal Officer, County Secretary and Solicitors
Group, simon.moore@lancashire.gov.uk

Jayne Elliott, 01772 537663, Public Rights of Way Definitive Map Officer,
jayne.elliott@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

Application for a bridleway to be added to the Definitive Map and Statement from
Noyna Road to the junction with Footpath Foulridge 36 east of Noyna Hall and the
upgrading to Bridleway of part of Footpath Foulridge 36 from east of Noyna Hall to
Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, in accordance with File No. 804-609.

Recommendation

That the application for a bridleway to be added to the Definitive Map and Statement
from Noyna Road to the junction with Footpath Foulridge 36 east of Noyna Hall and
the upgrading to bridleway of the footpath from east of Noyna Hall to Moss Houses
Road, Foulridge, in accordance with File No. 804-609, be not accepted.

Background

An application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 has been
received for the addition of a bridleway from Noyna Road to the junction with
Footpath Foulridge 36 east of Noyna Hall and the upgrading to bridleway of the
footpath from east of Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, on the Definitive
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.

The county council is required by law to investigate the evidence and make a
decision based on that evidence as to whether a public right of way exists, and if so
its status. Section 53(3)(b) and (c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out

Lancasg.i‘[e
Soundy g@g

Page 41



the tests that need to be met when reaching a decision; also current Case Law
needs to be applied.

An order will only be made to add a public right of way to the Definitive Map and
Statement if the evidence shows that:

e Aright of way “subsists” or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”

An order for upgrading or downgrading a way shown on the Definitive Map and
Statement will only be made if the evidence shows that:

e it ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description”

An order for adding a way to or upgrading a way shown on the Definitive Map and
Statement will be made if the evidence shows that:

e “the expiration... of any period such that the enjoyment by the public...raises
a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or restricted
byway”

When considering evidence, if it is shown that a highway existed then highway rights
continue to exist (‘once a highway, always a highway”) even if a route has since
become disused or obstructed unless a legal order stopping up or diverting the rights
has been made. Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 makes it clear
that considerations such as suitability, the security of properties and the wishes of
adjacent landowners cannot be considered. The Planning Inspectorate’s website
also gives guidance about the interpretation of evidence.

The county council’s decision will be based on the interpretation of the evidence
discovered by officers and documents and other evidence supplied by the applicant,
landowners, consultees and other interested parties produced to the county council
before the date of the decision. Each piece of evidence will be tested and the
evidence overall weighed on the balance of probabilities. It is possible that the
council’s decision may be different from the status given in any original application.
The decision may be that the routes have public rights as a footpath, bridleway,
restricted byway or byway open to all traffic, or that no such right of way exists. The
decision may also be that the routes to be added or deleted vary in length or location
from those that were originally considered.

Consultations

Pendle Borough Council

The Borough Council has been consulted but we have received no response.

Foulridge Parish Council

The Parish Council has been consulted but we have received no response.

Page 42



Applicant/Landowners/Supporters/Objectors

The evidence submitted by the applicant/landowners/supporters/objectors and
observations on those comments are included in Advice — Head of Service — Legal
and Democratic Services Observations.

Advice

Head of Service — Planning and Environment

Points annotated on the attached Committee plan.

Point Grid Description
Reference
(SD)
A 8996 4237 Open junction with Noyna Road
B 9002 4211 Route crossed by Footpath Foulridge 34
C 9009 4196 Junction of application route with access track to
Noyna Hall Barn
D 9009 4194 Junction with Footpath Foulridge 36
E 9023 4186 Junction with Footpath Foulridge 37 and access
track to Ragstones
F 9028 4186 Field gate across route
G 9031 4185 Field gate across route with adjacent gated squeeze
stile
H 9033 4185 Wooden gate posts (no gate)
I 9040 4184 Field gate across route
J 9048 4178 Junction of footpaths north east of Moss House Farm
K 9055 4177 Open junction with Moss Houses Road (U40347)

Description of Route
A site inspection was carried out in October 2019.

n.b. Reference to public rights of way shown on the Definitive Map and Statement
are generally given in the form '13-12-FP36' or 'Footpath Foulridge 36' but are
referenced below in the abbreviated form 'Foulridge 36' for brevity since all those
referred to are currently recorded as footpaths in Foulridge in Pendle Borough.

The application route commences at point A on the Committee plan which is a point
on Noyna Road approximately 120 metres west of the junction of Noyna Road and
Foulridge 34.

The route leaves Noyna Road to follow a stone surfaced access road approximately
3 metres wide and bound on either side by post and wire fencing running in a
generally south south easterly direction descending gradually downhill for
approximately 260 metres to point B.

At point B the access road is crossed by Foulridge 34 which joins the road via a
wooden stile in the fence from the field to the north east. The footpath crosses over

Page 43




the access road to continue south down an access road which leaves the application
route at point B and continues directly to Noyna Hall Farm.

The application route continues from point B along another access road which forms
the continuation of the route from A-B and continues in a south easterly direction to
pass to the east of Noyna Hall Farm and Noyna Hall Barn to meet a triangular
junction of access roads at point C.

From point C one road branches south west towards Noyna Hall Barn and Farm
while the other one (which forms part of the application route) continues south east
for a short distance (approximately 15 metres) to point D where it meets a
substantial stone surfaced bounded track approximately 3.5 metres wide and
recorded as part of Foulridge 36.

From point D the track provides access west to Noyna Hall Barn and Noyna Hall
Barn and also south east (along which the application route runs) towards Parsons
House. The application route from point D is bound by stone walls and provides
access to some unnamed farm buildings on the north side of the track. It then turns
to continue in a more east south easterly direction — still bound on either side by
stone walls to point E where Foulridge 37 joins the route via a field gate immediately
adjacent to the start of an access road leading south from the application route to
Ragstones House and Moss House Farm.

From point E the application route continues in a generally easterly direction — still
bound on either side by stone walls — to point F where it is crossed by metal gates
(open on the day the route was inspected) through which the route passes to
continue between Parsons House and some stables to a field gate (padlocked on the
day of inspection) at point G, immediately before which a horse box had been parked
restricting access to the full width of the route. Immediately adjacent to the gate is a
gated squeeze stile in the stone wall.

Beyond point G the condition of the surface of the route deteriorates and the track —
whilst continuing at a width of approximately 3 metres — is puddled, muddy and
partially overgrown with the adjacent walls in disrepair. The route continues east with
no physical evidence that this part of the route is used regularly by vehicles
accessing the various properties located to the east or west of it.

The route passes through point H where wooden gate posts (but no gate) are
located and continues to Causeway Top farm which appears to be in a relatively run
down state and no longer operating as a working farm. The route continues directly
past the front of the farmhouse and adjacent stone barns to point | where it is
crossed by a further metal gate (open on the day of inspection) and then continues in
a south easterly direction along a roughly tarmacked access road to the junction of
the application route with 3 footpaths immediately north of a cluster of houses known
historically as Moss Houses (point J).

From point J the application route continues east along a reasonably surfaced
tarmac/compacted stone surfaced road which forms part of the access to Causeway
Top Farm and also the direct access to Moss Houses to point K where it meets Moss
Houses Road.

Page 44



In summary, the total length of the application route is 950 metres. The route
between point A and point D is not recorded as a public right of way but is accessible
with no signs indicating whether the route is considered to be public or private.
Between point A and point B it forms part of an access road leading directly to Noyna
Hall Farm. Continuing from point B to point C this section also provides part of the
access road to Noyna Hall Barn. Continuing from point C through to point F the
application route also appears to provide access from point A (Noyna Road) to
Ragstone House, Moss House Farm and Parsons House. A gate (locked on the day
of inspection and partially blocked by a parked vehicle) at Parsons House (point G)
seemingly acts as a split with all properties west of point G gaining vehicular access
via Noyna Road from point A whereas any property east of point G including
Causeway Top and the cluster of properties at Moss Houses being accessed from
Moss Houses Road via point K.

Pedestrian access was available along the full length of the route but horses (and
possibly cyclists) would have been prevented from using the full length of the route
on the day of inspection by the padlocked gate at point G.

Map and Documentary Evidence

A variety of maps, plans and other documents were examined to discover when the
route came into being, and to try to determine what its status may be.

Document Title Date Brief Description of Document & Nature of
Evidence
Yates’ Map 1786 Small scale commercial map. Such maps were on

of Lancashire

sale to the public and hence to be of use to their
customers the routes shown had to be available for
the public to use. However, they were privately
produced without a known system of consultation or
checking. Limitations of scale also limited the routes
that could be shown.

Page 45




P lrunti € ofl

™.

A

iy

L
-

: e

L) __’.‘ B

Observations The application route is not shown. A number of
properties are shown in the area crossed by the
application route — including one labelled as ‘Noyna'
but no access is shown to any of these properties.
Noyna Road is shown but Moss Houses
Road/Cockhill Lane is not shown.

Investigating Officer's The application route did not exist as a major route
Comments at that time although it may have existed as a minor
route which, due to the limitations of scale and the
purpose for which the map was drawn meant that it
would not have been shown so no inference can be
drawn.

Smith's Map 1801 Charles Smith was a London engraver and map
seller. His map of Lancashire appeared as a single
sheet in 1801 and then between 1804 and 1846
was published in subsequent editions of the New
English atlas. His Map was similar to Cary's Map of
Lancashire dated 1789 but is not a direct copy. It is
thought that Smith and Cary used common sources,
especially Yates survey, and since both were
aiming at the same market — the increasing number
of private and commercial travellers — it is not
considered surprising that they produced similar
maps.

Page 46




Observations

The application route is not shown.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route did not exist as a major route
at that time although it may have existed as a minor
route which, due to the limitations of scale and the
purpose for which the map was drawn meant that it
would not have been shown so no inference can be
drawn.

Honor of Clitheroe Map

1804-1810

A privately produced map of land owned by the
Honor of Clitheroe — Henry Duke of Buccleuth and
Elizabeth Duchess of Buccleuth. It specifically
shows the boundaries of coal leases granted by
them. 'Roads' were identified in the key but there
was no apparent distinction between those which
may have been considered to be public or private.

Page 47




Observations

Noyna Road and Moss Houses Road/Cockhill Lane
are shown. A route is shown extending south from
Noyna Road (opposite Noyney Laith) which is
similar — but slightly further east of the application
route between points A-D. This route continues to a
T junction where one route is shown continuing
south/south west towards to Castle Road and
Roundhill whilst another route — consistent with the
application route between point D and point K
continues east passing a number of unnamed
properties and a collection of properties labelled
Moss Houses to Moss Houses Road/ Cockhill Lane
All of the routes detailed above are coloured in the
same way as all the other roads in the area and are
denoted in the key as 'roads' with no distinction
between those considered to be public or private.

Investigating

Officer's

The earliest map inspected to show the application

Page 48




Comments

route between point D and point K existing as part
of a through-route across land forming part of the
Estate owned by the Honor of Clitheroe. However
the route from Noyna Road to point D was on a
different alignment from the route applied (as
confirmed by the 15t edition OS map detailed
below).

This small scale map only appeared to show the
more significant routes and did not show other
routes currently recorded as public footpaths that
join the route. This suggests that the route was of a
substantial nature and would have been capable of
being used by people on horseback and possibly
with horse drawn vehicles as part of a longer
through-route at that time. The route is shown in the
same way as routes now recorded as public
vehicular highway and is described as a 'road' in the
map key.

John Cary's
Lancashire

Map

of

1806

John Cary was described as 'the most
representative, able and prolific of English
cartographers'. He was as busy a publisher as he
was a cartographer and engraver, and until his
death in 1835 published a constant flow of atlases,
maps, road maps, canal plans, globes and
geological surveys. He set new high standards of
engraving and map design and in 1787 he
published a 'New and Correct English Atlas’
containing 46 maps which was re-issued ten times
until 1831.

In 1794 the Postmaster General commissioned
Cary to survey the main roads of Great Britain and
his information on roads may be viewed with above
average confidence.

Page 49




4

Observations

The application route is not shown.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route did not exist as a major route
at that time although it may have existed as a minor
route which, due to the limitations of scale and the
purpose for which the map was drawn meant that it
would not have been shown so no inference can be
drawn.

Stockdale's Map

1818

An early commercial map included in a book titled
‘A description of the country from thirty to forty miles
round Manchester' by J Aikin MD and is titled 'A
new map of the country round Manchester' dated

1818. There is some uncertainty about the date of

Page 50




the map as the book was originally published in
1795. There is no key to the map.

Observations The application route is not shown.
Investigating Officer's The application route did not exist as a major route
Comments at that time although it may have existed as a minor

route which, due to the limitations of scale and the
purpose for which the map was drawn meant that it
would not have been shown so no inference can be
drawn.

Greenwood’s Map of | 1818 Further small scale commercial map.
Lancashire

Page 51




Observations

cad == OHF W i

Greenwood shows a route consistent with at least
part of the application route in the same way as it is
shown on the Honor of Clitheroe Map detailed
above. Noyna Road and Moss Houses
Road/Cockhill Lane are shown and a route is shown
extending south from Noyna Road which is similar
in location to the application route between points
A-D but shown starting slightly to the east of point
A. This route continues to a T junction where a
route consistent with the application route between
point D and point K continues east passing a
number of properties labelled Moss House to Moss
Houses Road/ Cockhill Lane. From the T junction a
further route is shown continuing south/south west
towards Colne to Round Hill. All of the routes
described above (including the application route
between point D and point K) are shown as a ‘cross
road' as depicted in the map key.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

A route consistent with that shown on the Honor of
Clitheroe map is shown suggesting that the
application route — or a route approximating to it —
appears to have existed in 1818. Its depiction on a
small scale commercial map suggests that the route
was considered by this particular publisher to be a
significant route of a substantial nature and would
have been capable of being used by people on
horseback and possibly with horse drawn vehicles

as part of a longer through-route at that time.

Page 52




Chapelry of Colne Map

1818

A copy of a map provided by the applicant and said
to be dated 1818. The origins of the map, why it
was produced and location of the original map are
not known

Observat|ons

.ﬁ

"J.’ b‘a

The map has been copied and annotated by the
applicant and appears to show a route existing
consistent with what is shown on Greenwoods Map
published in the same year. It is not known whether
this map was a copy of Greenwoods Map or
prepared form an independent survey or what the
purpose of the map was or whether it was intended
to show any public status of the routes shown.

Investigating Officer's The application route between point D and point K

Comments may have existed in 1818 but little inference can be
drawn without further information about this
particular map.

John Carey's Map 1825 The applicant submitted a photocopy of a further

map on which it was handwritten that it was a map
produced by John Cary dated 1825. The original
map has not been viewed by the Investigating

Page 53




Officer.

i ¢
The extract provided by applicant is of poor quality

Observations
but a route approximating with the alignment of the
application route does appear to be shown from
Noyna Road through to Moss Houses Road/Cockhill
Lane in the same manner as the Honor of Clitheroe
Map, Greenwoods Map and the Chapelry of Colne
Map.

Investigating Officer's The application route may have existed but little

Comments inference can be drawn without further information
about this particular map.

Hennet's Map of | 1830 Small scale commercial map. In 1830 Henry

Lancashire Teesdale of London published George Hennet's

Map of Lancashire surveyed in 1828-1829 at a
scale of 71/2 inches to 1 mile. Hennet's finer
hachuring was no more successful than
Greenwood's in portraying Lancashire's hills and
valleys but his mapping of the county's
communications network was generally considered
to be the clearest and most helpful that had yet

been achieved.

Page 54




« ~(Falvlanah ) )
( \\( 2 pém o, )

Merket Towns in Roman Capt tals as

Town.s that send Members to  Uarliament

Townships tn small Roman as

Hamlets Villages and other Pl 1663 i small Italics as

Gentlemens Seats and Farles |

Howses:

Woods and Flantation.s
Heaths and (omamions.
Hills and Rising Grounds
(hurches and Chapels
Water Mills

Wird Mills

Turnpile Roads
(rosy Roads
Rivers and Brools

Canals

LIVERPOOL
o2 o

g

i

Observations

A route is shown from Noyna Hill Road extending
south to a T junction to the east of some unnamed
buildings with one branch of the route then
extending east past a number of marked properties
to meet Moss Houses Road/ Cockhill Lane whilst
the other route extends south west towards Colne.
This route from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall appears
similar to but distinct from the alignment of the
application route A-D. From east of Noyna Hall to
Moss Houses Road (D-K) this corresponds to the
application route and is depicted as a cross road in
the map key.

Investigating

Officer's

Part of the application route (D-K) appears to have

Page 55



Comments

existed in 1830 suggesting that it formed part of a
through-route (via the north-south route to Noyna
Road opposite what Greenwood labelled as
'‘Noyney Laith’) and was most probably considered
to be available to the travelling public on horseback
and possibly carts in 1830. The depiction of the
route on this commercially produced small scale
map suggests that the route (including D-K) was
considered to be at least a bridleway in 1830.

Whilst it is not fully known what is meant by the term
‘cross road' as the only other category of 'road’
shown on the map are turnpike roads, it is possible
that a cross road was regarded as either a public
minor cart road or a bridleway (as suggested by the
judge in Hollins v Oldham). It is unlikely that a map
of this scale would show footpaths."

Canal and Railway Acts

Canals and railways were the vital infrastructure for
a modernising economy and hence, like motorways
and high speed rail links today, legislation enabled
these to be built by compulsion where agreement
couldn't be reached. It was important to get the
details right by making provision for any public
rights of way to avoid objections but not to provide
expensive crossings unless they really were public
rights of way. This information is also often available
for proposed canals and railways which were never
built.

Observations There are no existing, proposed or dismantled

canals or railways crossing the area investigated.
Investigating Officer's No inference can be drawn with regards to the
Comments existence of public rights.

Tithe Map and Tithe
Award or Apportionment

1842

Maps and other documents were produced under
the Tithe Commutation Act of 1836 to record land
capable of producing a crop and what each
landowner should pay in lieu of tithes to the church.
The maps are usually detailed large scale maps of a
parish and while they were not produced specifically
to show roads or public rights of way, the maps do
show roads quite accurately and can provide useful
supporting evidence (in conjunction with the written
tithe award) and additional information from which
the status of ways may be inferred.

Page 56







Page 58




)

|

Observations The Tithe Map dated 1842 is the earliest detailed
large scale map examined of the area.

The map does not show the application route
between point A and point B. A field boundary is
shown from Noyna Lane opposite ‘Nuna Outley'
extending south to point D part of which is shown
fenced off as a narrow wooded strip and numbered
638 (and described in the Tithe Award as a
‘plantation").This field boundary/strip of woodland is

Page 59




consistent with the alignment of the route shown on
the Honor of Clitheroe Map, Greenwood's Map, the
Chapelry of Colne Map and Hennet's Map but there
is no trace of that route shown to exist on this map.

Noyna Road and Moss Houses Road/Cockhill Lane
are both shown on the Tithe Map and are
individually numbered. The Tithe Award contains a
list of 'Roads' for which there are no recorded
landowners or occupiers and both these routes are
listed under that section.

The application route between point D and point K
is shown on the Tithe Map as part of a longer route
which extends from point K at the junction with
Moss Houses Road west to Noyna Hall. A number
of properties are shown along the route with the
only access to them being via the application route.
Moss Houses are shown south of the application
route at point J with a number of individually
numbered properties being accessed from the
route. Causeway Top Farm is shown but is named
on the Tithe Map as 'Footpad Top'. A larger scale
map insert shows the section of the application
route passing Footpad Top in more detail and
shows two separately numbered properties in the
region of Parsons House with a line across the
application route at point G. The map insert also
shows an access track leaving the application route
at point J to provide the only access to White
Houses.

West of point G — on the main Tithe Map - the
application route is numbered 743a. This number is
not included in the list of Roads in the Tithe Award
but is included as part of the entry for Noyna Hall
House and whilst being described as 'part of lane' it
is also detailed as being owned by Ellen Moon and
occupied by John Stalkind. The lane, numbered
743a, continues west from the bend in the
application route (point D) to end at Noyna Hall.

The track running southwards from the application
route at the bend (point D), as shown on a number
of earlier private and commercial small scale maps
is not shown as a through-route on the Tithe Map
although sections of it still appeared to have
existed. Three sections were numbered separately
and listed in the Tithe Award. All were owned by
Ellen Moon with plots 722 and 724 listed as lanes
whilst the section between the two — plot 723 - was
listed as a plantation.

Page 60




Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in 1842 and the route to the east of the
application route from Noyna Road to point D,
shown on earlier maps, was no longer in existence
with no real trace of it identified as part of the Tithe
commutation process.

The application route between point D and point K
existed as a substantial track — described as a lane
- providing the only access to a number of
properties including Noyna Hall where the route
appears to terminate.

Whilst being numbered and described as a lane in
the Tithe Award it is clearly distinguished from those
routes which appeared to be considered as carrying
pubic vehicular rights which were listed separately
as roads for which no landowners or occupiers were
listed.

A line is shown across the route at point G which
most probably indicated the existence of a gate —
possibly on the boundary between two properties.
The existence of a gate across a route with public —
or private — access wouldn’'t be unusual in a rural
location — particularly where a route passes through
a farm so no inference can be drawn in this respect.
The application route between point D and point K
appears to have been capable of being used on
horseback — and most probably with vehicles in
1842 but is shown as terminating at Noyna Hall
suggestive of an access track to properties rather
than a public bridleway.

There is however a suggestion that a route may
have previously existed - both from Noyna Road
(east of point A) to point D and from point D south to
Castle Road as shown on some earlier private and
commercial maps — which may have provided a
through route at some point in the past which may
have been capable of being used on horseback.

Inclosure Act Award and
Maps

Inclosure Awards are legal documents made under
private acts of Parliament or general acts (post
1801) for reforming medieval farming practices, and
also enabled new rights of way layouts in a parish to
be made. They can provide conclusive evidence of
status.

Observations There is no Inclosure Award available for the land
crossed by the route.

Investigating Officer's No inference can be drawn with regards to the

Comments existence of public rights.

6 Inch Ordnance Survey

1848

The earliest Ordnance Survey 6 inch map for this

Page 61




(OS) Map Sheet 49 area surveyed in 1844 and published in 1848.*

~ P J

. | ' i
v . ‘_ - ~ f g . 7 (e ()rn.r i I)'llml.H: 3 ot
o P { | 3 1 7 rhen s
11 /b’n o, | ~ | BE, 2 E -
}E‘.‘ :q erfBroa c\@ 2 | E ! { & .

NNV S 0% R i

- :' »
R el BN o2 e i
’ \' \ ¢ : { a -7\ / : | l
: ;,il ,LJ’\ 5 é l \/
1 | A \ | }
Q""" \ : ? o IR el !
ol \ - e . \
TR ! ” __._———7 — : | \
LTI A MF ! ] b \
\ownl HHall | INDorl/A. |
N epvay Top
B '
| o8/, Y s s
Iy a3
» | 4
T e S 1'. sl a
\ B | ~
—\—aaie A gy
R i o L

1 The Ordnance Survey (OS) has produced topographic maps at different scales (historically one inch to one
mile, six inches to one mile and 1:2500 scale which is approximately 25 inches to one mile). Ordnance Survey
mapping began in Lancashire in the late 1830s with the 6-inch maps being published in the 1840s. The large
scale 25-inch maps which were first published in the 1890s provide good evidence of the position of routes at the
time of survey and of the position of buildings and other structures. They generally do not provide evidence of the
legal status of routes, and carry a disclaimer that the depiction of a path or track is no evidence of the existence
of a public right of way.

Page 62




l e

.,.:.__\‘ T ; <
\ y/ - e
S Novna Oue Ze

i
-

4 A

-— —

r -"-.‘.#
|
| y 4 l“ 4
Rote s £ 020 &3,/

~ Iﬂ’ ‘A
/

Ly;;._ A o S

Observations

The earliest Ordnance Survey map examined does
not show the application route, remains of a route or
trace of a route between point A and point D or from
a point to the east of the application route A-D along
the alignment of the route shown on small scale
private and commercial maps published in the first
half of the 1800s. A bounded strip of land is shown
extending directly north from point D for
approximately 270 metres as a narrow belt of
woodland consistent with what is shown on the
Tithe Map - with no trace of a track and which
appears to be on the same alignment as the route
shown extending through to Noyna Road on the
small scale commercial maps.

The application route from point D to point K is
shown as a substantial bounded track. From point K
it extends west past a collection of buildings named
as Moss Houses continuing through Causeway Top
through point D to Noyna Hall. From Noyna Hall a
track is then shown continuing west initially
bounded but then unenclosed to Foulridge. From
point D continuing directly south is a double fenced
narrow strip of woodland again on the alignment of
what was shown as a cross road on the earlier
small scale private and commercial.

Page 63




Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in 1844 and there is no indication on
the map that it had previously existed along the
alignment claimed. The route to the east of the
application route A-D extending from Noyna Road
to point D is not shown. There is however a
bounded strip of woodland which looks to be on the
same alignment as the route shown on the early
commercial maps. This stops 130 metres short of
Noyna Road. The Ordnance Survey map is
consistent with what is shown on the Tithe Map a
few years earlier.

The application route between D and K existed in
1844 as part of a longer bounded route providing
access to and from Noyna Hall and also providing
access to Moss House Farm (not named on the
map), Moss Houses and Causeway Top. No gates
are shown across the route although this does not
necessarily mean that there weren’t any as the map
is drawn to a small scale. An unbounded track is
shown west from Noyna Hall to Foulridge which
together with part of the application route D-K forms
a through-route between Foulridge and Moss
Houses Road/Cockhill Lane although it is not known
what traffic it carried.

Traces of a track from point D extending south
towards Colne can be seen in places consistent
with the earlier commercial maps but this route, if it
did exist was no longer evident and does not
appear to be capable of being used in the mid-
1800s.

1 inch Ordnance Survey
Map

1850s

Reprint of First Edition 1 inch OS Map Sheet 92
Skipton & Bradford published by David & Charles as
sheet 16 in their reprint editions, surveyed 1844-

1850 and published in the 1850s.

Page 64




f Y’
L\ “‘r‘:\ »
\ ;‘I ;\\\\\\

—~—yy ¥

nMill

Observations The application route between pomt A and pomt D
is not shown. From point K heading north west
through point D the application route can be clearly
seen as a substantial route providing access to
Moss Houses and Noyna Hall and possibly to
Higher Broach and Broach House. The route shown
on earlier private and commercial maps extending
south from point D through Lower Clough to Castle
Road (not named on the map) is also clearly shown.

Investigating Officer's The application route did not exist between point A
Comments and point D in the 1850s. The route between point
D and point K existed as a substantial route
providing access to a number of properties. It is not
shown as part of a longer through route west of
point D — which would have provided weight to it
being a public through route of at least bridleway
status. However, at odds with the Tithe Map and
First edition 6 inch Ordnance Survey map published
around the same time, a route is shown linking to
the application route at point D which may have
formed part of a longer through route to Castle
Road and which would be more suggestive of a
public bridleway than a 'dead end' route providing
access to and from a number of private properties.

The original scale of the map (1 inch to 1 mile)

Page 65




means that only the more significant routes are
generally shown and the purpose of the map in the
mid-1800s would probably have been to assist the
travelling public. The inclusion of the route between
point D and point K on this map is suggestive —
particularly if it did form part of a longer through
route - of at least public bridleway rights.

Cassini Map Old Series
Blackburn & Burnley
Sheet 103

=l
Ceanal ™™
Lesery

3

Observations

1842-1859

The Cassini publishing company produced maps
based on Ordnance Survey mapping. These maps
have been enlarged and reproduced to match the
modern day 1:50, 000 OS Landranger Maps and
are readily available to use. .

PP 4N ) 7 4y A A
"b fedi T T al et

wrrsi
. 31, P 3
178400 = w” - 4 f_“‘j(_t ‘("
v - )

%

-~ A NSNS ' N -
&0 i iR

-'v
P

ey
: s 1277

. ¢/ | prpm
t ::'"f' '-4'11'
e 4 kW

pe | ‘,.
“ ..“Aﬁl" ¢ im0

Cassini's map was almost identical to the 1 inch OS
map detailed above. The application route between
point A and point D is not shown but the route

between point D and point K is shown providing
access to a number of properties.

Investigating Officer's

Comments

The original scale of the map (1 inch to the mile)
means that only the more significant routes are
generally shown. The purpose of the map in the late
1800s would probably have been to assist the
travelling public on horseback or vehicle suggesting
that the through roads shown had public rights for
those travellers.

The inclusion of the application route between point
D and point K on this map suggests that it existed
as a substantial track capable of being used on
horseback but it is uncertain what public rights may

have existed.

Page 66




Ordnance Survey 1 inch
map Revised New Series
- Clitheroe

1898

OS 1 inch map surveyed 1842-49, revised 1896
and published 1898.

Observations

VrawHitt \3

3le \ﬁs 9 f{ff-i

The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown as part of a longer route providing
access to a number of unnamed properties, Moss
Houses and Noyna Hall. Paths (single dashed lines)
are shown leading to and from Noyna Hall which
may have provided through-routes consistent with
the application route between point D and point K
being currently recorded as a pubic footpath. The
route south of point D — shown on earlier maps as a
link through to Castle Road is still visible for most of
its length although the section immediately south of
point D is not shown as a double line.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in the 1890s. The application route
between point D and point K existed as part of a
longer route providing access to a number of
properties and although the route itself appears
capable of being used on horseback and by
vehicles it did not appear to exist as a substantial
through-route capable of being used on horseback

Page 67




except south to Castle Road.

25 Inch OS Map
Sheet 49-09

1891

The earliest OS map at a scale of 25 inch to the
mile. Surveyed in 1890 and published in 1891.

Page 68




»
) “‘.u'v"A

J,;ntnt“’.’

=

Observations

697

P ===

P Y
P

= 2%
¥ g 2
',gf ‘e

4,
-f"~

610
3-041

The earliest large scale Ordnance Survey map
available to view.

Noyna Road and Moss Houses Road/Cockhill Lane
are shown with thickened casing lines on the south
or east side of the road on the 1t edition 25 inch OS
maps consistent with how publicly maintained
vehicular routes were shown but the application

route (between point D and point K) is not shown in
that way.

The application route between point A and point D
is not shown although a footpath (F.P) is shown
from Noyna Road (opposite Noyna Bottom) to

Noyna Hall. Again there is a trace of the route
shown on some of the earlier commercial maps

Page 69



from Noyna Road (opposite Noyna Bottom) to point
D as a thin strip of woodland along much of what
was recorded as this track.

The application route is shown between point D and
point K as part of a longer route providing access to
Noyna Hall. A watercourse is shown across the
route at point E and a solid line is shown across it at
point G with another west of point I. Parcel numbers
and acreages are shown relating directly to the
application route between point D and point G.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in 1891.

Between point D and point K the route existed as a
significant bounded route providing access to a
number of properties and appeared capable of
being used on horseback and with vehicles. It did
not however appear to form part of a longer through
route for vehicles or horses with routes beyond
Noyna Hall shown as footpaths.

Thickened casing lines on the south or east side
were used to show the administrative status of
roads on 25 inch maps prepared between 1884 and
1912. The Ordnance Survey depicted metalled
public roads for wheeled traffic kept in good repair
by the highway authority with thickened lines on the
south and east sides of the road. ‘Good repair
meant that it should be possible to drive carriages
and light carts over then at a trot. The application
route is not shown in this way indicating that it was
not considered as part of the public vehicular
highway network at that time.

Part of the application route is shown with a
dedicated parcel number and acreage however, this
is far from conclusive evidence of highway status.
Gates are shown at two points on the application
route but the existence of gates along a public (or
private) route would not have been considered
unusual in the 1800s particularly in the proximity of
farms or in rural locations. Gateways, if they were
found to exist, were shown by the surveyor in their
closed position although this is not necessarily a
true reflection of what may have been the position
on the ground.

6 inch Ordnance Survey
Map

1895

Second edition 6 inch map resurveyed 1891 and
published 1895.

Page 70




- N T
- — Ve
Laa /

¢ 8 \
Cornshaw Brook e
‘& .ﬂ{ Close House
q -
% BNTHYD
- n_.;' . f :-& ‘o
roach ] . .3 e g
2 i - " .Q L /
» & Jd ..0 » ) R \’ v{
9 () 3 q \. -
- & .
p ! \
. »
: 3 \ N
- LG
L ) P
)2 ) 7is 4
" 1 . l’
' Neyna Hallss {
! RS A
Y N -~ Causeway Top o
. L ! " " 4
2 i A ‘3 . ~ u“. u(
4 . "‘79 l. n.'
] oW V- s
PP DL A L .l f’ H.u.!;“, .LD ’J/’*
‘-\ v v ’I 1R 1,7[&! ‘N 5 s

Observations

The application route between p0|nt A and point D
is not shown on the map. From point D to point K
the application route is shown as part of a
substantial bounded route providing access to
Noyna Hall, Causeway Top, Moss Houses and
White House.

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in the 1890s. The application route
between point D and point K existed as part of a
longer route providing access to a number of
properties and although the route itself appears
capable of being used on horseback and by
vehicles it did not appear to exist as a substantial
through-route capable of being used on horseback.

Investigating Officer's
Comments
'The Godfrey Edition’

OS Sheet 68 - Pendle

1896

Map submitted by the applicant.

Page 71



-y
.

(Lo 2l! N\t
2an * 0 g
AL 15 S A -

Observations

This small scale map was submitted by the
applicant. The quality of the photocopy is poor and
no scale or survey date is given. The Godrey Series
of Maps are reprints of Ordnance Survey maps.
This particular map extract was from the 1 inch to 1
mile OS map originally published in 1896 and is
most probably derived from the same survey as the
6 inch and 25 inch maps published at the same
time.

Whilst not easy to see due to the quality of the map
extract, the application route between point A and
point D is not shown on the map. From point D to
point K the application route does appear to be
shown providing access to Noyna Hall.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in the 1890s. The application route
between point D and point K existed as part of a
longer route providing access to Noyna Hall and to
be shown on such a small scale map must have
been reasonably substantial. It did not however
appear to exist as a through-route, the inclusion of
which  would have been suggestive of a route
considered to be at least a bridleway at that time.

Page 72




Bacons
Lancashire

Map

of

1904 G W Bacon was a publisher of maps and in 1890
his '‘Commercial and Library Map of Lancashire
from the Ordnance Surveys' was published, and
later reprinted. As the title states, the maps he

published were derived from Ordnance Survey

maps.
A—N CASHIRE.S. <
WP ——\—o-vlm 7% 7 A ‘—f"—"‘_" I
: u.‘ ]6mrr-‘ 'ul o ]
v ltau ‘é"uw . 3 \ J
' da]:t " gflew 3 - £ sha \ \'-.\ !
uw 4 \_,\\).:‘
‘\ Ixm'Bn Sl {l'dh Laith ;S..Wb,’/}.
‘,-" et P 3 “‘d'-’ Ho P“ \— L(!’ > »%
N\ \5 2 , y Ho.» ; : )
e g :r'dm M
IS ’-' X i ; \' uoLdiﬂt
g B \hila fO;‘!]:

Observations

Bacons smaII scale map covers the area crossed by
the application route. Noyna Hall is named on the
map and is shown as being accessed via a through
route which appears to extend from Skipton Old
Road to Skipton Road. This route is not entirely
consistent with the application route between point
D to point K but the direction and position suggests
that this is the route depicted. The application route
between point A and point D is not shown — with the
through-route shown passing Noyna Hall and
continuing west to Skipton Road.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The maps of the British Isles were at a small scale
and as such only the more significant routes are
generally shown. Commercial maps of this nature
were expensive to produce and to purchase and as
a result routes shown were often considered to be
public through-routes. A route considered to be the
application route between point D and point K is
shown as part of a longer through-route in the same
way as routes now known to carry public vehicular
rights supporting the fact that it existed as a
substantial physical route at that time and that it
was probably available for use horseback and
possibly with vehicles at that time. The fact that it is
shown as a significant through-route west of Noyna
Hall however is not consistent with the larger scale
OS mapping from that era.

Cassini One Inch Revised

1903-1904

A further commercially produced small scale plan

Page 73




New Series Ma based on Ordnance Survey mapping.

Observations The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown providing access to Moss Houses and
Noyna Hall but is not shown as a through route
(with the exception of footpaths — single dashed
lines — shown extending north and south from

Noyna Hall.
Investigating Officer's The application route between point A and point D
Comments did not exist. The route between point D and point K

existed as a significant route which would have
provided vehicular and equestrian access to named
properties but not as a through-route.

The depiction of the route on this map is consistent
with the existence of a bounded access road but not
as a through-route which would have been used by
the public on horseback at that time.

25 inch OS Map 1912 Further edition of the 25 inch map surveyed in 1892,
revised in 1909 and published in 1912.

Page 74



~ Ts * LT,

3 4] Noyna Hall

Page 75




Observations

The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. Between point D and point K the route
is shown providing access to a number of properties
and is gated at Causeway Farm and Prospect
House (point G). It did not continue as a significant
bounded track beyond Noyna Hall although routes
indicated to be footpaths (F.P.) are shown
extending north, south and west from there.

Investigating Officer's

Comments

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in 1909.The application route between
point D and point K existed as a significant route
that clearly provided direct access to a number of
properties. It appeared capable of being used on
horseback in 1909 but did not appear to form part of
a through-route that would have been accessible on
horseback at that time suggesting that public use
may have been on foot — connecting to various
routes shown as footpaths — rather than on
horseback.

Bartholomew half
Mapping

inch

1902-1906

The publication of Bartholomew's half inch maps for
England and Wales began in 1897 and continued
with periodic revisions until 1975. The maps were
very popular with the public and sold in their
millions, due largely to their accurate road
classification and the use of layer colouring to depict
contours. The maps were produced primarily for the
purpose of driving and cycling and the firm was in
competition with the Ordnance Survey, from whose
maps Bartholomew's were reduced. An unpublished
Ordnance Survey report dated 1914 acknowledged
that the road classification on the OS small scale
map was inferior to Bartholomew at that time for the
use of motorists.

Page 76




.

o
e

- | W { p—
157 Todmorden 3—2 miles
'

Bo,.cu/l) I miles 1 0
8 S 10 i
2 : N

T = jae - T — I T T
. . s 1 l e X — . e

First Class Roads
Secondary " fGoodJ [ = e et T S——

Indifforent - 7 (Passeble) casxsed e o]

The uncoloured roads are inferior and not to be recommended. to ecyclists.

Footpaths & Bridlepaths ...

NB. The representation of a road. or footpath is no evidence of the existence of aright of way.

Observations The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown as part of a longer route described in the
map key as an uncoloured 'road' which is inferior
and not to be recommended to cyclists. Moss
Houses are marked but Noyna Hall is not. The route
shown turns south in proximity to where Noyna Hall
is located and can be seen to continue south west
to pass through a reservoir to exit onto Castle Road.

Investigating Officer's The application route between point A and point D
Comments did not exist in the early 1900s.

The application route between point D and point K
is shown as part of a longer through-route described
as an inferior road south from the application route
through to Castle Road unlike on contemporary OS
maps although traces of this route appear to exist
on the earliest 6 inch OS map and are referred to in
part on the Tithe Map.

Finance Act 1910 Map 1910 The comprehensive survey carried out for the
Finance Act 1910, later repealed, was for the
purposes of land valuation not recording public
rights of way but can often provide very good

Page 77




evidence. Making a false claim for a deduction was
an offence although a deduction did not have to be
claimed so although there was a financial incentive
a public right of way did not have to be admitted.

Maps, valuation books and field books produced
under the requirements of the 1910 Finance Act
have been examined. The Act required all land in
private ownership to be recorded so that it could be
valued and the owner taxed on any incremental
value if the land was subsequently sold. The maps
show land divided into parcels on which tax was
levied, and accompanying valuation books provide
details of the value of each parcel of land, along
with the name of the owner and tenant (where
applicable).

An owner of land could claim a reduction in tax if his
land was crossed by a public right of way and this
can be found in the relevant valuation book.
However, the exact route of the right of way was not
recorded in the book or on the accompanying map.
Where only one path was shown by the Ordnance
Survey through the landholding, it is likely that the
path shown is the one referred to, but we cannot be
certain. In the case where many paths are shown, it
is not possible to know which path or paths the
valuation book entry refers to. It should also be
noted that if no reduction was claimed this does not
necessarily mean that no right of way existed.

Page 78







Observations

Finance Act maps and valuation books were
inspected at the County Records Office. The map
sheet covering the application route appears to be
incomplete.

None of the application route appears to be shown
excluded from numbered hereditaments although it
was noted that routes known to be public vehicular
highways including Noyna Road and Moss Houses
Road are not shown excluded either.

Part of the application route between point A and
point B crosses the plot numbered 6890 for which
no deduction for a public right of way is listed. From
midway between point A and point B through to
point G the route passes through a plot numbered
6895 and again, no deduction for a public right of
way is listed. The rest of the application route — east
of point G — crosses land which is not clearly shown
on the map as having been numbered.

Investigating Officer's The Finance act Map sheet inspected is incomplete
Comments and no inference can be drawn.
6 inch OS Map 1914 Further edition of the OS 6 inch map revised 1909-
1910 and published 1914.
- - IYOYRaG ottom o S — K —
~ A,-_.f_’_%:_ <! Do o« N .«\:
ﬁ-_—:; — __'ti = **—»_t,"_— AL = - X ' e
=" o ! A
Cornshaw Brook|| V) = B8 :
d N> - Close Hon
o BN.TRL B
& e N 4 ?. y &2
] f A %
. ~ 8 ——— v -
’ b X \4\-
’ a, 4 X
. L8 ,
s i ' \ 5
- 75 Y
) o ] h .
as W o | -~ .'
| g f
N \yna ! — -1 -
Hal - :\
7‘&1’\ = N gx
e ¥ Fgs
) =y T ~
y —p Chuserway B )
White , ege, o 679 A
_— P \ e ! LA
- - 71{‘ .b‘ — —— ‘S;J:‘/“!,,(‘K } - \)

., Lt P?'z-"'z‘.n
. V }[, _![f.’."/l‘ : 8 -

Page 80




Observations

The application route is not shown between point A
and point D. The route between point D and point K
is shown as a substantial route providing access to
Moss Houses, Causeway Top, Noyna Hall and
White House and is shown gated at Causeway Top.
Routes extending from the application route or from
Noyna Hall are all shown as footpaths.

Investigating Officer's The application route between point A and point D
Comments did not exist in 1909. The route between point D
and point K existed as a substantial route which
appeared capable of being used on horseback but
may not have existed as a through route or a route
accessible on horseback beyond Noyna Hall.
25 Inch OS Map 1932 Further edition of 25 inch map (surveyed 1892,
revised in 1930 and published 1932.
%
G ol
‘:Si A I 753

- -
| = e B

Causeway Top

1T x“'- ag ‘. P.i
3:330 $s0 110§ L sK .
te H 615 "“
bt Py _'Iu.\,\ ’/hu-(.\
iy ) < Fyrd o35
‘ - :;: ) 1 f‘:‘x ,,ft‘"\}:_ "
| <3t < W o2
. 445
o) \\
\‘-\\;.\ HORSEFIEL)
A oW
Observations The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown unchanged from earlier OS maps
providing access to a number of properties and
routes shown as footpaths.
Investigating Officer's The application route between point A and point D

Comments

did not exist in 1930. The route between point D
and point K existed as a substantial route which
appeared capable of being used on horseback but
may not have existed as a through-route or a route
accessible on horseback beyond Noyna Hall.

1 inch OS Sheet
Lancashire & Yorkshire

30

1924

OS map extract submitted by applicant.

Page 81




Observations

s *
-

. [ Rl L.. " ' _

This small scale map was submitted by the
applicant. The quality of the photocopy is poor.
Whilst not easy to see due to the quality of the map
extract, the application route between point A and
point D is not shown on the map. From point D to
point K the application route does appear to be
shown providing access to Noyna Hall.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A and point D
did not exist in 1924. The application route between
point D and point K existed as part of a longer route
providing access to Noyna Hall and to be shown on
such a small scale map must have been reasonably
substantial. It did not however appear to form part of
a through-route.

Bartholomew's Revised %2
inch  map sheet 6
Harrogate

1919-1924

Further edition of Bartholomew small scale map.

Page 82




. W—

i

il

P8 2 Lt DN
<A

4
S MY
.

‘-
)

-

B
i\
-\ lumh;:“

Y

q'k
S

- -

irﬂ. (lass Roads Dangerous hills to be ridden with c‘#n/ n
Seconda: o (Good] s s ——— The “arrow head shows the direction oW/

NB. The representation. of a road or Tootpath. is no evidence of the extstence of' a right of way.

Observations The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown as part of a longer route described in the
map key as an uncoloured 'road' which is inferior
and not to be recommended to cyclists. Moss
Houses are marked but Noyna Hall is not. The route
shown turns south in proximity to where Noyna Hall
is located and can be seen to continue south west
to pass through a reservoir to exit onto Castle Road.

Investigating Officer's The application route between point A and point D
Comments did not exist in the 1920s.

The application route between point D and point K
is shown in the same way as it was shown on the
earlier edition of Bartholomew's map as part of a
longer through-route described as a road south from
the application route through to Castle Road unlike
on contemporary OS maps although traces of this
route appear to exist on the earliest 6 inch OS map
and are referred to in part on the Tithe Map.

Borough of Colne, Town | 1930 Photocopy of 6 inch map provided by the applicant
Planning/Development from Colne library collection.

Page 83



The map provided by the applicant was a poor
copy. It appears to be an extract of an OS base
map showing part of the application route (point D
to point K). The date of the OS map is not known.
The application route between point A and point D
is not shown on the map.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

No inference can be drawn with regards to the
existence of public rights.

Aerial Photograph?

1940s

The earliest set of aerial photographs available was
taken just after the Second World War in the 1940s
and can be viewed on GIS. The clarity is generally
very variable.

2 perial photographs can show the existence of paths and tracks, especially across open areas, and changes to
buildings and field boundaries for example. Sometimes it is not possible to enlarge the photos and retain their
clarity, and there can also be problems with trees and shadows obscuring relevant features.

Page 84




Observations

A track consistent with the first section of the
application route (from point A to point B) is visible
which then continues from point B due south to
Noyna Hall. The application route from point B to
point D is not apparent.

From point D to point E the route is not visible due
to tree cover. From point E to point K the route is
clearly visible as a significant track consistent with
how a route used by vehicles would appear.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A-B existed in
the 1940s but at the time that the photograph was
taken it did not continue along the application route
towards point D. The application route between
point D and point E, shown on OS maps produced
before and after the date of this photograph is not
visible on the photograph. This may be because the
track obscured by tree cover but may also indicate
that since a new access route from point A on
Noyna Road south to Noyna Hall Farm had been

Page 85




created then vehicular access to Noyna Hall Farm
had significantly decreased via the application route
between point D and point K and that the route west
of point E was no longer as visible due to
decreased vehicular use.

Between point E and point K the route is clearly
visible and appears capable of being used by
horses.

Bartholomew's half inch

map

Bartholomew % inch mapping Sheet 31 North

Lancashire published 1941

B“tM'myRm' e e e

Ministry of Transport Numbers 4586

Good Secondary Roads Footpaths & Bridlepaths
oS:;f&eab‘eRoads m is no evid.amawd'dl:gﬁt’?:"dw;rx
Observations Further small scale Bartholomew's map showing the

application route in the same way as the earlier two
additions of the map.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The map indicates that the application route
between point A and point D did not exist in the
1940s which is largely consistent with other map
and documentary evidence available at that time.
The application route between point D and point K
is shown to exist but again the route is shown as
part of a longer through-route turning south south
west in the proximity of point D

OS 1inch Map

1947

1 inch OS map revised 1924 with further corrections

Page 86




Blackburn &
Sheet 95

Burnley

Observations

The application route is not shown between point A
and point D but is shown in the same way as it has
been shown on earlier (and different scales of OS
mapping) between point D and point K as part of a
substantial access track to Moss Houses, Noyna
Hall and other unnamed properties.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route did not exist between point A
and point D when the map was revised in 1924. The
route between point D and point K did exist
providing access to a number of properties and
appeared to be capable of being used on horseback
as a cul de sac.

6 Inch OS Map
94SW and 84SW

1956

The OS base map for the Definitive Map, First
Review, was published in 1956 at a scale of 6
inches to 1 mile (1:10,560). This map was revised
between 1930 and 1945.

Page 87




N .850'. ) A .,Q‘y - N
i T S B A
‘m ‘:‘ “Soes ati* o °°° B
. 7 \0-/ £ 3
- : > ‘ :
3 “rinee .g.-cnno-.---‘."i-.’,~ ...
i t TS ,75' - ’¢..' .'.' X 'o..’
.‘\:1-0 “ssssnng, L LT '.,"MM ..n,.
..-" \\: - 05.007sor.o0' : . .'°..a
- . -~ '
. .y ,
s N : ‘ N ,x ""l'
I . 1 :...-.. .‘...
"‘ :c“l.-OQ|. .... . - ....J.....; .'. X ..' San
“n?:' b . '.:—0&0.-... 11” : --'.....‘.;
" ..0 g remarihy,, K :
3 ceve o.. > q
....g. ... ., ..l... ‘0. L4 .
. ':': -“ '. Ty “M.:ll’-
w-al e Soligone
:.- it 'ww » -. - ‘
r fame S % n .-
'. . e .o‘
B ™ _..."..-J.. . .;: r ._-
e, - P . ot o’
d 9 o- ..0 55 ..'o".'..
.- ’ ~ i o flee lo. o®
- - ~ .. * é )
oo ~-7°° “-’ o
) S - ,‘~ ’ o
'y -~ ’ o
> ‘o. .l
U 4 Y
WM‘.\ M A'.‘.. * N
Houge: J, g :
% .‘. P w '.A:
"'..- % ! m’.'t' .o"" .-'. :'3 b .l.. . ARy
t.A.- Saarah o ] ’\...‘ @. :: ‘."
“C~. o x y -

Page 88




Observations

The application route is shown across two OS map
sheets. Only sheet 94SW was available to view as a
‘clean copy' but the OS sheet used for the
publication of the Revised Definitive Map (Sheet
84SE) was revised and published at the same time.

The application route is shown as a track indicated
by double pecked lines between point A and point B
from where it then continued south along the route
of Foulridge 34 direct to Noyna Hall Farm. The
application route between point B and point D is not
shown.

Between point D and point K the application route is
shown as it is on earlier editions of the OS mapping
as a substantial bounded route providing access to
a number of properties.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point B
appears to have come into existence between 1930
and 1945 as part of an access route direct to Noyna
Hall. The route between point B and point D did not
exist at that time so it appears that the full length of

Page 89




the application route still did not exist as a through-
route which could be used by any type of traffic
(either public or private) at that time.

The route between point D and point K did exist
providing access to a number of properties and
appeared to be capable of being used on
horseback.

OS Map from Mario Maps | 1950s Submitted by the applicant and available to view
online on the county council website -
http://mario.lancashire.gov.uk/agsmario/default.aspx

It differs from the 7" Series 1 inch map published
1962 (detailed below) and the date of publication
and revision is not known.

")\\ o -"*/
Je /0

¢ 0‘(

g

Observations The application route is shown as part of the access
to Noyna Hall between point A and point B. The
route between point B and point D is not shown.
The application route between point D and point K
is shown as a substantial bounded route providing
access to a number of properties. A route is also
shown extending south west from point E providing
access through to Castle Road.

Page 90



http://mario.lancashire.gov.uk/agsmario/default.aspx

Investigating Officer's
Comments

This small scale 1 inch OS map is believed to have
been published in the 1950s. It is consistent with
other maps of that time in showing that the
application route between point A and point B was
now in existence but that the full application route
was still not available — as the section from point B
to point D did not exist.

The map shows a route extending south west from
point E through to Castle Road — as shown
intermittently on maps predating it.

The application route from point D to point K is
again shown and appeared to be capable of being
used on horseback.

Conveyance and Plan

1959

A copy of a conveyance and plan submitted by the
applicant regarding land at White House Farm,
Foulridge

Page 91




Observations

The Conveyance submitted relates to a plot of land
at White House Farm and is dated 30" December
1959. The description of the property refers to it
being bounded on the southerly side by 'a roadway
leading from Noyna Hall Farm to Causeway Top'




and refers to access to the property being via
Noyna Road (not the application route). A plan
included in the conveyance shows the application
route between point D and point G but does not
indicate what the public (or private) status of the
route was believed to be.

Investigating Officer's

Comments

The conveyance plan shows the application route
between point D and point G physically existed and
described it as part of an access road between
Noyna Hall and Causeway Top. There is no
reference to whether this route carried any public
rights.

1:2500 OS Map
SD 9041-9141 SD 8842-
8942 and SD 9042-9142

1970-71

Further edition of 25 inch map reconstituted from
former county series and revised in 1967 and
published 1970-1971 as national grid series.

“w ) "I

Page 93




|

<
1
| Fren
(Hiw
= ]|

-
.
N

238 FL

- _v:‘.‘m._v e

)
T — —

.
>
a® 5

o — -

[ — —

.‘.\
Z
3
T
v” o D

I
g P S B

T

BURNLEY KD

.......

e e e—

rovLIvOLL U r

903 904 w5
x > M e T e R e e 1-("r—r-:r—r:*,r-1*_‘q_—_1_'_'

S0

. a y r o ‘
Bl | B
3 ) oy fpato N ' s ||
! L.J_V% R g | £ |
[ | . J L3 1'. l

s
Causeway Top |

| a5,

Observations

The application route between point A and point B
is shown as part of the access road to Noyna Hall
and the route between point B and point D is still
not shown. The application route between point D
and point K is shown largely unaltered from how it is
depicted on earlier OS maps and appears gated at
point G and point H and provides access to a
number of named properties.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point B
existed as part of an access route direct to Noyna
Hall in 1967. The route between point B and point D
did not exist at that time so it appears that the full
length of the application route still did not exist as a
through-route which could be used by any type of
traffic (either public or private) at that time.

The route between point D and point K existed
providing access to a number of properties and
appeared to be capable of being used on
horseback.

Aerial photograph

1960s

The black and white aerial photograph taken in the
1960s and available to view on GIS.

Page 94




. o

Observations

The aerial photograph clearly shows the primary
vehicular access to Noyna Hall as being via the
application route between point A and point B and
then continuing south direct to the Hall. The
photograph shows no evidence of a worn track
between point B and point D. The application route
between point D and point K can be seen on the
photograph consistent with how it is shown on OS

mapping.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route was not accessible as a
through-route from point A to point K via points B-D
in the 1960s when this photograph was taken. The
route between point A and point B and point D and
point K appeared capable of being used on
horseback but with no apparent through-route
except via Noyna Hall there is no evidence whether
such use would have occurred at this time.

1inch OS Map

1962

1 inch OS seventh series Sheet 95 published 1962
available to view on the National Library of Scotland
website https://maps.nls.uk/view/91576411

The map was fully revised in 1956 and published in
1962.

Page 95



https://maps.nls.uk/view/91576411

L LT R R

_ )724%
o | e\ LawHi

- 4
Observations

The application route is shown between point A and
point B as part of the access to Noyna Hall. The
route between point B and point D is not shown.
Between point D and point K the application route is
again shown as a significant bounded route
providing access to a number of properties. The
route shown on the earlier OS 1 inch map believed
to date from the 1950s and extending south west
from the application route to Castle Road is no
longer shown connecting to the application route.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route between point A and point B
existed as part of an access route direct to Noyna
Hall in 1956. The route between point B and point D
did not exist at that time so it appears that the full
length of the application route still did not exist
which could be used by any type of traffic (either
public or private) at that time.

The route between point D and point K existed
providing access to a number of properties and
appeared to be capable of being used on
horseback.

1:10,000 OS Sheet 94SW

1960-1977

Map extract submitted — and dated - by the

applicant.

Page 96




COLNE Nel E

ATITRAR L

HLALE L

IS

e
]

N A

CUTHEROE CO CONST

& 0 b _ _____ ;
b“ | \ - . :
o N o ! " Piddiad
Observations The map extract provides no further information
about the application route during the timescale
given (1960-1977).
Investigating Officer's No further inferences can be drawn.
Comments

OS 1:10,000 Pathfinder | 1983
Series SD 84/94
Barnoldswick/Earby

OS Pathfinder 670 (SD 84/94) Barnoldswick &
Earby 1:25,000 surveyed 1960-1977, revised for
selected changes 1983, crown copyright 1983

Page 97




Observations

This OS Map, produced as part of the OS
Pathfinder Series, was published predominantly
with the leisure industry — particularly walking — in
mind. The map was surveyed between 1960 and
1977 and revised for selected changes in 1983. The
map again shows the application route in existence
between points A-B and points D-K but does not
show the route between points B-D.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point B
existed as part of an access route direct to Noyna
Hall from the 1960s. The route between point B and
point D did not exist at that time — and may not have
done until the 1980s - so it appears that the full
length of the application route still did not exist.

The route between point D and point K existed
providing access to a number of properties and
appeared to be capable of being used on
horseback.

Aerial Photograph

2014

Aerial photograph available to view on GIS.

Page 98




Observations

The aerial photograph shows the full length of the
application route — including the route between
point B and point D. It is not possible to see from
the photograph what gates existed across the route,
whether they were locked or passable.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The full length of the application route existed in
2014 and may have been capable of being used on
horseback.

Pendle Street Atlas

undated

Submitted by applicant and dated by them as
possibly being published in the 1950-1960s. The
applicant interpreted what was shown as identifying
the application route as a road from Moss Top to
Causeway Top.

Page 99




7

[l

A L Tl

o ¢

.JL

.y
. ,'.
-

uh\}"rﬂv\w "r.ll.ﬂ...'on ‘a!.{)’..a)‘ uulg"v.

Page 100



’ r
| I

Observations

P, * s 4

No key panel was provided with the map. The
application route from point A to point B can be
seen as a double dashed line which extends from
Noyna Road from point A to point B and then south
to provide direct access to the west of Noyna Hall.
The application route from point B at point D is not
shown.

From point D to Causeway Top (between point F
and point G) the application route is then shown as
a track depicted by double pecked lines which forms
part of a longer access route to Noyna Hall. From
Causeway Top east to point K the application route
is shown bounded by solid lines and depicted in the
same way as Noyna Road and Moss Houses Road.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The application route between point A and point B
and between point D and point K existed at the time
the atlas was published. From Causeway Top to
point K the route appeared to be depicted as a
significant route — possibly indicating that it was a
wide track bounded on both sides and capable of

Page 101




being used by horses and vehicles. Without further
information about the publication little inference can
be drawn.

Definitive Map Records

The National Parks and Access to the Countryside
Act 1949 required the county council to prepare a
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of
Way.

Records were searched in the Lancashire Records
Office to find any correspondence concerning the
preparation of the Definitive Map in the early 1950s.

Parish Survey Map

1950-1952

The initial survey of public rights of way was carried
out by the parish council in those areas formerly
comprising a rural district council area and by an
urban district or municipal borough council in their
respective areas. Following completion of the
survey the maps and schedules were submitted to
the county council. In the case of municipal
boroughs and urban districts the map and schedule
produced, was used, without alteration, as the Draft
Map and Statement. In the case of parish council
survey maps, the information contained therein was
reproduced by the county council on maps covering
the whole of a rural district council area. Survey
cards, often containing considerable detail exist for
most parishes but not for unparished areas.

Page 102




SEE SHEET. .

n

'L RARAE IT °F §

’”
DISTRICT A PARISH ¥ Y No.gf
MAP SHEET No. LENGTH ©. 472, miles

(to two decimal places)
BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Field F.P. or otherwise)

DETAILED DESCRIPTION (giving starting point, means of passage and general condition).

%ufmf hlmllm;vwnkw tail aat, Pl
ad L .

SURVEYED BY :— Name ﬁ/m(z( ?Wwwd .
Address (. J Lo, /Q( 7.%&407
Date 2 576/‘}'0

50000/ F39/4/50

Observations The application route between point A and point D
was not recorded as a public right of way in the
Parish survey. The application route between point
D and point K was recorded as a public footpath

Page 103



and numbered as part of Foulridge 36 which was
described on the Parish Survey card as being from
Noyna Hall Farm to Moss House Farm to boundary
and is described as a cart road and footpath in bad
condition.

Draft Map

The Parish Survey map and cards for Foulridge
were handed to Lancashire County Council who
then considered the information and prepared the
Draft Map and Statement.

The Draft Maps were given a “relevant date” (15t
January 1953) and notice was published that the
Draft Map for Lancashire had been prepared. The
Draft Map was placed on deposit for a minimum
period of 4 months on 1St January 1955 for the
public, including landowners, to inspect them and
report any omissions or other mistakes. Hearings
were held into these objections, and
recommendations made to accept or reject them on
the evidence presented.

Page 104




Farm to junctiond IOOLDAEATD 30 e
Junetion footpaths 33 and 34 at Noyna Hall

286 L1]
Farm to junetion Unclassified County Road
4/115 at Moss Houses, 0,37
an T Tommtdon fantnatha 31 and 32 at White House
Observations The application route from point A to point D is not

shown on the Draft Map. The rest of the application
route is shown coloured purple which denotes a
route recorded on the map as a footpath. It is
numbered as part of Foulridge 36 close to point D
and whereas the route was shown to continue along
Moss Houses Road to the parish boundary on the
Parish Survey map it is shown to end at point K on
the Draft Map.

The Draft Statement describes the route as
commencing at the junction of Foulridge 33 and 34
at Noyna Hall to the junction with Unclassified
County Road 4/115 at Moss House.

No representations or objections were made to how
the route was shown or the fact that part of Moss
Houses Road from point K to the parish boundary
was no longer shown as part of Foulridge 36.

Provisional Map

Once all representations relating to the publication
of the draft map were resolved, the amended Draft
Map became the Provisional Map which was
published in 1960, and was available for 28 days for
inspection. At this stage, only landowners, lessees
and tenants could apply for amendments to the
map, but the public could not. Objections by this
stage had to be made to the Crown Court.

Page 105




00717 Noyna

FA===ad o | | Bottom

e

ooooo

.
*e

.~ y

-----

Observations The application route between point A and point D
is not shown. The route between point D and point
K is shown unaltered from the earlier Draft Map and
recorded as Foulridge 36.

No representations or objections were made to how
the route was shown.

The First Definitive Map The Provisional Map, as amended, was published
and Statement as the Definitive Map in 1962.

Page 106




Observations

The application route between point A and point D
was not recorded on the First Definitive Map. The
route between point D and point K was recorded as
part of Footpath Foulridge 36 and the Definitive
Statement remained unchanged from the Draft
Statement.

Revised Definitive Map of
Public Rights of Way
(First Review)

Legislation required that the Definitive Map be
reviewed, and legal changes such as diversion
orders, extinguishment orders and creation orders
be incorporated into a Definitive Map First Review.
On 25" April 1975 (except in small areas of the
County) the Revised Definitive Map of Public Rights
of Way (First Review) was published with a relevant
date of 15t September 1966. No further reviews of
the Definitive Map have been carried out. However,
since the coming into operation of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, the Definitive Map has been
subject to a continuous review process.

Page 107




HAWLOOITIE L8900 A0E LU Wi b AW LU ol W

West of Higher Clough. 083
35A " Junction footpaths 25 and 28 at Broach Flat
Farm to junction footpath 35.. 0,08
36 " Junction footpaths 33 and 34 at Noyna Hall
Farm to junction Unclassified County Road
4/115 at Mogs Houses, 0,37
37 " Junction footpaths 31 and 32 at White House
to junction footpath 36. 0.11
- W i F e B ndala B b TR #a Haoaa TPaem ba
NDeOL T LedBihd il L ELaay [ —— _m"z placaa
decimals
3BA Footpath Junotion 1mtpa1ih£t 38 and 38 at Moss Houses
Farm to Colne M,B,Boundary, junction with
footpath 388, ) 012'?
388 " Junetion footpath 38A to Colne M,B.Boundary. 0.10
- - - a P e Emm e A PAPRA ol e mam Tassmmes
Observations

The application route between point A and point D
is not shown on the Revised Definitive Map. The
application route between point D and point F is
shown recorded as a public footpath as it is on the

Page 108




Draft, Provisional and First Definitive Map.

From 1953 through to 1962 there was no indication
that the application route was considered to be
anything other than a public footpath between point
D and point K by the Surveying Authority.

There were no objections to the fact that the route
was recorded as such on the First Definitive Map
when the map was placed on deposit for inspection
or at any stage of the preparation of the Definitive
Map.

The application route between point A and point D
was not recorded as a public right of way and from
1953 through to 1962 there was no indication that it
was considered to be a public right of way by the
Surveying Authority.

There were no objections to the fact that the route
was not recorded on the First Definitive Map when
the map was placed on deposit for inspection or at
any stage of the preparation of the Definitive Map.

The Definitive Statements for the route of Footpath
Foulridge 36 and other footpaths connecting to it
remained the same throughout the process and
despite the numbering shown on the Revised
Definitive Map (38a between points J and K), the
application route between point D and point K is
considered to be part of Footpath Foulridge 36.

It is not known why there is a discrepancy between
the points on Moss Houses Road at which the
footpath terminates.

Investigating Officer's
Comments
Highway Adoption

Records including maps
derived from the '1929
Handover Maps'

1929
present day

to

In 1929 the responsibility for district highways
passed from district and borough councils to the
county council. For the purposes of the transfer,
public highway 'handover’ maps were drawn up to
identify all of the public highways within the county.
These were based on existing Ordnance Survey
maps and edited to mark those routes that were
public. However, they suffered from several flaws —
most particularly, if a right of way was not surfaced
it was often not recorded.

A right of way marked on the map is good evidence
but many public highways that existed both before
and after the handover are not marked. In addition,
the handover maps did not have the benefit of any
sort of public consultation or scrutiny which may
have picked up mistakes or omissions.

The county council is now required to maintain,

Page 109




under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, an up
to date List of Streets showing which 'streets' are
maintained at the public's expense. Whether a road
is maintainable at public expense or not does not
determine whether it is a highway or not.

Road Transfer Map

Lancashire County Council highway records

Page 110




Observations

1929
present day

to

The application route is not recorded as a publicly
maintainable highway on the county council's List of
Streets and was not shown as a publicly
maintainable highway in records believed to be
derived from the 1929 Handover Map.

Investigating Officer's

Comments

No inference can be drawn regarding bridleway
rights.

Highway Stopping
Orders

Up

1835 - 2014

Details of diversion and stopping up orders made by
the Justices of the Peace and later by the
Magistrates Court are held at the County Records
Office from 1835 through to the 1960s. Further
records held at the County Records Office contain
highway orders made by Districts and the county
council since that date.

Observations

A search of the county council records, records held
at the County Records office and the London
Gazette was made and no record of any legal
orders relating to the public status of the route were
found.

Investigating Officer's

Comments

If any unrecorded public rights exist along the route
they do not appear to have been stopped up or
diverted.

Statutory deposit and
declaration made under
section 31(6) Highways
Act 1980

The owner of land may at any time deposit with the
county council a map and statement indicating what
(if any) ways over the land he admits to having been
dedicated as highways. A statutory declaration may
then be made by that landowner or by his
successors in title within ten years from the date of
the deposit (or within ten years from the date on
which any previous declaration was last lodged)
affording protection to a landowner against a claim
being made for a public right of way on the basis of
future use (always provided that there is no other
evidence of an intention to dedicate a public right of
way).

Depositing a map, statement and declaration does
not take away any rights which have already been
established through past use. However, depositing
the documents will immediately fix a point at which
any unacknowledged rights are brought into
question. The onus will then be on anyone claiming
that a right of way exists to demonstrate that it has
already been established. Under deemed statutory
dedication the 20 year period would thus be
counted back from the date of the declaration (or

Page 111




from any earlier act that effectively brought the
status of the route into question).

Observations There are no Highways Act 1980 Section 31(6)
deposits lodged with the county council for the area
over which the application route runs.

Investigating Officer's There is no indication by any of the landowners of

Comments land crossed by the application route under this

provision of non-intention to dedicate public rights of
way over this land.

Photographs of the route
submitted by the applicant

Undated

Photocopies of 38 numbered photograph were
submitted by the applicant.

Observations

The photographs are numbered with a description
of where they were taken but are not dated.
Additional information about the photographs is
provided in the application bundle — mainly historical
— drawing attention to certain features along the
route:

e The gateway at Causeway Top Farm (point
I) where they draw attention to an 'ancient
stone stoop' (gatepost) — photographs 12
and 13

e Causeway Top Farm — where attention is
drawn to the name of the farm and the fact
that a causeway indicates a road of some
importance, explaining that they consider
that the name causeway has survived to
commemorate trade and communication
links over several hundreds of years. They
also draw attention to evidence of cobbles
on photographs 1 and 2 although neither of
these photographs were taken on the
application route.

e Photographs 17 and 18 showing an ancient
stone stoop (gatepost) and stile at Parsons
House and drawing attention to the fact that
the gate was padlocked in 2015.

e Photo 27 — the applicant draws attention to a
gate leading to an ancient road adjacent to
point D on the Committee plan — which has
not been included as part of the application
(and is not a recorded public right of way).

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The photographs appear to have been taken
relatively recently although pre-date the inspection
made by the Investigating Officer. They show the
route as it exists in modern times but after the
locking of the gate at Parsons House (at point G)

Page 112




and whilst they help to confirm the exact route
applied for and what its modern day appearance is
— and whether it appears capable of being used on
horseback — very little inference can be drawn from
them regarding the existence of public rights.

Map evidence confirms the existence of a number
of historical gates along the route between point D
and point K and physical evidence of stone
gateposts is considered to be evidence that those
gates existed as recorded by the OS but not
evidence of whether the route was public or private
or whether it was considered to be a footpath or
bridleway.

The naming of one of the properties along the route
as 'Causeway Top' on its own is not compelling
evidence of historical public rights. The route itself is
not named on any of the maps available and the
historical meanings of causeway do not necessarily
imply public rights. The applicant refers to paving —
explaining that a causeway was a paved way (one
of the historical meanings) — but the sections of
paving shown on the photographs submitted are
located on the public vehicular route of Moss
Houses Road and not on the application route itself.

The History of Colne and
The Story of Foulridge
both by Fay Oldland

Published
1990, Revised
in 2010

Local history book written by a local historian; Fay
Oldland.

CRO Ref:EO2 Foulridge

First Edition published 1990 ISBN 0948743042
Second Edition published 2010 ISBN 978-0-95
65366-0-0

Information obtained from a local history book was
referenced by the applicant to provide additional
historical information about the area and the
properties located along the route.

Observations

The applicant draws attention to the author's
definition of a causeway as being 'a paved way
indicating a road formerly of some importance.’

The book also provides some historical information
about the origins of Moss Houses which were said
to date back to the 1600s and owned for almost four
centuries by the Bolton family although it is also
noted that the 1851 census listed 9 separate
properties at Moss Houses and that it was difficult to
determine which were owned and which were
tenanted.

The applicant also included a section of the book
referring to transport and communications which

Page 113




makes reference to key routes through the parish
and the existence of routes and the origins of their
names. No specific mention is made of the Order
route.

Further information is provided about landholding
families and trade and the fact that the textile
industry was a significant factor in the development
of Foulridge and construction of many of the houses
including Noyna Hall which was owned by the
Barcroft family and had its own weaving 'shed’ until
the early 1900s. It is submitted that the route
between Noyna Hall, Moss Houses and Moss
House Road would have been needed — and was
used — for access transporting goods to and from
the properties.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The book extracts provide some useful background
information about the local history of the area but do
not provide any information about the public status
of the application route.

The affected land is not designated as access land under the Countryside and
Rights of Way Act 2000 and is not registered common land.

Landownership
The land crossed by the route from point A to a point approximately 15 metres north
of point C is registered under title numbers LA837950 and LA837948 to one of the

individuals who submitted a user evidence form.

The land crossed by the route from a point approximately 15 metres north of point C
through C-D-E-F-G is unregistered and ownership is unknown.

The land crossed by the route between point G and H to a point approximately 20
metres east of point H is registered under title LA828845 (Causeway Top Farm).

The land from a point approximately 20 metres east of point H to | is registered
under title LAN221938 (Causeway Top Farmhouse).

The remainder of the order route (from points I-J-K) crosses land that is unregistered
and ownership is unknown.

Summary
The applicant explained that the first part of route applied for (between point A-point
D) had only been in existence since it was constructed in 1967 and that user

evidence had been submitted in particular reference to this section.

The available map and documentary evidence confirms that the route between point
A and point B existed by 1940 as part of an access road constructed from Noyna

Page 114



Road to Noyna Hall. The route between point B and point D appears to have been
constructed at a later date and was not shown on any map revised before 1967 or
the 1960s aerial photograph. It is however clearly shown on the 2014 aerial
photograph and is referred to as existing before that time by users of the route and
by landowners and those objecting to the application.

With regards to the route between point D and point K there is map and
documentary evidence of its existence dating back to at least the start of the 1800s.

It is shown on a number of early commercially produced small scale maps (Honor of
Clitheroe 1804-1810, Greenwoods Map 1818, Chapelry of Colne Map 1818 and
John Carey's Map 1825) and is shown in detail on the Tithe Map produced in 1842.

It appears from these early maps that the application route (D-G) provided access to
a number of properties either directly or indirectly and that originally it may have
continued north to Noyna Road (on a different route to that applied for) and also
south to Castle Road but that by the 1840s both of these routes had fallen into
disrepair.

The OS maps from the 1840s onwards consistently show that the application route
between point D and point K existed as a substantial gated route which appeared to
be capable of being used on horseback but that predominantly provided access to a
number of properties and which, from the mid-1800s at least, did not appear to
provide a consistent through-route suitable for horses.

The historical map and documentary evidence does not support the application route
being public bridleway.

Head of Service — Legal and Democratic Services Observations

Information from the Applicant

The applicant submitted an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order on 9t
June 2019. Along with this, the applicant provided the following information in
support of the application:

User evidence from 11 individuals (9 in the form of User Evidence Forms and 2
in the form of written letters)

User1

Claims to have used the route on a horse monthly for 42 years (1975-2017),
although has only been able to use part of the route (presumably point A-G) since
June 2015 when the gate at Parsons House was locked and blocked passage.

User 2

Was born in 1980, raised on the farm that User 1 lives at and shares same surname
as User 1. Claims to have used the route weekly to monthly since the 1980s to 2017
but refers to the gate at Parsons House being padlocked from 2015 preventing him
from using the route by vehicle or horse.

Page 115



User 3

Lives at same address as User 1 and shares same surname. Claims to have used
the route on a horse over the same time period as User 1 (42 years from 1975 to
2017) but on a daily/weekly basis. Also reports blockage of the route by the
padlocked gate at Parsons House from June 2015.

User 4

Claims to have used the route on a horse monthly for 20 years (1987-2007) but uses
the route on foot to present day. Claims there were no obstructions during period of
use on a horse but from June 2015 the gate at Parsons House was padlocked which
prevented her passing through with a pram.

User 5

Lives at same address as User 4 and shares same surname. Claims to have used
the route on a horse over the same time period as User 4 (20 years from 1987 to
2007) but on a weekly basis. Also uses the route on foot to the present day and
describes locked gate at Parsons House from June 2015.

User 6
Describes riding a horse along the route twice in 2017 with the applicant (User 7).

User 7

This is the applicant. Claims to have used the route on a horse weekly to monthly for
28 years (1989-2017), although only a few times since June/July 2015 when gate at
Parsons House was padlocked.

User 8
Claims to have used the route on a horse weekly for two years (2013-15) and was
prevented from using the route from 2015 due to the padlocked gate at Parsons
House.

User 9

Frequency of use of route and time period is same as for User 8 (weekly for two
years from 2013 to 2015). Also refers to padlocked gate at Parsons House since the
summer of 2015.

User 10

Shares same surname as User 9. Claims to have used the route monthly on a horse
for a total of four years split between 1985-87 and 2002-04. She is aware of the gate
at Parsons House being padlocked since the summer of 2015.

User 11

Shares same surname as Users 9 and 10. Claims to have used the route on a horse
weekly for two years (2013-2015). Describes not being able to use the route after
June 2015 due to the padlocked gate and vehicles/horse wagons blocking the route
at Parsons House.

The nine users who completed user evidence forms claim to have used the route for

pleasure. They state that the route had always followed the same course. All 9
people make reference to either using the route with others or witnessing others

Page 116



using the route. This includes using the route of foot, horseback, bicycle and by
motorised vehicle.

Nobody reported having ever been given permission to use the route.

Map extracts:

1. Enlarged 1:25000 OS Explorer Map OL21, South Pennines showing
application route highlighted

2. Google Earth Map — undated aerial photograph

Yate's Map of Lancashire 1786

Reprint of 15t edition 1 inch OS map — Sheet 16, Skipton & Bradford 1805-

1873

Smiths Map 1808

Chapelry of Colne Map 1818

Greenwoods Map 1818

John Carey's Map 1825

. Hennet's Map 1830

10.Honor of Clitheroe Map 1830

11.Tithe Map of Foulridge 1840s

12.David Charles OS reprint 15t edition 1840s

13.0S 6 inch Map Sheet 49 published 1848

14.0S 1 inch Map 1873

15.1870/1880 — OS 1linch map

16.1891/1892 — OS 1 inch map

17.0S 25 inch OS Map published 1892

18.The Godfrey Edition, OS Sheet 68 — Pendle 1896

19. Cassini Historical Map, Blackburn & Burnley 1904

20.0S 1 inch Map 1914

21.0S 1 inch Map 1924

22.Bartholomew's half inch map 1920-1930

23.Borough of Colne, Town Planning/development map 1930

24.1950s OS map available to view on MARIO

25.0S Sheet 94SW, 1:10 000 1960-1977

26.0S 1:25 000 Pathfinder Series SD 84/94

27.Early edition of Borough of Pendle Street Atlas undated

how

©oNOoO

Note: Maps submitted with the application were considered and comments included
in the Map and Documentary section of the report above.

Conveyance:

Copy of a conveyance and plan dated 1959 regarding land at White House Farm,
Foulridge.

38 undated photographs and accompanying information:

Considered and comments included in the Map and Documentary section of the
report above.

Page 117



Additional Information

The applicants explain that the first part of the application route between points A-B-
C-D is a relatively new route constructed in 1967 and that this part of the application
is based on modern user evidence illustrating that the route has been used daily as
of right by walkers, horses, horse and cart, tractors, vehicles, cars and cyclists.

They state that prior to 1967 access to Causeway Top Farm, Parsons House,
Ragstones and Noyna Hall was from Cockhill Lane via Moss Houses Road and that
the owners of Ragstones and Noyna Hall had their original access blocked by the
owners of Parsons House in 2015 due to a padlocked gate.

Additional information from others

n.b. this is not everything that objectors and supporters have said. Anything
irrelevant in the context of the leqgislation or already considered in the assessment of
the evidence is not included in this section. Information provided by several people is
not replicated after the first occurrence.

Novyna Hall Barn

The Owners of Noyna Hall Barn have stated that they strongly object to the proposal
on the basis of a number of reasons.

They state that the route shown between points A-D on the Committee plan cannot
be 'upgraded' because it is not an existing footpath. They refer to the wording of the
Notice of Application for the Modification Order which refers specifically to an
application to 'upgrade' the route whereas they argue that this particular section is
not an existing footpath and that the order would 'create’ a new right of way. They
draw particular attention to the consultation plan sent to them by the county council
which does not show the application route between points A-D as a public right of
way. They state that this is how the route is also shown on the county council ‘Mario'
map, the Ordnance Survey First Edition 1:2500 map and the Revised Definitive Map
of Public Rights of Way.

This is correct but the investigation and report triggered by the application is
not constrained by it. If the application route were found to be bridleway it
would be an addition to the map A-D and upgrade D-K.

As owners of Noyna Hall Barn they explain that they have a right of way along the
application route between points D and K as defined in their Deeds and that they
understand that only Noyna Hall Barn, Noyna Hall Farm, Ragstones & Parsons
House are entitled to this right of way and that the properties beyond Parsons House
i.e. Causeway Top Farm & Barn, Moss Houses etc. are not permitted to use the
route between points D and G. They also explain that they are responsible for the
maintenance & upkeep of the track along with other residents sharing the right of
way.

Private rights do not imply or preclude public rights at the same or different

class.

Page 118



They also question whether any future maintenance of the track would fall to the
county council if the track was upgraded.

The track D-K is currently publicly maintainable to footpath standard and
privately maintainable for other private use. If it was found to have public
bridleway rights the public maintenance liability would depend on the
evidence — if bridleway rights were found to have existed from before 1949 it
would become publicly maintainable to bridleway standard, if bridleway rights
were found to have arisen as a result of use since 1949 neither the public or
private maintenance liability would be changed.

They state that as owners of Noyna Hall Barn they have permitted the occasional
use of the track by walkers, etc. in the spirit of good will but that they could have
enforced (and may do so in the future as a result of this application) strict use of
Footpath Foulridge 34 and not the application route (points A-D) in the future.

They are entitled to do this. Whether such permitted use amounts to
permission or dedication is a matter of the particular circumstances.

They also challenge the details of the amount of usage submitted as part of the
application. They state that they have had groups of walkers (Ramblers Association
etc.) coming past their house preferring to follow the Definitive Footpaths as shown
on their OS Maps rather than using the track. They also consider that the user
evidence detailing use on horseback is incorrect and note that the statements have
not been made under oath. They state that they have had very little in the way of
equine traffic in the 22 years they have lived there despite being at home and
spending considerable time outside in the last 5 years since retiring.

Use of the footpaths not subject to the application is not evidence against use
of other routes. Not seeing users is different to knowing there was no such
use.

They also state that they have seen very little vehicular traffic which comprised
primarily of residents accessing their properties and post deliveries.

Use by residents, visitors, tradespeople, etc. is private use and cannot be
used to support the existence of public rights. Use by vehicles is not evidence
of bridleway rights. Only use by the public with horses or pedal cycles would
provide user evidence of public bridleway rights.

With regards to comments in the application about the blocking of access via
Parsons House/Moss Houses they comment that the then owners of Parsons House
had issues of unauthorised usage of the track (trespass) and padlocked the gate to
prevent unauthorised use. This action was said to have been discussed with
themselves and others having rights of way and keys to the padlock issued to those
with private rights of access.

The track is not within the ownership of Parsons House and therefore the

obstruction of the way, which was illegal even if the status is only footpath,
would not be a challenge to bridleway use by the landowner except that it is

Page 119



said to have been done in consultation with the landowner (at Causeway Top
Farm) and also it does interrupt use at that time.

They are concerned about possible future use and development of a bridleway and
whether vehicles could use it and how use of the route would be "policed'.

Vehicles are not permitted to use a bridleway unless the drivers have private
vehicular rights. Management of such matters would depend on the particular
problems and circumstances but do not inform the determination of whether
bridleway rights do or do not exist.

Ragstone House

The owners of Ragstone House also responded to the consultations and stated that
they strongly object to the application.

They state that A-D has no historical links to being a bridleway and is a recent farm
track post property renovations in the 1970's shown by the fact it is bordered by
stock fencing with no historical evidence such as dry stone walls or stone gate
posts.

This is consistent with the map evidence above.

Practically, they state that they consider that it is unsafe for a bridleway to be created
along this route as there are no passing places and due to many vehicles using this
farm track towing trailers, the track would seem very unsuitable for use as a
bridleway.

Creation of new bridleway rights is not being considered (this would be a
relevant consideration if they were), only whether bridleway rights already
exist.

Moss House Farm

The application route off Moss Houses Road used to serve three small dwellings but
since a number of barns have been renovated and Causeway Top Farm
redeveloped, this same track has to serve six dwellings resulting in an increase in
vehicular use and the track now in a very poor state of repair.

In itself the condition is not relevant but it could be if it was impassable for
users giving evidence of actual use. This is not thought to be the case here.

Little Moss House Farm

In the almost 15 years of living here horses have never used the track despite what
other people may have stated. They refer to the late Tom Pratt, who owned
Causeway Top Farm who, they state, for most of his life and his family before him,
would never allow horses to pass through his farmyard where he often had cattle
roaming.

Page 120



It is unrealistic to know that a track which was physically capable of being
used was not actually used. Evidence can be given that some people were
turned away, which is relevant.

They also raised other points covered elsewhere.

Broach Flat Farm

The residents of Broach Flat Farm (situated south west of the application route)
commented that they had been at the farm since 1967 and since that time they had
also worked as contractors for other farms in the area including the previous owners
of Causeway Top Farm. They explain that they had always been told by the owners
of Causeway Top Farm to use the main road and not the track (the application route)
and that they never opened the gate at Parsons for anyone. They explained that
whenever they worked there they were never allowed through and considered that
knowing the previous owners of Causeway Top Farm well — especially in their later
years — it was 'inconceivable' that any of them would have let anyone through and
that they were well known for their 'ferocity'.

Challenges to use by the landowners (unlike at Parsons House, the track at
Causeway Top Farm is registered within the ownership) is evidence that use
was not 'as of right' and there was no acquiescence in dedication.

Moss House Farm

Raises points already covered and also that since the land was divided up each new
owner was given a right of way and that this would not have been necessary at all if
it were already a public bridleway.

Private vehicular rights would have been necessary in order to drive on the
track regardless of whether it was public footpath or bridleway; firstly because
bridleway rights do not include use with vehicles and secondly because the
private access needs to be ensured in case the public rights are diverted or
stopped up in the future.

Following challenges to private access at Causeway Top the owner of Noyna Hall
told Moss House Farm in future to use his track if he needed to get to his animals in
a hurry and that the track from Noyna Hall to Noyna Road (the application route A-B-
C-D) was partly built because of the hostility of the residents at Causeway Top to
private or public use of the track by horses including standing in front of horses
shouting and waving their arms.

Little Moss House

In addition to points already covered, Parsons House, Ragstones and other houses
west of Causeway Top Farm now use the 'new' track to Noyna Road for
convenience and they assume that is why it was installed many years ago.

The reason the track was built does not affect whether it has been
subsequently used by the public if the evidence shows actual use.

They cannot see why riders with their horses would wish to use the application route
because it is narrow and uneven and leads nowhere except to the houses and

Page 121



considers that those wishing to travel through the ford can more easily use Noyna
Road/Moss Houses Road which is tarmacked with good visibility.

The perceived reasons for using or not using the application route are
indirectly relevant in giving credibility or otherwise to user evidence. In this
case Noyna Road/Moss Houses Road are also narrow and with faster traffic
and tarmac is not a good surface for horses so there are reasons why users
might wish to use the application route but that does not mean that there are
bridleway rights or that there was actual use by horses.

Parsons House (former residents from 2005-2019)

Raises points previously considered and in addition;

They agreed in 2015 with the owner of Causeway Top Farm to lock the gate across
the route at point G to ensure that the footpath remained a footpath and to maintain
security.

The gate at point G appears to be within the registered title of Causeway
Top Farm so these actions are indicative of the owner of part of the route
preventing/discouraging equestrian use of the route.

Between 2014-2016 a riding for the disabled group was run from Parsons House
and on a Saturday there would regularly be 10 disabled riders and helpers who
would, on occasion ride along the main access track from Parsons House to Noyna
Road (G-A) but never along the application route between points G -K and as a keen
horse rider herself she explained that anyone living locally knew that Causeway Top
Farm would not allow horses along the route.

The fact that some people did not use the application route is not in itself
evidence that others did not. The use of A-G by the group does not provide
evidence for public bridleway as it was in exercise of private rights. The
reputation of Causeway Top is relevant in highlighting the need to question
the user evidence but does not negate it per se.

There are already sufficient bridleways in the area but that some require attention to
make them safe to ride and that west of Noyna Hall Barn and Farm the existing
footpath is not suitable to be made into a bridleway.

This investigation and report is not about making a bridleway but whether
bridleway rights already exist. Suitability and whether or not there are other
bridleways available are not directly relevant.

They owned over five vehicles plus trailers and horseboxes and from 2005 a number
of these vehicles were always parked in front of the gate at point G so it would have
been impossible for people to take vehicles, as claimed, along the route.

Page 122



Parsons House (current residents)

In addition to points previously raised, the track is effectively a dead end with no
access to Causeway Top Farm and Barn so from a security point of view the
property will be more vulnerable to opportunist thieves if the route is opened up.

Although an understandable concern security relates to management of the
route not whether bridleway rights exist. It is unlikely that many thieves would
chose horse or pedal cycle as transport for burglary in a rural location.

The footpath is used daily by dog walkers and situations may occur when horses
encounter loose dogs or private vehicles using the route and questions who would
be responsible should an accident occur or property were to be damaged.
Different public and private users coexist on highways of all descriptions and if
bridleway rights are shown to exist on the application route this would be no
different. Responsibility would rest with whoever caused an accident or
damage.

Moss House
Points previously covered.

Noyna End Farm/Barn

In addition to previous points they refer to inaccuracies in the supporting
documentation and comment that over the course of the last 20 years they have met
many walkers and a cyclist on one occasion (very recently) but do not believe it
would have been possible to access the route other than over the stiles.

The application route can be accessed without stiles, except when the track
by Parsons House was unlawfully obstructed.

Causeway Top Farm

Objected to the application but no further comments or grounds for objecting were
given.

Volunteer at the Riding for the Disabled Group at Parsons House 2015-16

Points already covered above.

Cockhill Farm

Points already covered above.

Bent Laithe Farm

Points already covered above.

Page 123



Novyna Hall Farm

Previously they owned horses at the property but were refused access along the
track D-K by the late Tom Pratt at Causeway Top who was adamant that it was not a
bridleway.

Parsons House (former resident from 1998 to 2005)

Track outside Parsons House terminated at the house and access through the gate
was to a farmyard which was not used by anyone other than walkers who accessed
the farmyard via a stile. She never witnessed anyone come through the farmyard by
vehicle or on horse via Causeway Top Farm.

Moss Houses Farm

Points already covered above.
B.Wade

Walks along this footpath regularly. Believes that making this footpath a bridleway
would make it extremely dangerous for the regular walkers, proposed horses and
riders.

Assessment of the Evidence
The Law - See Annex 'A’
In Support of Making an Order(s):

e Some user evidence on horseback.

e The route from point A-B available from at least 1940 and appears capable of
being used on horseback; and landowner of this section supports the
application.

e The route from point D-E-F-G-H-I-J-K available from 1830 and appears
capable of being used on horseback but this section of route is a recorded
footpath.

Against Making an Order(s):

e The route from point D-E-F-G-H-I-J-K appears historically to have been a
dead end route (providing access to a number of properties e.g. Noyna Hall)
and/or a through route to Castle Road via a route south of point D rather than
west of point D to C-B-A.

e The route from point B-C-D only available in more recent years and exact
date unknown.

e Several users giving evidence appear to be related so user evidence not from
broad section of public.

e Actions of adjacent landowner, possibly with landowner's agreement, to
prevent/discourage equestrian use of route (e.g. obstructions).

Page 124



e Extent of evidence challenging claimed equestrian use of route.

Conclusion

As regards section A-B-C-D (the unrecorded section), Committee must consider
whether, on the balance of probability, the evidence discovered, when considered
with all other relevant evidence available, is sufficient to show that a public bridleway
which is not shown in the Definitive Map and Statement subsists (the higher test for
confirming an order) or is reasonably alleged to subsist (the lower test for making an
order).

In relation to section D-E-F-G-H-I-J-K (currently recorded as footpath), Committee
must consider whether, on the balance of probability, the evidence discovered, when
considered with all other relevant evidence available, shows that the existing public
footpath ought to be shown as a public bridleway and that the Definitive Map and
Statement requires modification to reflect this.

As there appears to be insufficient documentary evidence of historical bridleway
rights along the route, the determination of the upgrade/addition of bridleway
depends on the evidence of public use of the route and whether this indicates that a
public bridleway can be presumed to have been dedicated in accordance with
section 31 HA 1980 or dedication implied at common law.

Presumed dedication

In order to raise a presumption of dedication, use of the route needs to be by the
public ‘as of right' (without force, secrecy or permission) and without interruption over
a full 20 year period immediately prior to the route being called into question. This
presumption may be rebutted if there is sufficient evidence that there was no
intention on the part of the landowner during this period to dedicate the route as a
public bridleway.

The right of equestrians to use the route appears to have been called into question
when the landowner of Parsons House locked the gate outside his property which
crosses the route (point G). All but one users mention the locked gate and the
majority date this event as having occurred in June 2015. Moreover, one of the
objectors from a neighbouring property states that he and the owner of Parsons
House agreed in 2015 to lock the gate at point G to prevent any members of the
public other than walkers passing through. It therefore seems reasonable to
conclude that the 20 year period under consideration for the purposes of the section
31 test runs from June 1995 to June 2015.

As to whether the claimed bridleway was used by the public as of right and without
interruption for the relevant 20 year period, user evidence has been provided by
eleven individuals, all of whom indicate equestrian use. A landowner of part of the
route and two of his relatives submitted evidence of use. They all claimed to have
used the route on horseback from weekly to monthly intervals throughout the entire
statutory period. Two other families submitted evidence of horseback use through
five individuals. The first family (husband and wife) claimed to have used the route
on horseback from weekly to monthly intervals for 12 years of the 20 year statutory

Page 125



period (1995-2007). Two members of the second family used the route for two years
(2013-2015) and the third member used it for two periods of two years, the first of
which was before the 20 year period started to run (1985-87 and 2002-2004). There
were three seemingly unrelated users, one of whom is the applicant who used the
route monthly throughout the 20 year period; the other only used the route twice and
outside of the statutory period; and the other was an individual who only used the
route for two years at the end of the statutory 20 year period (2013-2015).

If Committee disregards the evidence of the individual who had not used the route
during the statutory period, essentially, Committee is presented with evidence of use
from three families plus two individuals (one of whom only used the route for two
years). Guidance from the Planning Inspectorate indicates that use of the route must
be by a sufficient number of people who together may sensibly be taken to represent
the public at large. In this case, Committee may consider that equestrian use of the
route is not representative of the public at large and therefore the evidence does not
raise a presumption of dedication of a bridleway and thus fails satisfy the statutory
test.

Furthermore, the actions of at least one of the landowners (Mr Pratt of Causeway
Top Farm) during the relevant period, as described in detail by several of the
objectors, is indicative of a lack of intention to dedicate the route as a bridleway
which a reasonable user ought to have understood. Committee is advised that this
would be sufficient to rebut any presumption of dedication of a bridleway (in the
event the presumption had been raised) and defeat the statutory test.

In conclusion, when balancing the evidence received or discovered in support of and
in opposition to the application, Committee may consider that it is reasonable to
conclude, on the balance of probabilities, that the evidence is insufficient to show (i)
that bridleway rights are reasonably alleged to subsist along the unrecorded section
of the route or (ii) that bridleway rights do subsist along the section that is currently
recorded as public footpath.

Common law inference

Where the evidence fails the statutory test, an inference of dedication under common
law must be considered. This involves Committee considering whether evidence
from the maps and other documentary evidence coupled with the evidence on site
and user evidence indicates that it can be reasonably inferred that in the past the
landowners intended to dedicate the route as a public bridleway and the public have
accepted it as such. Use of the route by the public must be 'as of right' and there is
no fixed period of use or particular date from which use must be calculated
retrospectively.

Historical documentary evidence shows that the majority of the route physically
existed by 1940. Only section B-C-D did not exist then and it is unclear when it did
come into existence. The documentary evidence shows its existence by 2014 but
evidence from both users and objectors suggests that it may have existed from
around the 1970s. In any event, the existence of the route does not tell us if it carried
bridleway rights.

Page 126



Committee may consider it is reasonable to conclude that the evidence fails to
satisfy the common law test for the same reasons as it failed the statutory test —
namely the actions of at least one landowner to prevent/discourage equestrian use
and use having been by a limited section of the public.

In conclusion, Committee is recommended to reject the application and not make an
Order to record bridleway rights.

Risk management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this claim. The Committee is advised that the decision taken must be based solely
on the evidence contained within the report, and on the guidance contained both in
the report and within Annex 'A' included in the Agenda Papers. Provided any
decision is taken strictly in accordance with the above then there is no significant
risks associated with the decision making process.

Alternative options to be considered

To decide that the evidence shows on balance that bridleway rights subsist, that the
application be accepted and that an Order be made and promoted to confirmation.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel
All documents on File Ref: Simon Moore, 01772
804-609 531280, County Secretary

and Solicitors Group

Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 127



Page 128



389900 390000 390100 390200 390300
< <
g :;m - 23%.0m_ / Noyn 60 120 Meters q
¥ - J\ka\ [ ¥
o Uy o =
Issues
o o
=} S
) ™
I ]
< <
< <
1 White House Farm
=
\\
o B o
g . g
g \ g
< o L__ <
FP,34
=) o
S S
N N
< <
< <
/
o o
1=} S
= =)
q g
< <
< <
== pp 33
Sprin ] D
o o
1=} S
2] Issues 2
3 3
« |\ 0 T eeeeaa ol <
H
Parsons House
— B B B Application Route - Addition of/upgrade to Public Bridleway
Ford El
g * = = = Pyblic Footpaths g
; [ | i 1/ | ;
< | | T 3
389900 390000 390100 390200 390300
. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 )\
L%?utnzgsh:re Andrew Mullaney Addition of / upgrade to public bridleway of route from Noyna Road 1:2500 \w%{%u
j Head of Planning and Environment | 4 Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle

Council

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may Ieaﬁc Prosecuti,fr;jﬁivil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
a g e

Plan 1/2




Page 130



390200 390300 390400 390500 390600

_‘4 0 30 60 120 Meters
. I T N N NN N N N
/
N o
S S
S \/ S
< <
< <
Sinks
Issues
[
]
o o
1=} 1=}
= =)
q g
3 3
. /
FP 39
L__|
@ Issues
o o
1=} 1=}
® >
I 3
< <
Parsons House
g 2
8 jttle Moss House Farn 0
I 3
< <
House Farm
se
=) o
<) S
~ / ~
I 3
< <
FP 38 >
iy

B B B Application Route - Addition of/upgrade to Public Bridleway |5
g i
3 [ | / = = = Public Footpaths 3
v Issues v
< < a | i a a 7 -

390200 390300 390400 390500 390600
. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 )\
L%?lﬁt?s":re Andrew Mullaney Addition of / upgrade to public bridleway of route from Noyna Road 1:2500 \w%{%u
Gounci ¢S Head of Planning and Environment to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle !

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may Ieaﬁc Prosecuti,fn,zr,i:ivil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
a g e

Plan 2/2




Page 132



443000

442000 000000

441000 000000

389000 390000 391000 "
| — ]
A Roger Moor / .
7 WL Nl
§ J OO Hand “\(dis) Quarry
ppus ” o loUgh s (dis)
House ’ - \ a She
. n ’/ g rm
7 T\ e ® '.": -t
14 =7 e < ' Kelbrook M
¥ (9% N——
- |-fee5® ,\ el ~ ! //, S A ;\\.
L Higher; Hague X f —
i - m X O £
\ o - ; They/ 9 kelbrook: Quarry
Sl = il HIll ol e e (di
e T S8 ) 79 Uaycock 2 /37 Weed dis)
> < > % | Oxénards e, T AR |
Accornlee Hall VA Rarm NN A _Efé v I
{ /Farm_—=o ‘ s ' =Earl. =X
A all S
7 5 Modkglands: Rbwel . 3
Pl £ Fam :’ Fal’fm-w g
3 == ” Throstle Nest
07 P . 5 Azt Farm
| 2 PRioymaHill ! -
\ ~~ Y S =
g ‘\-’ e/ < A : NO T d
\ . Q ’ 'E
| ™" P ” Quar'ry 1] =
7 2 E N N disic I
A HOU RING b=
\ / 1': 1'-.\ | 1242 |\0§$
. b 2 ou
= AN C X I~ > :.R
- 4{ % arm
E ulridge P /7 Carnsha NIk
4 Lower A bt Brookfiafm 17 kRTses
- - /)*Broach Broach White House| » . 8
i1 7 Fa A Farm [ '\ : g
0 = = } l‘ N o
B b J— \ - L4 o
~— \\ ‘l- - N.l lria" "" ‘ ‘/’ ' §
e\ N | ”\7;":3 Causewb[{_;y Top b
- o S - / ) \/ vy SR
oir 3 > A Moss _7/Causewa Ford A+ 220 )
) N b , Hafe T XM i
A 555- NS ch 8 F Jharm | FB i, &
f 2 Broach é 4 J 2 T
. € == Flat 4N\~ > {£Cock A x| N§
25 B Man =3 7 ¥y Hill R RS
e - \Kirk “SPManor | /) A ~ Colne 2
=0 {Bridge” \ \ I . - Golf Club
SN "'\ \ 7 Higher Y ’ L T:b 4
ok ‘: ., Foulndge \ Clough > —3 FB / F ) Quarry
) SO +. Upper . \_ A erd = \ e /\* 4 (dis)
- ko Reservoir® «. .f+ =3 Clough.. / Whitey )" \ %)
! P X i Castle < 21
Vg S 3 5 3d B‘ue 6 N
209 22z stle WO Bé;ll g
’ o
o
o
RX Heyroyd ) 3
N Hi : J
% S ram) Ball Grove
A \ e F
i\ — 4 Waldh
P :: =
A A
L)
° 2) »~
o g ONT
ey S¢h
0jjo o lofor-| 7
)

Laurencle Asr|1worth
389000.000000 390000.000000 39100'().000000
Lancashire Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 by
Gounty @ Head of Planning and Enironment Addition of/upgrade to public bridleway of a route from Noyna Road 1:15,000 Wé%ﬂ

to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle Borough

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may Ieaﬁo Prosecutjfr].ir,iivil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
age




Page 134



Ge| ebed

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Addition of/upgrade to public bridleway of a route

from Noyna Road to Cockhill Lane, Foulridge,
Pendle

Photographs taken November 2019

Lancashire
: County ‘@Q?‘bv
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %&:.3!)




Point A

9¢| ebed

Lancashire

County ‘6‘%}?-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?&?)‘{)




Between point A and point B

/€| obed

Lancashire

‘@-%r
www.lancashire.gov.uk 8832(% (‘,‘é@g

Y&




Between point A
and point B

8¢ abed

Lancashire
www.lancashire.gov.uk 80unty ‘fgz%.
: i il TP
ounci ’g‘



Between point A
and point B

6c| abed

Lancashire

| County &=
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council \&<%2
()



Point B

Oyl abed

Lancashire

LE=D).
www.lancashire.gov.uk 8832(% é:é})
lwi



Looking back towards point A from point B

L1 ebed

Lancsire
County ‘(ft":"’?'

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @&:3")
L/ 5



Point B Iooklng towards point C

""’-1 PREEY i e 1 e i' s
¥ -
L} -

AT ke A 'i"' ""*f o

u DUl \/ TAYS W AV
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @'33
()




Approaching point C

¢y abed

Lancashire
County ‘6;‘:??-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @g{)



v abed

Lancashire

County ‘6‘%@'
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %@..’);})

F&S



e
=
=
o
&

£

=
0
o
(3]
=

L

W

Page 145



9| abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point D looking
towards point E

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?.
Council @&:.3?




Between point D and
point E

/y| obed

Lancashire
- County Gz
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @y{)



Between point D and
point E

81| abed

Lancashire
County ‘6;}?.
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({'&:3‘:)



Approaching point E

611 abed

Lancashire

County ‘6"%?-
Council {gg

www.lancashire.gov.uk




Point E

05| ebed

Lancashire

County -E=M».
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {%‘.’2‘:)
()




Between point E and
point F

|G| ebed

Lancashire

LC=D),
www.lancashire.gov.uk 8832(% é?g:)
!wi




Point F

25| ebed

\r
Lancashire

' (%
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council g{‘:.?g
’ui




€G| obed

\r
Lancashire

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %‘:)
L/ 5




G| ebed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point G

Lancashire

County ‘@Q?.“_v
Council @‘ﬁg



GGl ebed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point H

Lancashire
CountY ‘@@T"bv
Council %&2.3?




Between point H and
point |

9G| abed

Lancashire
County ‘@Q:'?‘bv
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {&:.3‘:)



Approaching point |

/G| obed

Lancashire

www.lancasnire.gov.u Councn ?g?




Point |

86| abed

\r
Lancashire

- )
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {Q‘Pg
ST




Between point | and
point J

65| obed

Lancashire
County ‘6"‘::9:'?'
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {&:.33



Between point | and
point J

091 8bed

Lancashire
County ‘6;}?.
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({'&:3‘:)




Approaching point J

Page 161

4%%9

L

sh

Lanca

-

%

County
Council

e
]
=
o
g

£

=

0
o
(3]
=

L
W




Point J

291 8bed

Lancashire
County ‘6;‘?3?«
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @g{)




Between point J and point K

€9 abed

Lancashire

lancashi k County ‘6;:??'
www.lancashire.gov.u Council @g{)




Between point J and point K

¥91 abed

Lancashire

‘@u%v
www.lancashire.gov.uk 8832(% @?}]‘:)

F&S




Approaching point K

G9| abed

\
Lemontie

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {%‘.’;‘:)
’wi




991 abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point K

Lancashire
County ‘@@?"bv
Council (??&:.3?




Point K

19| obed

Lancash.ige

County ‘@v"' .
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council

SR,

L



Page 168



Agenda ltem 7

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16" September 2020

| Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Rossendale South

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation

Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Strongstry Bridge to
Stubbins Station

File No. 804-614

(Annex ‘A’ refers)

Contact for further information:

Simon Moore, 01772 531280, Paralegal Officer, County Secretary and Solicitors
Group, simon.moore@lancashire.gov.uk

Jayne Elliott, 01772 537663, Public Rights of Way Definitive Map Officer, Planning &
Environment Group, jayne.elliott@Ilancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

Application for the addition of a Footpath from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 north of
Strongstry Road along the dismantled railway to Stubbins Vale Road (U3623) at
Stubbins Station and shown on the Committee plan between points A-B-C-D-E-F-G-
H, in accordance with File No. 804-614.

Recommendation

() That the application for the addition of a footpath on the Definitive Map and
Statement of Public Rights of Way along the dismantled railway at Stubbins
Station, in accordance with File No. 804-614, be accepted.

(i) That an Order be made pursuant to Section 53 (2)(b) and Section 53 (3)(b)
and/or Section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a
Footpath from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 north of Strongstry Road along the
dismantled railway to Stubbins Vale Road (U3623) at Stubbins Station on the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as shown on Committee
Plan between points A-B-C-B-E-F-G.

(iii) That being satisfied that the higher test for confirmation can be met the Order
be promoted to confirmation.

Lancasg.i‘[e
Soundy g@g

Page 169



Background

An application under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 has been
received for the addition of a Footpath from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 north of
Strongstry Road along the dismantled railway to Stubbins Vale Road (U3623) at
Stubbins Station on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.

The county council is required by law to investigate the evidence and make a
decision based on that evidence as to whether a public right of way exists, and if so
its status. Section 53(3)(b) and (c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out
the tests that need to be met when reaching a decision; also current Case Law
needs to be applied.

An order will only be made to add a public right of way to the Definitive Map and
Statement if the evidence shows that:

¢ Aright of way “subsists” or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”

An order for adding a way to or upgrading a way shown on the Definitive Map and
Statement will be made if the evidence shows that:

e “the expiration... of any period such that the enjoyment by the public...raises
a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or restricted
byway”

When considering evidence, if it is shown that a highway existed then highway rights
continue to exist (“once a highway, always a highway”) even if a route has since
become disused or obstructed unless a legal order stopping up or diverting the rights
has been made. Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 makes it clear
that considerations such as suitability, the security of properties and the wishes of
adjacent landowners cannot be considered. The Planning Inspectorate’s website
also gives guidance about the interpretation of evidence.

The county council’s decision will be based on the interpretation of the evidence
discovered by officers and documents and other evidence supplied by the applicant,
landowners, consultees and other interested parties produced to the county council
before the date of the decision. Each piece of evidence will be tested and the
evidence overall weighed on the balance of probabilities. It is possible that the
council’s decision may be different from the status given in any original application.
The decision may be that the routes have public rights as a footpath, bridleway,
restricted byway or byway open to all traffic, or that no such right of way exists. The
decision may also be that the routes to be added or deleted vary in length or location
from those that were originally considered.

Consultations

Rossendale Borough Council

Rossendale Borough Council provided no response to the consultation request.

Page 170



Applicant/Landowners/Supporters/Objectors

The evidence submitted by the applicant/landowners/supporters/objectors and
observations on those comments are included in Advice — Head of Service — Legal
and Democratic Services Observations.

Advice

Head of Service — Planning and Environment

Points annotated on the attached Committee plan.

Point Grid Description
Reference
(SD)
A 7901 1873 Open junction with Footpath Ramsbottom 45 east of
Buckden Cottages
B 7902 1873 Point on tarmac section of dismantled railway from

where application route leaves the tarmac to
continue south

C 7902 1870 Metal railing fence across application route at
Strongstry bridge

D 7905 1852 Point at which the application route leaves the top of
the railway embankment to deviate around factory
extension

E 7906 1844 Point at which the application route rejoins the top of

the railway embankment after deviating around the
factory extension

F 7913 1810 Application route turns south east to descend from
railway embankment north of subway

G 7911 1809 Application route passes through gap in boundary
fence (currently blocked by a blue industrial
container)

H 7911 1809 Junction with Stubbins Vale Road (U3623)

Description of Route

A site inspection was carried out in February 2020.

The application route commences at a point on Footpath Ramsbottom 45 east of
Buckden cottages and approximately 40 metres north of the junction with Strongstry
Road. (Point A on the Committee plan).

From point A the route extends east through a gap in a stone wall along a tarmac
path clearly signed as part of National Cycle Route 6. Wooden bollards positioned
across the gap restrict the width to exclude cars.

The application route follows the tarmac path for approximately 5 metres onto land
which once carried a railway line (now dismantled) at point B. At point B the tarmac

Page 171




path turns 90 degrees to continue north along the dismantled railway towards Irwell
Vale. The application route turns 90 degrees south at this point to go the opposite
way along the dismantled railway along a clearly defined but unsurfaced track.

After approximately 30 metres Strongstry Road passes under the former railway
which was carried by Strongstry Bridge at point C. Entry onto the bridge is fenced off
by what appears to be quite an old metal railing fence. Several of the metal railings
can be seen to have been cut out of the fence and it is easily possible to step
through the fence at this point and to continue along the application route.
Immediately on the south side of the metal railing fence is a second metal fence
which has been erected immediately to the rear of the older fence and this has also
been cut so that access is available by stepping through the gap in the two fences in
one action.

Once through the fences it is possible to continue along the application route over
the railway bridge and south along the dismantled railway on a clearly defined track
with evidence of recent use (footprints in the mud). Approximately 30 metres from
the bridge a small trench has been cut across the full width application route. It is
possible to step across the trench — which exposes fresh earth and appears to have
been recently cut - to continue along the application route to point D.

At point D the application route descends east from the top of the railway
embankment down a set of wooden steps to run along the bottom of the railway
embankment adjacent to fencing separating it from the East Lancashire Railway - for
approximately 60 metres before then ascending the slope via a second set of
wooden steps to re-join the former railway track at point E.

From point E the application route continues south along the top of the dismantled
railway for approximately 350 metres to point F where a fence is positioned across
the dismantled railway immediately prior to a subway which passes underneath and
formed the original access to Stubbins Station. From point F the application turns to
continue in a west south westerly direction alongside the wall of the subway to
descend to point G where a large blue industrial metal container has been positioned
across the route to prevent access. Signage on the fencing adjacent to the container
states that no unauthorised persons are allowed beyond that point and that for their
own safety persons should not enter due to the occurrence of fallen tree branches.
Beyond the blue metal container the application route continues for a short distance
to point to the junction with Stubbins Vale Road (U3623).

Whilst access onto the application route was not available to or from the application
route at point H local dog walkers passing the site directed the Investigating Officer
to a gap in the fencing to the rear of a War Memorial just north of point H which they
explained had been used to access the route since it was blocked at point G.

From the site inspection it appeared that a substantial trodden track had existed
along the full length of the application route consistent with the user evidence and
that frequent recent use was still being made of most of the route, except at point F
where it was blocked.

Page 172



Map and Documentary Evidence

The application under consideration relates to the addition of a footpath along the
former track bed of the former East Lancashire Railway which was opened in 1846.
The railway between Ramsbottom and Accrington ceased to operate in 1966 and the
track bed removed in approximately 1970-1972.

There is no claim that the application route existed as a footpath prior to the closure
of the railway and removal of the railway track and for that reason many of the usual
maps, plans and other documents which would normally be examined are not
included in this report.

Document Title Date Brief Description of Document &
Nature of Evidence

6 Inch Ordnance | 1850 The earliest Ordnance Survey 6 inch map

Survey (OS) Map 79 for this area surveyed in 1844-47 and

published in 1850.*

1 The Ordnance Survey (OS) has produced topographic maps at different scales (historically one inch to one
mile, six inches to one mile and 1:2500 scale which is approximately 25 inches to one mile). Ordnance Survey
mapping began in Lancashire in the late 1830s with the 6-inch maps being published in the 1840s. The large
scale 25-inch maps which were first published in the 1890s provide good evidence of the position of routes at the
time of survey and of the position of buildings and other structures. They generally do not provide evidence of the
legal status of routes, and carry a disclaimer that the depiction of a path or track is no evidence of the existence
of a public right of way.

Page 173




Observations Included by way of background
information - The application route is not
shown but the map has been included to
illustrate that the railway was in existence
from the mid 1800's with no suggestion
that the route existed at that time.

Investigating Officer's The application route did not exist in

Comments 1844-47.

1955 The OS base map for the Definitive Map,

6 Inch OS Map First Review, was published in 1955 at a

Sheet 71INE scale of 6 inches to 1 mile (1:10,560).

This map was revised before 1930 and is
probably based on the same survey as
the 1930s 25-inch map.

Page 174




.

fghet. | »

- 0"

{ r.'\ .
£, y

~

. 0 - P O/l
BN R S AN S T * Stubdine Vals/ oo 8 B
Observations The application route is not shown and
the railway was still in existence.
Investigating Officer's The application route did not exist when
Comments the used as the base map for the Revised

Definitive Map was revised in the 1930s.

6 Inch OS Map 1964 Further edition of the 6 inch OS map

revised 1962-1964 and published 1968.
Sheet 71NE

Page 175




TITTIALAL

Ttch‘r‘nn
y © Jl.b'., o) D

2

Observations

The application route is not shown and
the railway line is still shown to exist.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route did not exist in the
early 1960s (when the map was revised)
immediately prior to the closure of the
railway line in 1966.

Aerial photograph

1960s

The black and white aerial photograph
taken in the 1960s and available to view

Page

176




Observations

Tree cover means that it is not possible to
see in detail the land crossed by the
application route. The railway line can be
seen clear of trees and it appears that the
railway line may still be in existence when
comparing it to the railway line which
remained unaffected by the closure which

Page 177




runs parallel with it.

Investigating Officer's It is not possible to see from the

Comments photograph whether access was available
along the application route on foot and no
inference can be drawn with regards to
the existence of public rights.

1:2500 OS Map 1983 Further edition of 25 inch map

SD 7818-7918

reconstituted from former county series
revised in 1982 and published 1983 as
national grid series.

1] i Yew
¢ ) ". ' Q Q 's “"4 'ﬁ:‘ﬁk
4 ' \
™ 4 : v 1S 2] 2
v i s ‘\i‘
= A . COhE
| Buckden Cotlage, 321 @ . iStrongstry
@& v, s ) ‘M B
. ‘.‘.. ' " E -
0 i 2 —_—
Q ’ North 3 —
Q “ ;Lm .E
: : North —
) ' =
mgg 0 ° [y g-o
L~ [E =
QQ = = =
Dl B = =
% \ B, B HIE
" ‘ << = | =t
e APk e Q@ =
&S : = o =
= —~ =
i : ; —— =
Q :: { Q M — ——-—'"-_\\\\ : E
e I — ——'—— a ﬂ ] -
0 O = == o=
L { P — o
‘ ; — i ==
' = | =
' p— =—"-—‘ : —
— " == -
e il = -
=o=a Wl 5 $
P w":::-: : p-— o
A ‘;. D W — N —— —
----- \Nee—=3%— o= -
g \. p—— — : ——
..... g”:". ' = 1663
== I =._ 1 806ha |

Page 178




g
St Philip”

_-3—3

it go e
gg %

, ==

E,E

,,,a:m_,.,.,m,.?.m ...._...”.._..”...u......._

é% _,

\wa

203

Page 179



Observations

The application route is not shown.
However the railway is shown to have
been dismantled. From point A a solid line
is shown across the start of the route
suggesting the existence of a boundary
through which it would have been
necessary to be able to pass through. At
point C the route is shown to cross the
railway bridge. Dashed lines are used to
indicate the extent of the bridge structure
but there is no solid line which would
indicate the existence of some sort of
boundary fence across the route.

Between point C and point F a clear strip
is shown along the top of the railway
embankment with no deviation of the
route down the embankment and then
back up onto it between point D and point
E.

Page 180




Between point F and point G no route is
shown coming off the top of the
embankment and a boundary fence is
shown across the route at point G.

This is the earliest OS map examined to
show that the railway track had been
removed. It looks like it would have been
possible to walk the length of the
dismantled railway between point C and
point F in 1982-3 consistent with the user
evidence provided. It also appears that
the route at that time would have been
along the top of the embankment without
a need to deviate off the top of the
embankment between point D and point E
as the factory to the west of the railway
had not been extended at that time.
It is unclear from the OS map whether
informal access existed onto and off the

dismantled railway between points A-B
and points F-G-H.

Investigating Officer's
Comments
Details of Planning

Permission granted to

extend Stubbins Vale
Mill

1993/1994

Copy of Planning Permission granted by
Rossendale Borough Council in 1994.

P T R S

R
|
|

\\‘)\II
D 8

Chattert

|

STRROPOSED | EXTENSION

i

N

)n
il

lf’f‘
oo
il

==
e

'

Gaffuy

Page 181



T

[ T
ANLEA T,
)

TR

[l

|
o |

—— gty wanamd ey
¥

v 1aua¢

project:

FACTORY EXTENSION
STUBBINS VALE
RAMSBOTTOM

drawing;

LOCATION PLAN

drawn:

lraced:
checked: approw ]
print no: date: f2]a 32,

-

SCALE: 1:2500

date: 1993

drawing no:

96 /16675

Observations

The applicant made reference to the
application route being diverted and the
provision of wooden steps following the
granting of planning permission
referenced as Application 13/518 to
extend Stubbins Vale factory.

Enquiries were made to the Borough
Council who provided a copy of the
Planning Permission granted in 1994.
Two plans where attached to the Planning
Permission referenced as drawing nos.
96/144/5 and 96/144/5a.

Planning permission was granted to
extend the factory with associated car
parking, servicing and landscaping.

A note included in the granting of planning
permission stated that the permission
should be read in conjunction with a letter
from the Agent/Landowner dated 25
November 1993 in relation to the
submission of a plan referenced 96/144/9
showing revisions to the yard area and
the applicant's willingness to allow the
public to 'continue to use the informal
footpath along the disused railway

Page 182




embankment.’

Further enquiries were made to
Rossendale Council regarding the letter
and plan but the Borough Council were
unable to find either.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

The extension of the factory resulted in
changes to the embankment and appears
to have resulted in the diversion of the
application route between point D and
point E. References to use of the route
along the embankment as part of the
planning process suggest that it was
already in use by the public prior to the
request for planning permission in 1993
and supports the user evidence submitted
as part of the application. The landowners
appear to acknowledge that use had been
made of the route along the embankment
and accepted continued use along what
was described as an 'informal footpath.'
However, the knowledge of public use but
absence of any mention of a need to
divert any rights suggest it was not
considered to be a public right of way at
the time but that should be taken in the
context that at that time public rights of
way matters were regarded with less
rigour than now.

The wording of the missing letter is
important as it could have indicated
acceptance that rights already existed,
dedication of new rights or permission for
the public without dedication. Without the
letter no particular interpretation can be
presumed.

Emails provided by the

applicant r
the provisio
on the
route

elating to
n of steps
application

Emails were submitted by the applicant in
support of the application.

Observations

The applicant explained that emails from
senior employees of Voith demonstrated
the previous owners of the lands consent
to public access and works undertaken
(construction of the steps) to facilitate
access.

The email referred to was from Harry
Storey who, it is explained, worked at
Voith 'for many years' and was sent to

Page 183




Andrew Rothwell who also worked at
Voith. In the email Harry Storey explained
that the steps were put in for public use,
due to the bridge being unsafe at the
Strongstry end. He also explained that the
railway was for public use to walk on and
that the company gave permission for
people to walk across the car park instead
of them coming down further on.

As part of the investigation of this
application the Investigating Officer
contacted Harry Storey who explained
that he worked at the factory from 1969 to
2010 and was Operations Manager from
2000- 2010.

Contact was also made with Andrew
Rothwell who also worked for Voith who
confirmed that the steps referred to in the
email from Harry Storey were the ones
along the old railway between points D
and E on the Committee plan and that
permission was given for walkers 'etc.' to
use the rear carpark of what was Voith
instead of using the old Railway path if
they so desired. He observed that the
footpath (application route) had been
used for more than 20 years by mill
workers on lunch breaks, people out for a
walk and also dog walking. He also
commented that there was also a path
that led from the bottom of the steps D
and E that took a course along the side of
the railway and exited at the rear of the
houses in Strongstry which was also used
by the residents of Strongstry.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The emails and further information
provided detail knowledge of use by the
public by former employees of the
landowner and an understanding that use
of the route was accepted by the
landowner who provided steps to assist
the public and also gave permission for
the route to be accessed from an
additional point via the factory carpark.

Aerial Photograph

2000

Aerial photograph available to view on
GIS.

Page 184




Observations

The photograph was taken during the
summer months when the trees were in
full leaf and it is not possible to see the
application route in any detail.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

No inference can be drawn with regards
to the existence of public rights.

Photographs supplied

by county
project officer

council

2007

An officer currently working on various
cycleway initiatives within the county was
consulted about the application and
provided a series of photographs of the
application route taken in 2007. He
explained that in 2007 he worked in the
'Remade’ team which was part of the
former  Environment and  planning
Directorate.

Page 185




The photographs were taken when the
remade team where undertaking a
feasibility study into the creation of a
promoted cycleway along numerous
sections of the dismantled railway
including the application route.

~ -~ .

Photoqrap 2 - Between point B and poit C

Page 186



-

Photograph 4 - Steps from point D

Page 187




-

»

Photoqaph 6 - Point G

Observations

Photograph 1 shows the application route
at point A. The tarmac cycle route leading
north towards Irwell Vale was already in
existence and signed as a cycle route at
that time. The application route from point
A to point B appeared open and available
to use and from point B heading south

Page 188



towards point C the application route can
be seen as a wide and substantial
unsurfaced track.

Photographs 2 and 3 show the fence
across the route at point C. This appears
to be the same fence that is across the
route today. A gap can be seen which has
been cut out of the fence and which
appears to be large enough to climb
through. The track both before and after
point C looks to be wide and clear of
vegetation and appears to be capable of
use.

Photographs 4 and 5 show the wooden
steps down the embankment from point
D. They look to be quite worn in 2007
suggesting that they were constructed
some years earlier. On both photographs
the steps are clear of vegetation and the
path looks to be well used.

Photograph 6 shows the application route
passing through a gap in the wooden
fence at point G. From looking at the
formation of the fence the gap appears to
have been provided rather than having
formed due to a break in the fence.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The application route existed and was
capable of being used in 2007. The
photographs were taken when the trees
were in full leaf but the route is not
overgrown and the path appears to be
well worn. The fact that the fence existed
across the route at point C did not appear
to have prevented or deterred use.

Lumb Mill Reclamation | 2008
Greenway Project

Plan of proposed construction of a
cycletrack/greenway along the application
route.

1237 2020 Fax: 0151-237 4000
0.k

working in Parinsrship with Liveeol City Council

PROJECT TITLE

LUMB MILL RECLAMATION AND
GREENWAY - OUTLINE DESIGN

DRAWING INFORMATION
Appraisal & Initial Proposals
Consultation Drawing

Survey Date  GOMDO000
010000

Draning $als o o) ETE T,

Draving Nurmber Revison

701754 - LO1

Fila Hame
TCSUSheRel  NA BES Raf A

AQ 1164 x 816mm

Existing Section of Greenway
2.5m wide. Part of NCN 6 Route
for shared pedestrlan and cycle
use,

Proposed Section of Greenway
2.5m wide for shared pedestrian
and cycle use.

= = = = Raised walkway or board walk

at Lumb MIll to control
pedestrlan access.

Existing Access points to
Greenway,

Proposed Access points to
Greenway for dlscuss|on,

Page 189




Grearmay Seltidg NCN 6 lIriing In
ealsilng Rlghls of Wy, VeHcks
by ballards = Photo 2§

o

\ —
Exlitng and cycleway ¥ ’V
In@ Vala Roed 1o

Protecs graonway psers agalnst Steop rallway
ampehkmants and drog fram ratalning wall eporge
Sslqlwgslmyﬂrldga.ueesurec Inpiiila
= Thizkan yh shaub layer 1o strengihe Buefatd
along grienway .
Pravislgn of phys|cal canstralp
timter¥encng and malls, g
- Singge Incleating how b Y ime

- i

deck ———
= Replace and |Increase hejght ra

st T

( wdwwuaambral.
- Remaove all wegetstlon of bridge
l,-"
= Remad|al works to bridga 5

Exkillryg Stepped Arsess

Shubblns Vale Ml

Sublest o full lopeghkp
e donsin

New secilon of Gresrmway fg uj. ek badestrian

and cyclaway usa 2.5m -P .I

ramped continuation of the greemway-Ified abovel)
{and/‘away from-the-exlsting rallway Ine jo'create &

“buffer from the rallway boundary.

N .
™~ ~ New Surface to Fovtway — [
\\ ! 1 T
N - Roof Deck requires further Ioad.‘lr‘,r,Ue}l{Baﬂa )
- - Helghten Parapets/with ralling | [ =
- Posslily open stéplacseds | (15" Bl
- Genefal repalr ang femedial works -
- L_Igh'tlrng provislon | |
__Had dralnage leading to { \
\ stagnant water needs addressed A
/“.
/
i (
Stubblns Vale Mill Access ——————— ==

Two possible options to consider subject to a full
topegraphlcal survey may Include; /
__ A-Ramped DDA compllant access from the northt_
“gfthe %ub way, This option may require Ioss__g\f_.-’
frees. | o
‘_.-B - UtlllsIng the subway bridge deck to galn | %’/
/ access from the exlsting car park areatothe | /7 I L
\'/\suuth of the sub way subject to land Dwnershlpf‘\%" f

Pl

3

- 1
T

Observations This pla p in 2008 by county
council officers involved in looking at
extending and linking sections of existing,
or recently agreed and constructed
cycleway within Rossendale. The plans
show the proposed work along the
application route which would be required

Page 190



to provide a 2.5 metre wide shared
access (walkers and cyclists) path which
would then be incorporated into the
National Cycleway Route. The plan refers
to the existing stepped access between
point D and point E but makes no specific
reference to whether the application route
was currently in use or its believed status
other than the fact that it was not shown
on the plan as a public footpath.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

The fact that the application route was not
shown on the plan as a public footpath is
not surprising as it is not recorded as one
on the Definitive map and Statement.
Discussions to construct the route as a
cycleway or 'Greenway' do not
necessarily mean that the route was not
already considered to be a public footpath
— or could not become a public footpath —
as the project was looking specifically at
creating a promoted route open to cyclists
which would be physically constructed to
a high standard. Many existing public
footpaths were utilised as part of the
cycleway/greenway project at this time.
The project officer involved in the scheme
at the time explained that whilst much
work was undertaken on the ground from
the 1990s through to more recently the
public legal status of the routes
constructed often wasn't recorded.
Concerning the application route itself the
project officer recalled that in 2007-08
there already appeared to be significant
use of the application route on foot. He
explained that although the landowners at
that time (Voith) agreed in principal to the
construction of the greenway/cycleway
this was never progressed for financial
reasons and that it was deemed a low
priority due to the fact that there was a
good alternative to the application route
via Stubbins Vale Road which was owned
by the county council and, at that time,
received very limited use.

Remade photograph

2008

Photograph taken by county council
project officer in 2008.

Page 191




TN -

Observations The photograph shows the fence across
the route at point C and shows more
clearly than the photographs taken a year
earlier the gap cut in the fence to allow

access.
Investigating Officer's A gap existed in the fence at point C
comments allowing access along the route in 2008

and supports the user evidence submitted
from members of the public claiming to
have used the route.

Aerial Photograph 2016 Aerial photograph available to view on
GIS.

Page 192



Page 193



T
—
o—
—
——
i
—
o
——
—

.

3\
)

—

.

Observations

\

P g— - -
The photograph is of very limited
evidential value due to the fact that the
route is obscured by tree cover. However,
particularly between point A and point D a
fine line can be seen in the trees
consistent with the line of the application
route.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

Taken with all other available site
evidence the application route probably
existed in 2016 although it is not possible
to confirm from the aerial photograph
whether access was available along the
full length.

Definitive Map Records

The National Parks and Access to the
Countryside Act 1949 required the County
Council to prepare a Definitive Map and
Statement of Public Rights of Way.

Records where searched in the
Lancashire Records Office to find any

Page 194




correspondence concerning the
preparation of the Definitive Map in the
early 1950s.

Parish Survey Map

1950-1952

The initial survey of public rights of way
was carried out by the parish council in
those areas formerly comprising a rural
district council area and by an urban
district or municipal borough council in
their  respective  areas. Following
completion of the survey the maps and
schedules were submitted to the County
Council. In the case of municipal
boroughs and urban districts the map and
schedule produced, was used, without
alteration, as the Draft Map and
Statement. In the case of parish council
survey maps, the information contained
therein was reproduced by the County
Council on maps covering the whole of a
rural district council area. Survey cards,
often containing considerable detail exist
for most parishes but not for unparished
areas.

Observations

The application route is  within
Ramsbottom which was a municipal
borough in the early 1950s so a parish
survey map was not compiled.

Draft Map

The Draft Maps were given a “relevant
date” (1%t January 1953) and notice was
published that the draft map for
Lancashire had been prepared. The draft
map was placed on deposit for a
minimum period of 4 months on 1%
January 1955 for the public, including
landowners, to inspect them and report
any omissions or other mistakes.
Hearings were held into these objections,
and recommendations made to accept or
reject them on the evidence presented.

Observations

The application route was not shown on
the Draft Map and no objections or
representations were made to the county
council about it.

Provisional Map

Once all representations relating to the
publication of the draft map were
resolved, the amended Draft Map became
the Provisional Map which was published
in 1960, and was available for 28 days for

Page 195




inspection. At this stage, only landowners,
lessees and tenants could apply for
amendments to the map, but the public
could not. Objections by this stage had to
be made to the Crown Court.

Observations

The application route was not shown on
the Provisional Map and no objections or
representations were made to the county
council about it.

The First Definitive
Map and Statement

The Provisional Map, as amended, was
published as the Definitive Map in 1962.

Observations

The application route was not shown on
the First Definitive Map although this is
not surprising as the railway was still in
existence in the 1960s and there is no
suggestion that the application route
came into existence until the closure of
the railway and removal of the track in the
early 1970s.

Revised Definitive Map
of Public Rights of Way
(First Review)

Legislation required that the Definitive
Map be reviewed, and legal changes such
as diversion orders, extinguishment
orders and creation orders be
incorporated into a Definitive Map First
Review. On 25" April 1975 (except in
small areas of the County) the Revised
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way
(First Review) was published with a
relevant date of 15' September 1966. No
further reviews of the Definitive Map have
been carried out. However, since the
coming into operation of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, the Definitive Map
has been subject to a continuous review
process.

Page 196




Observations

The application route is not shown on the
Revised Definitive Map.

Investigating
Comments

Officer's

From 1953 through to 1973 there is no
indication that the application route was
considered to be a public right of way by
the Surveying authority. There were no
objections or representations from the
public to the fact that the route was not
shown when the maps were placed on
deposit for inspection at any stage of the
preparation of the Definitive Map. The fact
that the application route is not shown is
not surprising because the railway was
still in existence in the 1960s and there
has been no suggestion that the
application route came into existence until
the closure of the railway and removal of
the track in the early 1970s.

Highway
Records

Adoption
including

1929 to
present day

In 1929 the responsibility for district
highways passed from district and

Page 197




maps derived from the
'1929 Handover Maps'

borough councils to the County Council.
For the purposes of the transfer, public
highway 'handover' maps were drawn up
to identify all of the public highways within
the county. These were based on existing
Ordnance Survey maps and edited to
mark those routes that were public.
However, they suffered from several flaws
— most particularly, if a right of way was
not surfaced it was often not recorded.

A right of way marked on the map is good
evidence but many public highways that
existed both before and after the
handover are not marked. In addition, the
handover maps did not have the benefit of
any sort of public consultation or scrutiny
which may have picked up mistakes or
omissions.

The County Council is now required to
maintain, under section 31 of the
Highways Act 1980, an up to date List of
Streets showing which 'streets’ are
maintained at the public's expense.
Whether a road is maintainable at public
expense or not does not determine
whether it is a highway or not.

Page 198




Observations

The application route is not recorded as
being publicly maintainable on the List of
Streets by the county council and that part
of the application route between point A
and point B which comprises of part of the
tarmac surfaced cycle route promoted as
part of the National Cycleway has no
recorded public legal status.

Investigating Officer's
Comments

No inference can be drawn regarding
public rights.

Statutory deposit and
declaration made
under section 31(6)
Highways Act 1980

The owner of land may at any time
deposit with the County Council a map
and statement indicating what (if any)
ways over the land he admits to having

Page 199




been dedicated as highways. A statutory
declaration may then be made by that
landowner or by his successors in title
within ten years from the date of the
deposit (or within ten years from the date
on which any previous declaration was
last lodged) affording protection to a
landowner against a claim being made for
a public right of way on the basis of future
use (always provided that there is no
other evidence of an intention to dedicate
a public right of way).

Depositing a map, statement and
declaration does not take away any rights
which have already been established
through past use. However, depositing
the documents will immediately fix a point
at which any unacknowledged rights are
brought into question. The onus will then
be on anyone claiming that a right of way
exists to demonstrate that it has already
been established. Under deemed
statutory dedication the 20 year period
would thus be counted back from the date
of the declaration (or from any earlier act
that effectively brought the status of the
route into question).

Observations

There are no Highway Act 1980 Section
31(6) deposits lodged with the county
council for the area over which the
application route runs.

Investigating
Comments

There is no indication by any landowners
under this provision of non-intention to
dedicate public rights of way over their
land.

Photographs
application
use

The applicant submitted a number of
photographs said to illustrate the fact that
that the application route had been used
by families and railway enthusiasts in the
past.

Page 200




Photograph 1

Photograph 2

Page 201



Photograph 3

Observations

Several of the photographs were
submitted by an individual who had
completed a user evidence statement
(Ann Howard) including those reproduced
as photographs 1 and 2 above. Mrs
Howart explains that the picture of the
snow was taken in 1996 and the other
photograph dated from the early 1990s.

It is not possible to pin point exactly
where on the route either photographs
were taken.

Photograph 3 is undated and shows a
person leaning over a fence to take a
picture of the East Lancashire Railway. It
is not possible to be sure of the exact
location but could have been between
point D and E on the application route.

Investigating

Officer's

The photographs were submitted to

Page 202




Comments illustrate use of the application route.
Whilst they may help provide useful
supporting information — particularly when
read in conjunction with completed user
evidence forms — on their own they are of
little value as it is unclear exactly where
they were taken or whether the person
taking the photograph or using the route
was doing so with permission or in the
belief that the route was a public right of
way.

The affected land is not designated as access land under the Countryside and
Rights of Way Act 2000 and is not registered common land. Between point A and
point C the land crossed by the application route has been designated as a biological
heritage site by the county council.

Landownership

The land crossed by the application route between point A and point C is in the
registered ownership of Michael Robert Lord of three different addresses in
Canterbury, Germany and Rochdale. The land was purchased in March 2017 and is
subject to the requirement to maintain a stock proof fence long part of the boundary
referred to as A-B-C (or X-Y-Z) in the title documents and shown on the title plan.
This corresponds to the erection of a stock proof fence across the application route
at point C.

Covenant included in Title LA858164:

The following are details of the personal covenants contained in the
Transfer dated 14 January 2000 referred to in the Proprietorship
Register:-

"Within one month of the date hereof the Transferee will erect a
stockproof fence between the points A-B-C on the plan annexed hereto
and shall thereafter maintain the same in good repair"

NOTE: The points A-B-C referred to are shown marked X-Y-Z in blue on the
filed plan.

The application route from point C through to point H is owned by Melba Products
Limited who purchased the land in May 2019. A similar requirement to maintain
stock proof fencing in the proximity of the railway is included in the Title document
(LA 444612) with reference to lettering A-B-C and D-E but the Land Registry plan
does not include any lettering to confirm the locations referred to.

Lancashire County Council own Stubbins Vale Road (LA 706148).
Summary

The application relates to use of a dismantled railway and is based primarily on the
submission of a substantial amount of user evidence. Map and documentary

Page 203




evidence confirms the existence of the railway and the fact that the rails were still in
situ until the early 1970s and the earliest OS map to show the railway as having
been dismantled was published in 1983 (having been revised in 1982).

Of significance is the fact that in 1993 the company owning the land crossed by the
application route applied for planning permission to extend Stubbins Vale Mill and in
doing so would interfere with the railway embankment along which the application
route ran. Unfortunately much of the correspondence relating to the granting of
planning permission could not now be found but it did appear that there was already
use of the railway line by that time by the public and that the company acknowledged
this use, agreed to it continuing and appear to have been responsible for the
construction of wooden steps in diverting the original route to allow for their factory
extension.

The exact date that the steps were constructed is not known but it believed to have
been soon after planning permission was granted and reference to the path being
closed while work was carried out and the path re-routed appear to pre date the
twenty year period back from when the route was blocked off by the current
landowner.

Photographic evidence from the 2007-2008 shows the route very similar to how it
was when the Investigating Officer inspected the route in 2019 and the gap in the
metal railing fence at point C appears to have been the accepted point of access.

In summary, the available map, documentary and photographic evidence, together
with the recollections of the route from the county council project officer looking at
the creation of a cycleway along the route, supports the evidence of use submitted.

Head of Service — Legal and Democratic Services Observations
Information from the Applicant
The Applicant provided the following supporting information:

1. A map extract marking existing 'paths’ and marking the locations of the
obstructions placed on the application route in November 2019 (at points C
and G on the Committee plan).

2. A Map showing the route of the 'proposed' DMMO.

3. Emails from senior employees of Voith said to demonstrate the previous
landowners consent to public access and works undertaken (steps created) to
facilitate that access.

4. Photographs of the steps installed by the previous owner to facilitate 'public’
access.

5. Evidence of the strategic intent by Local Authority to designate the path as a

cycle route once funding was available, and creating section 19 of the

National Cycling Network Route 6.

Seven user evidence forms (forms provided by Lancashire county council).

Pictures of the application route in use by families and railway enthusiasts.

Forty Eight user evidence forms (forms provided by Ramblers Association)

© N

Page 204



9. Photographs of the blue metal industrial container used to block the
application route at point G in November 2019.

10. Minutes of Residents Association meetings discussing attempts to
communicate with and co-operate with the new owners of the land.

Duration of Use

The user evidence forms collectively provide evidence of use going back as far as
1984 and up to 2019 when the application to record the right of way was made.

20+ Years 1-19 Years Not Specified
Including the years (1999 to 2019)
27 26 2

Frequency of Use

The majority of the 55 users stated that they used the route weekly or daily with five
stating that they used the route more than once per day. One user simply specified
that they used the route 'regularly' and two did not specify.

More than Daily Weekly Monthly Yearly 'Regularly’ | Not
once daily Specified
5 9 27 10 1 2

Reasons for Use

Of those who specified their reason for using the route, the most common answer
was for dog walking. Others noted scenic walks and leisure and one user stated that
they used the route for commuting in addition to recreation.

One user stated use on horseback in addition to use on foot and one stated use on
bicycle in addition to use on foot.

Other Users of the Route
Seven users recorded having seen others using the route, three stated this to be
constant during their own use, one stated the route was popular, one that they saw
others daily and one stated that they saw others frequently. One did not specify how

frequently they saw others using the route.

Of these seven all recorded others using the route on foot, three recorded use by
others on bicycles and two recorded use by others on horseback.

Page 205



Consistency of the Route

The majority of the 55 users stated that the route had always followed the same
route, of those nine users stating the route had changed most cited a redirection

Has the Application Route Always Followed Same Course?

Yes No Don't know Not Specified

42 9 2 2

using steps built in 1994, one mentioned diversion of the route due to a fallen tree.

Unobstructed Use of the Route
None of the 55 users recalled having been prevented from using the route.

All but one of these users had seen no signs or notices restricting or prohibiting
access on the route. The one user who did acknowledge signs along the route was
highlighting those erected in 2019 with the blocking of the route, which prompted the
application

Fifty users were aware of no stiles or gates along the route; three responded that
they did not know.

Most users did not specify having seen obstructions on the route, of the thirteen that
did twelve referenced railings at Strongstry Bridge, which have been opened up. One
user suggested this opening was made in the 1990s, another stated that it had been
open since 2005. The applicant states that the previous landowner created the
opening in the fence.

The one remaining user who recorded an obstruction referred to barriers erected
during the construction of the steps, which diverted the route circa 1994.

Route Obstructed

Yes No Not specified

13 1 41

Information from the Landowners
Melba Swintex responded to the consultation, first confirming their landownership.

In relation to the application route they highlighted unstable vegetation which they
believe to be a hazard and could lead to potential injury claims. They noted steel
fencing originally erected at either end of the route by the previous occupants in
order to prevent public access and stated that this fencing was cut down without
permission.

Melba Swintex included a letter from the Managing Director of Voith, the previous
occupants of the site, explaining that Voith did not give consent for the public to walk

Page 206




across the land and they did in fact experience issues with public trespassing over
the land.

Melba Swintex acknowledged that they had blocked the route and cited health and
safety concerns. They stated that steel fencing was erected at either end of the path
to deter trespassing, along with warning signs indicating that the land was private
and that any access to the public was prohibited. They noted that within a matter of
days this fencing was cut down. Melba Swintex further stated that none of its
personnel had been approached about the footpath before this occurred, and
furthermore they experienced further trespassing onto the property. They noted that
as a result of this they once again blocked off the path with a much more substantial
barricade.

Mr Martin Lord also responded to the consultation, first confirming his
landownership. Mr Lord went on to note that his land was crossed by an ‘unadopted
footpath' which forms part of National Cycle Network route 6.

Mr Lord drew attention to the requirement to maintain a stock proof fence long part of
the boundary referred to as A-B-C (or X-Y-Z) in the title documents and shown on
the title plan. This corresponds to the erection of a stock proof fence across the
application route at point C. When asked for further details relating to the hole in this
fence Mr Lord was not able to identify who had opened it despite efforts to establish
this through prior investigations.

Mr Lord passed on information provided by the secretary of the Strongstry residents
association who estimated that the hole in the old fence had been created
approximately 15 - 20 years ago.

Assessment of the Evidence
The Law - See Annex 'A'
In Support of Making an Order(s)

e Substantial user evidence.

e Absence of signs and notices along the route stating that the route was not
public prior to 2019

e Absence of action taken by landowners to discourage use of the route.

e Map and other documentary evidence supporting the physical existence of
the route since at least the 1970's.

e Provision of alternative access via steps when part of the original route was
affected by development in 1994.

Against Making an Order(s)

e Access along the route for at least part of the time period was via a hole cut in
a fence across the route at point C.

Page 207



Conclusion

The application is that the route A-H has already become a footpath in law and
should be recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.
The majority of the users claim that the route has always followed the same route
apart from 9 users who acknowledge the fact that the route did alter slightly in 1994
when the then factory owner constructed wooden steps to enable the public to
continue to use the route after they had implemented the provisions in the 1994
planning permission.

As there is no express dedication Committee should consider, on balance, whether
there is sufficient evidence from which to have its dedication inferred at common law
from all the circumstances or for the criteria in section 31 Highways Act 1980 for a
deemed dedication to be satisfied based on sufficient twenty years "as of right" use
to have taken place ending with this use being called into question.

Considering initially whether there are circumstances from which dedication could be
inferred at common law. It is advised that Committee has to consider whether
evidence from the maps and other documentary evidence coupled with user
evidence indicates that it can be reasonably inferred that in the past the
landowner(s) intended to dedicate the route as a public right of way.

The analysis of the map and documentary evidence indicates that the route did not
physically exist prior the closure and subsequent dismantle of the railway line in
1970/72.

Sufficient as of right use agreed by the owners may be circumstances from which
dedication can be inferred. The previous landowner has acknowledged that
members of the pubic did use the route in 1993. Planning permission granted in
1994 to extend Stubbins Mill refers to the application route being diverted and the
provision of wooden steps being constructed to assist public use of the route while
the mill yard was redeveloped. Such actions by the then landowner demonstrates
that in 1993 the applicant had knowledge of the public using the route and further
showing a willingness to allow the public to 'continue to use the informal footpath
along the disused railway embankment. Such acknowledgement of public use of the
route in 1993 is consistent with the period of use detailed in the user evidence forms.

However, the wording of the missing letter which was to be read in conjunction with
the planning permission is important as such letter could indicate acceptance that
public rights existed, the dedication of new rights or permission for the public without
dedication. Without the letter no particular interpretation can be presumed.

From looking at the user evidence it would appear that there has never been any
clear action by previous owners to prevent use by the public and use by the public
has continued for many years such that, on balance, there may be sufficient
evidence from which to infer dedication at common law.

Looking next at the criteria for a deemed dedication under section 31 of the

Highways Act 1980, use of the route needs to be by the public ‘as of right' (without
force, secrecy or permission) and without interruption over a sufficient 20 year period

Page 208



immediately prior to the route being called into question. In this matter, the evidence
indicates that access to the route was obstructed in November 2019, therefore the
20 year period under consideration for the purposes of establishing deemed
dedication would therefore be 1999-2019. As the 20 year period of use we are
concerned with commences after the construction of the steps in 1994 the fact that 9
users recall using the "original” slightly different route up to 1994 is not relevant as
such time period falls outside of the 20 year period under consideration.

The applicant has provided 55 user evidence forms in support of the application
which refer to use of the route from as early as 1984. 27 users have provided
evidence of use during the period under consideration. A number of users have
made reference to having witnessed other users whilst using the route themselves.
27 of the users claim to have used the route on foot weekly and 9 users claim to
have used the route daily and 5 users claim to have used the route more than once a
day with all claiming to have used the route 'as of right'.

None of the users recall having ever been told that the route was not a public right of
way, nor do any users refer to having been turned back or having asked permission
to use the route. It is therefore suggested that there is sufficient evidence of use of
the claimed route by the public as of right to raise a presumption of dedication for the
period 1999-2019.

Evidence has been submitted regarding the requirement to maintain a stock proof
fence across the route at point C. Site evidence, photographs and maps all confirm
the existence of this fence but also show that the fence — which clearly existed in
2008 — had a section removed which made it possible for pedestrians to pass
through it. None of the users providing evidence appear to have considered this
fence to have been erected to prevent them accessing the route or appear to
consider that by stepping through the gap in the fence they were using a route that
they had no right to use. Arguably the person who actually created the gap, if it was
one of the users of the way, should be discounted from evidence of use because it
was not 'nec vi' (without force) and therefore was not 'as of right'. However, other
people subsequently stepping through the gap were doing so as of right and the fact
that use continued could suggest a strength of belief that users had a right.

A current Landowner has expressed concerns with regards to how this application
may cause health and safety issues over their land. However, whilst this
representation is acknowledged, it is submitted that the concerns are not relevant
considerations under either s31 Highways Act 1980 or under common law.

In conclusion, taking all of the evidence into account, the Committee on balance may
consider that the provisions of section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 can be satisfied.
In addition, or in the alternative, Committee may also consider that it can be
reasonably alleged that there is sufficient evidence from which to infer dedication of
a public footpath at common law.

Committee is therefore advised to accept the application, make an Order and
promote the Order to confirmation.

Page 209



Risk management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this claim. The Committee is advised that the decision taken must be based solely
on the evidence contained within the report, and on the guidance contained both in
the report and within Annex 'A' included in the Agenda Papers. Provided any
decision is taken strictly in accordance with the above then there is no significant
risks associated with the decision making process.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel
All documents on File Ref: Simon Moore, 01772
804-614 531280, County Secretary

and Solicitors Group

Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 210



00.8L¥Y 0098LY 00S8LY o_ovw_‘v

379200

379100

¥ o ~ N |
; 3 —
" = E
q] 2
L}
0 g E
o
1 | o m
1 5 )
fl E
; T
' ©
c
o
s
i 3 2
(2] = °
o - ©°
- s 2
o m S
& o O
3 c 3
3 (wn) yreg c 3
3 S o
Xe)
o g 2
cB o £
= g = 2
Qg g
I - _ _ . = < uw
D e o m ) O —~ O & 4 ~ 4% G @ ~) i} J [ 7 0y i, 3 s, 55 il o i - I Lo
ey p—.— &J - J - « - "1 =
'Il..ll-llu'l"l-llu'll.' L S W L WL e >
= — - el el T e ——
R g =g N T o R it o i e i mmmm - u 1 m
S T T T e - (T e = =
- Teooe o O NN N NN NN T oMl B BB 1ems oA - pqeoo- "
X0 o = , : MY o4 IS ,
3 apos T \ T 0 o ., o PRy eliysesied ey AU S Al
@ S . G ¥ . 3 D" - -
DD v 0 N /’ ————r T e T
a®8 N __ \ ™\ @ A TR A i wt
3.3 ; i m B
G

]

oo g g%ry

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

60 Meters

379000

379000

|
I | U

|

| |
00.8L¥ 0098LY 00S8LY 00¥8LY

S

5004

Plan 1/2

Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 near to Strongstry 1 . 1

Bridge along dismantled railway line to Stubbins Vale Road near Stubbins Station

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may leagto Prosecutjqn pr givil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
age 'f ’f

01772 530317
This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.

Public Rights of Way
PROW@lancashire.gov.uk

2.

Council

Lancashire
County

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.




Page 212



379100

379200
T | T T 177
1 O
&l {‘: Meadow L
1 R
[ [ 3 v
| ol x| =
'S ! ] I\ | ‘(;
% IQ: F] a Q.
v Lol
T L8
14
g e g
vl ow
2 ALY 2
< AT N
] 'l‘\ o
Y8
| | SRR
L) I N LXd
I‘ ‘J\ P II
1 ]\ 'I L}
1 | ‘\ R
i I\ II |“
(WA
".I‘ 1;\: i
fa
i
LAY —
im f‘ ) 1
st —
5 1 !, Mill
ey
S LAL S
2 -t 2
3 . \‘; ¥
.
4.3
-1
o [=}
[=] [=]
N N
© ©
s 3
14-3-FP.114
y
A, a 14-3-FP,113
2, 2 .
Q
8 Appl R ddition of Public Footpath) [ [ S
= HEER ication Route (addition of Public Footpat -
=Moo 15 30 60 Meters PP ( Pat) 1) &
A [ T T = = = Existing Public Footpaths E N
Y T A AN A ! —— S —
379100 379200 Plan 2/2
. Public Rights of Way Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 N
L%?lﬁgs":re PROI:N@Iancashire.gov.uk Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 near to Strongstry | 1:41.500 w%&-‘»u
Gounail {& 01772 530317 Bridge along dismantled railway line to Stubbins Vale Road near Stubbins Station ’ !

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may leagto Prosecutj ivil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
P 9 pyrig y leagyo P ge Ugnprgivil o 9 y




Page 214



378000 000000

3790000 3800000
o 4 ) e [ o
g \ : g
g A2 npes 216 A g
ol H o
S S
g : ' g
S ¢ . 2\ 199 ~
q ) - <
£ S D
| Cronkshaw 221 Lodge kumb "
old Sov Farm -5
pr
=t 2P Y AN z
Pleasant|View A i - SGreat HEYY v
arm <+ F . PO
d ""o"
e — <
SprA? 2 -
A | Sprs|.
...... %
::;? A .‘} > Edenfield
‘ii/ t ’ % ™S 27\
Vi Y, d AL } . 7
Broadwood Edge $ AD) « e
R YYTO W KL Farmh Te X\ N :2 : o
S ! N el N ’ IS}
s > o \ E’] WA Sl Y %asd ":: 4680 g
S "0 ower b :.r”’e//\\ﬁ 2 VA b
v Buckden Q \ T I
; - o “ ¥ & L ron ry\§¢ &\ <t
2 € W P Far - . proer ,\ 2 7
< & y\’\ N »-\ b / . S @‘ 5
Ok 15(3 (3734 of 1 (‘} S °/ l,'_u
-3 ) S L | Recn Y 3 3
-223=F% 7" e : Gd S
;a.l ::?.“ 9 \' =
Vel + : A,
Chatterton - 0/ & G~ '!LI‘
o Y \ ol s ChattefFton % I
b 8 \ Mill} Y T~
ot | ) 4 il O e i _Blea
\ o ¢
o
‘ \ 2y (=
Hill Hi A\ \ WO
= | Q ¥ Rossendalq <
S 1)\ Lk Sheep "y L 8
M mmw ' ' -8
] 1 eir 8 S
S :‘1\ / - oY, Spr — «©
e M Ik =) '\ Windy B 3
Nt f ’:0. { % Farm
o /er o d ¥ "\
[OOSR W | A 3 74 ) V¥
| & ) ) < { p e ]
%) OI ------ 0\ . L)
, G0 ' ¢ \
\ Carr Barn kg [
7 Waod Fire-Sta g
\ s 1y - °O° ~\~ “m
—‘_g-__g-n 2 Y X ank Lane
| i 7.
Harcles Hill N 1
Farm

° L= SQ o
o . 7 e S
2 <Liby = o | R
- \ i) : 0/ s

A 50, /' Fle

Q,
g aur: n(-:ng‘shwerth
=iy |
378000 """ 37900070 380000 70000
H N
Lancashire Andrew Mullaney Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Council

,@;@,

Head of Planning and Environment

Addition of Footpath at Stubbins, Ramsbottom, Rossendale LOCATION PLAN

1:15,000

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may Ieaﬁo Prosecutj}n,flﬁivil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
age




Page 216



/1 obed

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Addition of a Footpath along the dismantled railway
line from Footpath Ramsbottom 45 near to
Strongstry bridge to Stubbins Vale Road near to
Stubbins Holt

Photographs taken February 2020

Lancashire
- County ‘6"‘::5?'
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({'&:.3‘:)



81z abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point A

Lancashire

County Gz
Council @g‘?




612 abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Looking back towards point A

Lancashire
COU nty ‘@9"?'
Council ?&:3‘?




Point B

Page 220

hire

Lancas

\
=D
o))
£

-

-

a5
&

e
=
=
o
g
2
=
0
o
(3]
=
L
W




Point C

L2z ebed

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?‘395«

. . %)
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council \&&27
()




zez 9bed

Lancashire

County Gz
Council ?&g{

www.lancashire.gov.uk



€zz 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point C in 2015

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9:‘395-
Council @&:.3?




in 2008

int C

Po

¥ f._\‘-

h-.#

Page 224

o

Lancas

Q
b

3

h

-

‘@u
&

County
Council

-
7= |
=
o
oD
e
=
3
]
S
c
=
W

5

=D
9

L




From point C

Gez obed

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9?-
Council @&:3‘?

www.lancashire.gov.uk



92z 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Between point C and
point D

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?-
Council (’g&%‘?




Between point C
and point D

122 obed

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9?-

A )
Council ?&g{

www.lancashire.gov.uk




8zz abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Between point C
and point D

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9@-
Council @g‘?




622 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Between point C
and point D

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9?-
Council @&:3‘?




Between point C and
point D

0¢z 9bed

Lancashire
. County (G-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ??‘g{




Between point C
and point D

L€z ebed

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?-
Council {&:33

www.lancashire.gov.uk



Approaching point D

zez 9bed

Lancashire
o ) County ‘6;‘:??-
www.lancashire.gov.u Council ?&%‘?



Point D

€ez abed

Lancashire
. County (G-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?g{




From point D

y€z abed

Lancashir
L

/ Gobad
Council 3&‘3‘?

www.lancashire.gov.uk



Looking back towards
point D

Geg obed

Lancashire

: County ‘6":??.
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @g{)




Between point D and
point E

9¢z abed

Lancashire

: County ‘6;:??-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?g‘{)




Between point D and

point E

Page 237

\
ire
&

@
)

h

-

County
Council

Lancas

e
]
=
o
g
£
=
0
o
(3]
=
L
W



Between point D and
point E

8¢z abed

Lancashire

County (Z
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council \&<%2
5

Y&




Point E

6€Z 9bed

Lancashire

County -E=M».
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {%‘.’2‘:)
()




0v'g ebed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

From point E

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?-
Council g&:.gg




Between point E and
point F

L2 ebed

Lancashire
County ‘(g‘@?r
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @&:3")



Zvz 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Between point E and
point F

Lancashire
COU nty ‘@9"?'
Council ?&:3‘?




Approaching point F

ez abed

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?.
Council (&,&:.3?

www.lancashire.gov.uk



vz abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Point F

Lancashire
County ‘6{:9?-
Council {&:33




Gz obed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Between point F and point G

Lancashire

County ‘6‘-‘:9?-
Council @&:3‘?




Point H looking back
towards point G

9tz abed

\
Lemontie

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({%‘:)
L/ 5




Signage close to point G

b
P
—
No :
“unauthorised

pPersons

/¥ obed

allowed
beyond this
< piolni: & B e e
S e — R T
£ Yt @,_L.F
,f _":-ll .

SR
A -

Lancashire

L

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council g‘%‘:)
L/ 5




8z abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

3 s LB "

<

LR e

T

ph taken in 2015

| ancashire

County ‘@Qz‘br
Council @gg



Agenda ltem 8

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16 September 2020

Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Chorley Rural East

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm,
Wheelton, Chorley Borough

(Annexes 'B' and 'C' refer)

Contact for further information:
Mrs R Paulson, Planning and Environment Group
07917 836628, ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary
The proposed diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27, Chorley Borough.
Recommendation

(1) That subject to no significantly adverse responses to the consultations, an
Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert part
of Footpath Heapey 27, from the route shown by a bold continuous line and
marked A-B-C to the route shown by a bold broken line and marked A-D-
E-C on the attached map.

(i) That in the event of no objections being received, the Order be confirmed
and in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn, the Order
be sent to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and the Authority take a neutral stance with respect to its
confirmation.

(i)  That provision be included in the Order such that it is also made under
Section 53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in consequence of
the coming into operation of the diversion.

Background

The owners of Black Lion Farm, Blackburn Road Wheelton, have applied to
Lancashire County Council for an Order to be made under Section 119 of the
Highways Act 1980, to divert part of Footpath Heapey 27, Chorley Borough.

Lancashire
County ‘6;:@?.
Council ?&:.3{)

Page 249


mailto:hannah.baron@lancashire.gov.uk

Black Lion Farm is a working farm that comprises of a residential dwelling, agricultural
buildings and farmland. The footpath runs from Blackburn Road, along the farm
access track, across the open farmyard and then into a small field, continuing to the
former quarry site at Higher Copthurst.

If the diversion is successful, it would remove the footpath that crosses the open
farmyard and the small field that is used for grazing and sorting livestock assisting the
applicants with their farm operations. It will also improve the privacy and security at
the farm, removing the footpath from the open farmyard that incudes outbuildings,
building materials storage, farm equipment and the parking area for vehicles.

The length of existing path to be diverted is shown by a bold continuous line and
marked on the attached map as A-B-C, and the proposed new route is shown by a
bold broken line and marked A-D-E-C.

Consultations

Chorley Borough Council and Heapey and Wheelton Parish Councils have been
consulted and at the time of writing, their responses are awaited. The Peak and
Northern Footpaths Society and the Chorley branch of the Ramblers have been
consulted and at the time of writing, their responses are also awaited.

The consultation with the statutory undertakers has been carried out and, at the time
of writing, no objections or adverse comments on the proposal have been received.

Advice

Points annotating the routes on the attached map

Point Grid Reference | Description

A SD 5981 2103 | South east corner of former quarry site.

B SD 5981 2106 | Point on the east side of the former quarry site,
immediately west of the kissing gate.

C SD 5989 2105 | Point on the farm track, to the north of the northern
corner boundary of 175b Blackburn Road.

D SD 5988 2104 | South east corner of field.

E SD 5989 2104 | Point on the farm track, to the west of the northern

corner boundary of 175b Blackburn Road.

Page 250



Description of existing footpath to be diverted

That part of Footpath Heapey 27 as described below and shown by a bold continuous
line marked A-B-C on the attached map. (All lengths and compass points given are

approximate).

COMPASS LENGTH
FROM TO DIRECTION (metres) WIDTH
A B N 30 The entire width
B C Generally ESE 85 The entire width

Description of new footpath

Footpath as described below and shown by a bold broken line A-D-E-C on the
attached map. (All lengths and compass points given are approximate).

FROM TO COMPASS |LENGTH | WIDTH OTHER
DIRECTION | (metres) |(metres)| INFORMATION
A D Generally E 75 2 Compacted stone
D E NE 10 2 Compacted stone
E C NE 2 2 Compacted stone

The public footpath to be created by the proposed Order will be subject to the following

limitations and conditions:

Limitations and Conditions

Position

The right of the owner of the soil to
erect and maintain a gate that
conforms to BS 5709:2018

Grid Reference SD 5981 2103

(point A)

The right of the owner of the soil to
erect and maintain a gate that
conforms to BS 5709:2018

Grid Reference SD 5989 2105

(point C)

Page 251




Variation to the particulars of the path recorded on the Definitive Statement

If this application is approved by the Regulatory Committee, the Head of Service
Planning and Environment suggests that Order should also specify that the Definitive
Statement for Footpath Heapey 27 be amended to read as follows:

The 'Position' column to read:

"West Parish boundary near Higher Copthurst to a gate at SD 5981 2103, then
running generally east for 75 metres as a stone surfaced footpath to
SD 5988 2104 then north east for 10 metres as a stone surfaced footpath to a
gate at SD 5989 2104, then north east for 2 metres to SD 5989 2105. The
footpath then continues to the A674. (All lengths and compass points given are
approximate)."

The 'length’ column be amended to read:
"0.27 km"

The 'Other Particulars' column be amended to read:

"The only limitations on the section between SD 5981 2103 and SD 5989 2105
is the right of the owner of the soil to erect and maintain gates that conform to
BS 5709:2018 at SD 5981 2103 and SD 5989 2104. The width between
SD 5981 2103 and SD 5989 2105 is 2 metres."

Criteria satisfied to make and confirm the Order

The proposed diversion is expedient in the interests of the owners of the land, as it
would remove the footpath from the field grazed by livestock and also improve the
security of the farm buildings, whilst providing a route that is safe and convenient for
public use. The diversion would also reduce potential conflict between the users of the
footpath and vehicles unloading livestock, manoeuvring and parking within the working
area of the farm.

This proposed diversion will not alter the points of termination of Footpath Heapey 27,
therefore it is not necessary to consider the criteria concerning the alteration of
termination points.

The Committee are advised that so much of the Order as extinguishes part of Footpath
Heapey 27, is not to come into force until the county council has certified that any
necessary work to the new footpath has been carried out.

There is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under, in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route, of which we are
aware at the time of writing.

It is advised that the proposed Order, if confirmed, will not have any adverse effect on
the needs of agriculture and forestry and desirability of conserving flora, fauna and
geological and physiographical features. It is also suggested that the proposal will not
have an adverse effect on the biodiversity or natural beauty of the area.

Page 252



The majority of the existing route B-C and all of the new route A-D-E-C is within the
boundary of Black Lion Farm that is occupied and managed by the applicants but is
not registered with the Land Registry. The applicants have advised that they will be
able to prove title to the land but if they are not able to access the documents before
the order is made, notices will be erected on site directed at any owner of occupier of
the land.

The owners of the remainder of the existing route A-B, located in the former quarry
site have been consulted on the proposal and it is expected that they will not raise any
objection to the diversion proposal.

The applicants have agreed to bear all advertising and administrative charges incurred
by the county council in the Order making procedures, and also to defray any
compensation payable and any costs that are incurred in bringing the new site of the
footpath into a fit condition for use for the public.

Should the Committee agree that the proposed Order be made and, subsequently,
should no objections be received to the making of the Order, or should the Order be
submitted to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for
confirmation, it is considered that the criteria for confirming the Order can be satisfied.

It is felt that the path or way will not be substantially less convenient to the public in
consequence of the diversion because the new route is of similar length and gradient
to the exiting footpath, with the same number of gates.

It is suggested that, if the Order was to be confirmed, there would be no adverse effect
with respect to the public enjoyment of the footpath or way as a whole. The new
footpath will be fenced from the livestock and the working area of the farm, therefore
some users of the footpath may feel more comfortable and at ease when passing
through the property.

It is felt that there would be no adverse effect on the land served by the existing routes
or the land over which the new path is to be created, together with any land held with
it. Compensation for any material loss could be claimed by a landowner or someone
with rights to the land under the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 Section 28.
However such loss is not expected and if a claim were to arise, the compensation is
underwritten by the applicants.

It is also advised that the needs of disabled people have been actively considered and
as such, the proposal is compatible with the duty of the county council, as a Highway
Authority, under The Equality Act 2010. The new route will be of adequate width, firm
and well drained underfoot with no stiles. The two gates will conform to BS5709:2018.

Further, it is also advised that the effect of the Order is compatible with the material
provisions of the county council’s ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’.

It is considered that having regard to the above and all other relevant matters, it would
be expedient generally to confirm the Order.

Page 253



Stance on Submitting the Order for Confirmation (Annex C refers)

It is recommended that the county council should not necessarily promote every Order
submitted to the Secretary of State at public expense where there is little or no public
benefit and therefore it is suggested that in this instance the promotion of this diversion
to confirmation in the event of objections, which unlike the making of an Order is not
rechargeable to the applicant, is not undertaken by the county council. In the event of
an Order being submitted to the Secretary of State the applicant can support or
promote it to confirmation, including participation at public inquiry or hearing. It is
suggested that the authority takes a neutral stance.

Risk Management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this proposal. The Committee is advised that, provided the decision is taken in
accordance with the advice and guidance contained in Annexes B and C included in
the Agenda papers, and is based upon relevant information contained in the report,
there are no significant risks associated with the decision-making process.

Alternative options to be considered
To not agree that the Order be made.

To agree the Order be made but not yet be satisfied regarding the criteria for
confirmation and request a further report at a later date.

To agree that the Order be made and promoted to confirmation by the county
council.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel

File Ref: 211-692 Planning and Environment
Group

File Ref: PRW-9-15-27 Mrs R J Paulson,

07917 836628
Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 254



and Environment

Lancashire County Council

Diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton. Scale 1:1250 @A4

359750 359800 359850 359900 359950
> F —t y F L = S
= i [ | iy | 2l i =
o S
< Length to be diverted 0 125 25 50 Metres <
(A-B-C) 1t
- a» a» e rOPosed new footpath /
(A-D-E-C)

= = = = = = - Unaffected public right of way /
| \ ) A
§ §

\\\ 7@5.
= i =
k Lion Farm

o o
n n
o o
& &
< <
o o
o (=]
o o
& &
< <
o o
n n
[=2] (=2
o o
N N
< <
o o
o (=]
2 2
§ 359750 359800 359900 359950 8

Andrew Mullaney . . i :

Head of Planning Highways Act 1980 Section 119 DE?\;v_lgng:l/g W$E

S

This Map is reproduced from the 1:1250 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way
information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

Page 255




Page 256



358000 360000 362000 000000
]

T 5 Oflertdn Hall
H // i .I:-\
; 58 E ><Aquedurt Y L";
Tl —" Se / yHall e ('-f{
R R i e :
o L Top o' thl Lane-
o T , "'-r\\ i o
“ Fiquia S ] G
g4 ' ;
k 'Aqu_.;_d;f:c
SRS
| :
£
y 1 .
FlashsGreen Fapm
2
Higher L
g Wheelton e, \ g
g | Hightigid’ Wobdruff Fa =
Oo N |G';1-r s oo.dru Farm :)o
S Tl il v CleseGate [=3
4 Ly o Ve, 3 =]
A 4_ M . ! N ‘\ ATE Portland <
| T'_J L “ Farm, : é
If
¥ ¥ +Bs
S .
Top Lock .. -
Lowers % s Harb|
Dpt'h\l._.lf'st e p e Faf
- i = b,
= %ﬁg" /{_J
- A
L &
L = "V N ! oll
by o P ] | Logwood Fl
(Mgt Lang | f1 F i &;
: 4
‘Wherlbo
1= o
] ]
8 8
] o
8 8
o o
o o
[ =1
o o
QN [
< <
i
A
."‘”" ¢
‘i \6 e S A
St
AN
X .r.\ 5 wx'iuﬁ?{
L d Farm. < s"ix
i i . %{ g
Faisch 7l 0y e g
i
1
358000 360000 00000
Lancashire] Andrew Mullaney Location Plan N

County | Head of Planning Highways Act 1980 — Section 119 wfs
Council | and Environmen Diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27, Chorley Borough s

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed.
Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.
This Map is reproduced from the 1:24,000 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

Page 257



Page 258



65¢ obed

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of
Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm,
Wheelton,

Chorley Borough

Lancashire
County ‘@@:"bv
Council %&2.3?




09z 8bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Existing route to be diverted
C-B-A

Lancashire
County ‘@Q?r
Council (&,&:.3‘:7)




192 ebed

Lancashire

County ‘6"‘%?-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @g{)




29z 9bed

Lancashire

County -E=».
. A (%)
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({'ﬁ..‘)‘:)

r&




€9z abed

Lancashire

County ‘6"‘%?-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council (&g‘:?




9z 9bed

Lancashire
County ‘@Q:'?‘bv
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({'&:.3‘:)




Gog ebed

Lancashire
County W '\

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council @g
L/ 5

=




99z abed

Lancashire
County ‘@e?.

- g
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %Q‘P:
ST




192 obed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashwe




89z abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Proposed alternative route
C-E-D-A

Lancashire

County ‘6"%?-
Council t&Q




692 abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashire
County ‘@Q?v
Council (’{'&:.3?




0.z ebed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashire

County ‘@H%
Council @g



| /2 obed

Lancashire

County ‘6"‘%@-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council (&g‘:?




e
]
=
(]
o

£

=
7
o
(3]
=

il

W

Page 272



¢z obed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashwe

Council



/¢ ebed

Lancash.ige

County ‘({:;:9"
S
(2

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council



G/z ebed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Council

Lancashire
County ‘({;‘%%-

Y&



Page 276



Agenda ltem 9

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16 September 2020

Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Hoghton-with-Wheelton

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Wheelton 19 at Clovian House and
Miry Fold Farm, Briers Brow, Wheelton, Chorley Borough

(Annexes 'B' and 'C' refer)

Contact for further information:
Mrs R Paulson, Planning and Environment Group
07917 836628, ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary
The proposed diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19, Chorley Borough.
Recommendation

(1) That subject to no significantly adverse responses to the consultations, an
Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert part
of Footpath Wheelton 19, from the route shown by a bold continuous line
and marked A-B to the route shown by a bold broken line and marked A-C-
D-E-F on the attached map.

(i) That in the event of no objections being received, the Order be confirmed
and in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn, the Order
be sent to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and the Authority take a neutral stance with respect to its
confirmation.

(i)  That provision be included in the Order such that it is also made under
Section 53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in consequence of
the coming into operation of the diversion.

Background

The owners of Clovian House and Miry Fold Farm, Briers Brow, Wheelton have
applied to Lancashire County Council for an Order to be made under Section 119 of
the Highways Act 1980, to divert part of Footpath Wheelton 19, Chorley Borough.

Lancashire
County ‘6;:@?.
Council ?&:.3{)

Page 277


mailto:hannah.baron@lancashire.gov.uk

Clovian House and Miry Fold Farm are residential dwellings that were part of a small
development on the site that was granted planning permission in 2015. Whilst the
development was ongoing, for safety reasons the footpath was temporarily diverted to
the edge of the site, onto the alignment of the proposed new route A-C-D-E-F.

The current owners were not involved in the original planning application and have
only recently become aware that the necessary order has not been made to
permanently divert the footpath onto the alternative route that is available to be walked
on the ground. Now that the current owners are aware of this, they wish to regularise
the situation. If the diversion is successful it will remove the footpath that runs through
the building, boundary fence, hedge and boundary wall of one of the houses and also
across the gardens.

The length of existing path to be diverted is shown by a bold continuous line and
marked on the attached map as A-B, and the proposed new route is shown by a bold
broken line and marked A-C-D-E-F.

Consultations

Chorley Borough Council and Heapey and Wheelton Parish Councils have been
consulted and at the time of writing, their responses are awaited. The Peak and
Northern Footpaths Society and the Chorley branch of the Ramblers have been
consulted and at the time of writing, their responses are also awaited.

The consultation with the statutory undertakers has been carried out and, at the time
of writing, no objections or adverse comments on the proposal have been received.

Advice

Points annotating the routes on the attached map

Point Grid Reference | Description

A SD 6091 2091 | Point west of the footpath ditch crossing, at the south
east boundary of Clovian House.

B SD 6083 2097 | Junction of Footpaths Wheelton 16 and 19.

C SD 6091 2092 | Point at the south corner of the field adjacent to Clovian
House.

D SD 6087 2095 | Gate in the field boundary fence between Clovian House

and Miry fold Farm at the south west edge of the field.

E SD 6084 2097 | Gate in the field boundary fence at Miry fold Farm at
the south west edge of the field.

Page 278



F SD 6083 2097 | Point on the access track, approximately 5 metres
north east of the current junction of Footpaths
Wheelton 16 and 19.

Description of existing footpath to be diverted

That part of Footpath Wheelton 19 as described below and shown by a bold
continuous line marked A-B on the attached map. (All lengths and compass points
given are approximate).

COMPASS LENGTH
FROM T0 DIRECTION (metres) WIDTH
A B NwW 90 The entire width

Description of new footpath

Footpath as described below and shown by a bold broken line A-C-D-E-F on the
attached map. (All lengths and compass points given are approximate).

FROM TO COMPASS |LENGTH | WIDTH OTHER
DIRECTION | (metres) |(metres)| INFORMATION
A C NNE 10 2 Compacted stone
C D NW 50 2 Grass
D E NW 30 2 Grass
E F Generally 10 2 Compacted stone
WNW P

The public footpath to be created by the proposed Order will be subject to the following
limitations and conditions:

Limitations and Conditions Position

The right of the owner of the soil to Grid Reference SD 6087 2095
erect and maintain a gate that (point D)

conforms to BS 5709:2018

The right of the owner of the soil to Grid Reference SD 6084 2097
erect and maintain a gate that (point E)

conforms to BS 5709:2018

Page 279




Variation to the particulars of the path recorded on the Definitive Statement

If this application is approved by the Regulatory Committee, the Head of Service
Planning and Environment suggests that Order should also specify that the Definitive
Statement for Footpath Wheelton 19 be amended to read as follows:

The 'Position' column to read:

"From Footpath Wheelton 16 at Miry Fold Farm SD 6083 2097, running
generally east south east for 90 metres as a stone then grass surfaced footpath
to SD 6091 2092 then south south west for 10 metres as a stone surfaced
footpath to SD 6091 2091, then continuing to join Footpath Wheelton 21 near
Logwood Mill Farm. (All lengths and compass points given are approximate).”

The 'length’ column be amended to read:
"0.80 km"

The 'Other Particulars' column be amended to read:

"The only limitations on the section between SD 6083 2097 and SD 6091 2091
is the right of the owner of the soil to erect and maintain gates that conform to
BS 5709:2018 at SD 6085 2097 and SD 6087 2095. The width between
SD 6083 2097 and SD 6091 2091 is 2 metres."

Criteria satisfied to make and confirm the Order

To make a Diversion Order under section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, the county
council must be satisfied that it appears expedient, in the interests of the owner, lessee
or occupier of land crossed by the footpath or of the public, to divert the said footpath
or part thereof (whether or not on to land of the same or different owner, lessee or
occupier).

The majority of the existing route and of the proposed new route is in the ownership
of the applicants. A small length of both the existing footpath and the new route
crosses land that is in different ownership. The owner of that land has been consulted
and has confirmed that they will not raise any objection to the diversion proposal.

The proposed diversion is expedient in the interests of the owners of the land crossed
by the existing route, as it would remove the footpath that runs through the building,
boundary fence, hedge and wall of one of the houses and across the gardens. The
new footpath is proposed to run outside the residential areas, enabling the existing
obstructions on the footpath to be retained and provide the residents with an
improvement in privacy and security.

With regards to the obstructions on the footpath, under normal circumstances the
landowner would be required to ensure that the existing definitive route is available for
use before a Diversion Order is considered. This enables the proposed new route to
be easily evaluated in comparison with the existing route although it is advised that
temporary obstructions are ignored.

Page 280



However, in some instances, the restoration of the route is considered to be
impracticable, disproportionate or not in the interests of the user and that the existing
route can be inspected notwithstanding the obstruction. In this case, due to the
boundary fence, hedges and walls of Clovian House, it is not possible to see the
existing route in its entirety but it is obvious that it is a house and garden and it is
suggested that not being able to see all of the existing footpath will not adversely affect
the ability to evaluate the merits of the diversion when comparing both routes.

The legislation requires that if the termination point of a footpath is proposed to be
altered, then the authority may only make a Diversion Order if the new termination
point is on the same path or a path connected to it and is substantially as convenient
to the public.

The proposed diversion will alter the western point of termination of Footpath Wheelton
19 and place it at another point on Footpath Wheelton 16, being the same highway
approximately 5 metres north east of the existing termination point. It is suggested
therefore, that the proposed termination point is substantially as convenient to the
public. This proposed diversion will not alter the eastern points of termination of
Footpath Wheelton 19, therefore it is not necessary to consider the criteria concerning
the alteration of that particular termination point.

There is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under, in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route, of which we are
aware at the time of writing.

It is advised that the proposed Order, if confirmed, will not have any adverse effect on
the needs of agriculture and forestry and desirability of conserving flora, fauna and
geological and physiographical features. It is also suggested that the proposal will not
have an adverse effect on the biodiversity or natural beauty of the area.

The applicants have agreed to bear all advertising and administrative charges incurred
by the county council in the Order making procedures, and also to defray any
compensation payable and any costs that are incurred in bringing the new site of the
footpath into a fit condition for use for the public.

The Committee are advised that so much of the Order as extinguishes part of Footpath
Wheelton 19, is not to come into force until the county council has certified that any
necessary work to the new footpath has been carried out.

Should the Committee agree that the proposed Order be made and, subsequently,
should no objections be received to the making of the Order, or should the Order be
submitted to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for
confirmation, it is considered that the criteria for confirming the Order can be satisfied.

It is felt that, if the Order were to be confirmed, the new path or way will not be
substantially less convenient to the public in consequence of the diversion because
the new route is of similar length and gradient to the exiting footpath. It is proposed
that there will be two gates on the new footpath at the points where it crosses the field
boundaries of two separate paddocks. The gates will conform to the British Standard
for gates, gaps as stiles (BS 5709:2018) and as such will be easy to use.

Page 281



It is suggested that, if the Order were to be confirmed, there would be no adverse
effect with respect to the public enjoyment of the footpath or way as a whole. The new
footpath, being located on the field edge will provide open views of the countryside,
whereas the current footpath runs over gardens and through the one of the properties.
It is suggested, therefore that the footpath would be more in keeping with a walk in the
countryside, provide improved views and as it does not cross the residential areas of
the site, users of the footpath will feel more comfortable walking on the new footpath.

It is felt that there would be no adverse effect on the land served by the existing routes
or the land over which the new path is to be created, together with any land held with
it. Compensation for any material loss could be claimed by a landowner or someone
with rights to the land under the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 Section 28.
However such loss is not expected and if a claim were to arise, the compensation is
underwritten by the applicants.

It is also advised that the needs of disabled people have been actively considered and
as such, the proposal is compatible with the duty of the county council, as a Highway
Authority, under The Equality Act 2010. The new route will be of adequate width, firm
and well drained underfoot with no stiles. The two gates will conform to BS5709:2018.

Further, it is also advised that the effect of the Order is compatible with the material
provisions of the county council’s ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’.

It is considered that having regard to the above and all other relevant matters, it would
be expedient generally to confirm the Order.

Stance on Submitting the Order for Confirmation (Annex C refers)

It is recommended that the county council should not necessarily promote every Order
submitted to the Secretary of State at public expense where there is little or no public
benefit and therefore it is suggested that in this instance the promotion of this diversion
to confirmation in the event of objections, which unlike the making of an Order is not
rechargeable to the applicant, is not undertaken by the county council. In the event of
an Order being submitted to the Secretary of State the applicant can support or
promote it to confirmation, including participation at public inquiry or hearing. It is
suggested that the authority takes a neutral stance.

Risk Management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this proposal. The Committee is advised that, provided the decision is taken in
accordance with the advice and guidance contained in Annexes B and C included in
the Agenda papers, and is based upon relevant information contained in the report,
there are no significant risks associated with the decision-making process.

Alternative options to be considered
To not agree that the Order be made.

To agree the Order be made but not yet be satisfied regarding the criteria for
confirmation and request a further report at a later date.

Page 282



To agree that the Order be made and promoted to confirmation by the county
council.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel

File Ref: 211- 725 Planning and Environment
Group

File Ref: PRW-9-21-19 Mrs R J Paulson,

07917 836628
Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 283



Page 284



421050

421000

420950

420900

360800 360850 360900 360950
‘ ‘ J',l J"’J
Length to be diverted ,":J
(A-B) X
Proposed new footpath
- a» a» a» (A-C-D-E-F) K ’/
- = = = = = = Unaffected public right of way K
r ’/ . 2
\ R 3
<
0 10 20 40 Metres
—————t—t—
o
e
8
o
n
=
<
o
(=3
=
<
360800 360850 360900 360950
Andrew Mullaney Highways Act 1980 Section 119 s
Flead of Planning Diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19 (9-21-FP19) D;ﬂ\/_i;szzsl:l/g:

Lancashire County Council

at Clovian House, Briers Brow, Chorley Borough.

Scale 1:800 @A4

This Map is reproduced from the 1:1000 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way

information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

Page 285




Page 286



360000 """ 36200000000
|

s ) Bty 24 Dlierton Hall'y
-a».\<*;~\ .-' / .t :
el ;:' B\\f‘:qucduu 5 S

% Brewerth Fold Wicknell Fold,
= Fa P it

P

bt 3 ar

e . ) Hill Faren
ﬁ“‘ Il F g -

s
e 2y,

Far,

re
N
# 7
P
CH™,
i . L Ly )
J|GHiF¥2"|nﬂd dodruff Farm
ol rse

Close-Gate
& Farm

422000

phifiald Farm: 5
7 Brine]
7 ARt

( Pz Sta Sguﬁ/

J;H é’ £ S < ' _ - ffon_l{fﬁi.:.:f i

AN ]
e
==t :

422000

420000

360000

Lancashire] Andrew Mullaney Location Plan N
County | Head of Planning Highways Act 1980 — Section 119 w<g}>E
Council | and Environment Diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19, Chorley Borough s

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed.
Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.
This Map is reproduced from the 1:24,000 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

Page 287

420000




Page 288



682 9bed

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath
Wheelton 19 at Clovian House and Miry Fold
Farm, Briers Brow, Wheelton, Chorley Borough

Lancashire
County ‘@Q:"bv
Council (,?&:'3‘{)




062 8bed

Existing footpath proposed to be diverted

A-B

Lancashire
: County ‘6"‘::9?'
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %&:.33




Point A
Current line red, proposed route yellow

-, A

|6¢ ebed

Lancashire
- County ‘@Q?v
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %&:38




Z62 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.

L i
Sncaslxe
Council %ﬁ.’




€62 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancas

County ‘(‘*:.
Council \&s2i



Page 294

e
]
=
o
g
£
=
0
o
(3]
=
L
W




G6Z obed

Lancashire
County ‘6;:??.
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {g’




96¢ 8bed

r
Lemontie

A A
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {
L/

g
=

¢



16¢ 9bed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Proposed alternative route

A-C-D-E-F

Lancashire
County ‘6;}?.
Council @&:.3?




86¢ abed

Lancashire

County ,6;:...%,

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {




662 9bed

\r
Lancashire

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ({"%‘:)
L/ 5




00¢ abed

\r
Lancashire

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council (‘,%3
L/ 5




L0g ebed

Lancashire
County ‘6;}?.
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ("&.g‘:)




Z0¢€ abed

\r
Lancashire

A
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council {Q‘.’)‘:)
ST




€0¢ abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashire

County ‘6"%?-
Council {gg




Page 304



Agenda ltem 10

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16 September 2020

Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Pendle Rural

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm,
Wycoller Road, Trawden, Pendle Borough

(Annexes 'B' and 'C' refer)

Contact for further information:
Mrs R Paulson, Planning and Environment Group
07917 836628, ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary
The proposed diversion of part of Footpath Trawden 188, Pendle Borough.
Recommendation

(1) That subject to no significantly adverse responses to the consultations, an
Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert part
of Footpath Trawden 188, from the route shown by a bold continuous line
and marked A-B-C to the route shown by a bold broken line and marked A-
D-E on the attached map.

(i) That in the event of no objections being received, the Order be confirmed
and in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn, the Order
be sent to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and the Authority take a neutral stance with respect to its
confirmation.

(i)  That provision be included in the Order such that it is also made under
Section 53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in consequence of
the coming into operation of the diversion.

Background

The owner of Parson Lee Farm, has applied to Lancashire County Council for an Order
to be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, to divert part of Footpath
Trawden 188, Pendle Borough.

Lancashire
County ‘6;:@?.
Council ?&:.3{)

Page 305


mailto:hannah.baron@lancashire.gov.uk

The current owner was not aware that the recorded route of the footpath is obstructed
by an agricultural barn when she purchased the property.

The length of existing path to be diverted is shown by a bold continuous line and
marked on the attached map as A-B-C, and the proposed new route is shown by a
bold broken line and marked A-D-E.

Consultations

Pendle Borough Council and Trawden Parish Council have been consulted and at the
time of writing, their responses are awaited. The Peak and Northern Footpaths Society
and the Pendle branch of the Ramblers have been consulted and at the time of writing,
their responses are also awaited.

The consultation with the statutory undertakers has been carried out and, at the time
of writing, no objections or adverse comments on the proposal have been received.

Advice

Points annotating the routes on the attached map

Point Grid Reference | Description

A SD 9409 3861 | Unmarked point in field, north east of the field boundary
that is between the pasture field and the field that is
located to the south of the barn at Parson Lee Farm.

B SD 9413 3868 | Point on the field boundary between the pasture field and
the field that is located to the south of the barn at Parson
Lee Farm.

C SD 9420 3873 | Junction of Footpath Trawden 188 and Keighley Road.

D SD 9411 3873 | Culvert crossing of the brook that is located to the west

of Parson Lee Farm.

E SD 9411 3873 | Pedestrian gate in the field boundary between Parson
Lee Farm and Keighley Road.

Description of existing footpath to be diverted
That part of Footpath Trawden 188 as described below and shown by a bold

continuous line marked A-B-C on the attached map. (All lengths and compass points
given are approximate).

Page 306



COMPASS LENGTH

FROM TO DIRECTION (metres) WIDTH
Generally . ,
A B NNE 80 The entire width
B C Ger,‘\leéa”y 80 The entire width

Description of new footpath

Footpath as described below and shown by a bold broken line A-D-E on the attached
map. (All lengths and compass points given are approximate).

EROM TO COMPASS |LENGTH | WIDTH OTHER
DIRECTION | (metres) |(metres)| INFORMATION
A D Generally 120 5 Grass and
N compacted stone
D E E 5 5 Compacted stone
and grass

The public footpath to be created by the proposed Order will be subject to the following
limitations and conditions:

Limitations and Conditions Position

The right of the owner of the soil to Grid Reference SD 9411 3873
erect and maintain a gate that (point E)

conforms to BS 5709:2018

Variation to the particulars of the path recorded on the Definitive Statement

If this application is approved by the Regulatory Committee, the Head of Service
Planning and Environment suggests that Order should also specify that the Definitive
Statement for Footpath Trawden 188 be amended to read as follows:

The 'Position' column to read:

"Dean House Farm to SD 9409 3861, generally north for 120 meters to SD 9411 3873
at a culvert crossing of the brook that is located to the west of Parson Lee Farm., then
east for 5 metres to the junction with Keighley Road at a pedestrian gate in the field
boundary between Parson Lee Farm and Keighley Road at SD 9411 3873.

(All lengths and compass points given are approximate).”

The ‘'length’ column be amended to read:
"0.25km"

Page 307




The 'Other Particulars' column be amended to read:

"The only limitation on the section between SD 9409 3861 and SD 9411 3873
is the right of the owner of the soil to erect and maintain a gate that conforms
to BS 5709:2018 at SD 9411 3873. The width between SD 9409 3861 and
SD 9411 3873 is 2 metres."

Criteria satisfied to make and confirm the Order

The proposed diversion is expedient in the interests of the owner of the land, as it
would remove the footpath that runs through a farm building, a boundary fence and an
area of rough ground, crossed by a deep ditch that has no provision of a bridge or
ditch crossing to provide a safe and convenient crossing point.

With regards to the obstruction of the barn, under normal circumstances the landowner
would be required to ensure that the existing definitive route is available for use before
a Diversion Order is considered. This enables the proposed new route to be easily
evaluated in comparison with the existing route although it is advised that temporary
obstructions are ignored.

However, in some instances, the restoration of the route is considered to be
impracticable, disproportionate or not in the interests of users it is suggested that not
being able to see all of the existing footpath, due to the building on the footpath will
not adversely affect the ability to evaluate the merits of the diversion when comparing
both routes.

The legislation requires that if the termination point of a footpath is proposed to be
altered, then the authority may only make a Diversion Order if the new termination
point is on the same path or a path connected to it and is substantially as convenient
to the public.

The proposed diversion will alter the northern point of termination of Footpath Trawden
188 and place it at another point on Keighley Road, being the same highway. It is
suggested therefore, that the proposed termination point is substantially as convenient
to the public. This proposed diversion will not alter the southern point of termination of
Footpath Trawden 188, therefore it is not necessary to consider the criteria concerning
the alteration of that particular termination point.

The Committee are advised that so much of the Order as extinguishes part of Footpath
Trawden 188, is not to come into force until the county council has certified that any
necessary work to the new footpath has been carried out.

There is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under, in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route, of which we are
aware at the time of writing.

It is advised that the proposed Order, if confirmed, will not have any adverse effect on
the needs of agriculture and forestry and desirability of conserving flora, fauna and
geological and physiographical features. It is also suggested that the proposal will not
have an adverse effect on the biodiversity or natural beauty of the area.

Page 308



All of the existing route and of the new route is in the ownership of the applicant.

The applicant has agreed to bear all advertising and administrative charges incurred
by the county council in the Order making procedures, and also to defray any
compensation payable and any costs that are incurred in bringing the new site of the
footpath into a fit condition for use for the public.

Should the Committee agree that the proposed Order be made and, subsequently,
should no objections be received to the making of the Order, or should the Order be
submitted to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for
confirmation, it is considered that the criteria for confirming the Order can be satisfied.

It is felt that the path or way will not be substantially less convenient to the public in
consequence of the diversion because the new route is of similar length and gradient
to the exiting footpath. It is proposed that there will be one gate on the new footpath
at the point where it crosses the field boundary at the roadside. The gate will conform
to the British Standard for gates, gaps as stiles (BS:5709:2018) and as such will be
easy to use.

It is suggested that, if the Order was to be confirmed, there would be no adverse effect
with respect to the public enjoyment of the footpath or way as a whole. The new
footpath will provide the similar open views of the countryside and avoid the need to
negotiate the steep embankment and deep ditch. If the diversion is successful, it will
provide an obvious, safe and convenient footpath away from the buildings at Parson
Lee Farm. Therefore, users of the footpath are likely to find the new route easier to
use and feel more comfortable than the existing route.

It is felt that there would be no adverse effect on the land served by the existing route
or the land over which the new path is to be created, together with any land held with
it. Compensation for any material loss could be claimed by a landowner or someone
with rights to the land under the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 Section 28.It is
noted that all the land crossed by the existing and proposed alternative route are in
the ownership of the applicant, therefore such loss is not expected and if a claim were
to arise, the compensation is underwritten by the applicant.

It is also advised that the needs of disabled people have been actively considered and
as such, the proposal is compatible with the duty of the county council, as a Highway
Authority, under The Equality Act 2010. The new route will be of adequate width, firm
and well drained underfoot with no stiles. There is proposed to be one gate and that
will conform to BS5709:2018.

Further, it is also advised that the effect of the Order is compatible with the material
provisions of the county council’s ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’.

It is considered that having regard to the above and all other relevant matters, it would
be expedient generally to confirm the Order.

Page 309



Stance on Submitting the Order for Confirmation (Annex C refers)

It is recommended that the county council should not necessarily promote every Order
submitted to the Secretary of State at public expense where there is little or no public
benefit and therefore it is suggested that in this instance the promotion of this diversion
to confirmation in the event of objections, which unlike the making of an Order is not
rechargeable to the applicant, is not undertaken by the county council. In the event of
an Order being submitted to the Secretary of State the applicant can support or
promote it to confirmation, including participation at public inquiry or hearing. It is
suggested that the authority takes a neutral stance.

Risk Management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this proposal. The Committee is advised that, provided the decision is taken in
accordance with the advice and guidance contained in Annexes B and C included in
the Agenda papers, and is based upon relevant information contained in the report,
there are no significant risks associated with the decision-making process.

Alternative options to be considered
To not agree that the Order be made.

To agree the Order be made but not yet be satisfied regarding the criteria for
confirmation and request a further report at a later date.

To agree that the Order be made and promoted to confirmation by the county council.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel

File Ref: 211-686 Planning and Environment
Group

File Ref: PRW-13-7-188- Mrs R J Paulson,

07917 836628
Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 310



438800

438750

438700

438650

438600

394050 394100 394150 394200 394250
1 1
\
Length to be diverted \
(A-B-C) \
a» a» e "roprosednew footpath \ g
- (A-D-E) o o
Y *
= = == == == Unaffected public right of way \l% Q
| . \>
\ . M \(g
\
\
\
\
Stones o
= wn
~
[
(3
<
Parson
o
o
N~
©
(3
<
o
n
©
©
[
<
e
»\%Q; 7 )
/\IQY/ §
N, Q
e
e
7
”
”
|~
0 125 25 50 Metres
L 1 1 1 ] 1 1 1 [
I v T T T T T T 1
- 1 1
1 1
394050 394100 394150 394200 394250

Andrew Mullaney

Head of Planning

and Environment
Lancashire County Council

Contact:-
Ros Paulson
Public Rights of Way

ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk|

01772 532459

PUBLIC PATH DIVERSION AND DEFINITIVE MAP
AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER
HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981
LANCASHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PART OF FOOTPATH TRAWDEN 188 (13-7-188)
AT PARSON LEE FARM, KEITHLEY ROAD, TRAWDEN, WYCOLLER
PUBLIC PATH DIVERSION ORDER 2020

N

s

S

Plan no:
211-686v2

Scale 1:1250 @A4

This Map is reproduced from the 1:1250 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320
The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way
information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

Page 311




Page 312



392000 394000 396000
|
[ P R Hart HiH
_-':""F{u“clwn i —‘—‘—‘ﬁ\\ 96
Trc:u.. Fishery }%o’bcn ‘9 nghcrua
Laithe, . Ying Scary
: N «’*‘1@ £
5 Shc!:p‘fold % \"“ 25
Emmett Moar }
-'y Emmott Huul'r. Iilu‘. :
o B 1 o
(=] [=]
(= (=1
o o
< <
< <
T ‘HEIgh{'\'ll.BI{hE ] g,\cr;‘if;sn 4
A R !
L -]
Combe Hill S
"z
Litthe ik | r"f
e = e \*_ i Opio}aa/né' =
= Hishbr Kc ! \\“"‘ \N\ k. ."i// el T |
Sz!}!ltzs,Farr:\..,_\“= N Gombe | I
e o i \Fou11be wHilb Cross A0 Tt
= - Heiugn. Ehoiibe Bl Lt ell oss ll
> Lross I
- | lremains of | 1
:éhccP{old L Hd \ﬁx f
use
‘—‘"-'}:g?i‘eepfdd\{/ X "‘.3 ‘t.:s
= Great . é /f .' 3 4@\_‘
i Hill /\ \* -\. B W
Farm,\ N, }9 \\ g \ b ; Barn H||| ar
>"\ Ll [5% Wiycotter Arkl
g f[r :efFore»\s\;'t of Frawden Dove Stones Mogr : s
§ q \ g Sheep{ql\;d Sheed! & End‘ Drove Sranes §
¢ Nspeepicia \\’ /Fld.kl: Hilloor | ~ 43 F”:m g
W, Fence Moor
/\ D
VDEPSROBESY, f\ X v
ubiuck Hili Scar
T4, Stm:k Hilt M v I
5 Sardy Hill - Moor
Chowmill]
Bread Head Mo;r‘ \-
L - b . i
Bréad Hazd v Crow Hill Wague 1\':7‘.?{__.
Stanes i Ovc\"\q/"‘
Pot Brinks Moot/ il ¢ P <
; — . Ao s, .
= L Walsiaw } N
i e Deaa '-{ea" iy
\Saucer Hote i ToBS : GRS
- “Rownd-Hole =~ : Greta:j_n;;crr > FﬁK S i | ?‘_‘a?f'/-- -\—-. 3 ¥
3 At A ; - : : sy . Vg ,_\.'5""“,{ - Jack_wn 5 RH:Ige_Fir_l:_ | ]
]t E-. Little Chair Litele Saucer i 1 { W 2 5 G
|/ Bedding H|I-1 Mcu:tr Stomes W Srones il : o
(=]
392000 394000 396000 §
<
Lancashire] Andrew Mullaney Location Plan N
County | Head of Planning Highways Act 1980 — Section 119 W%E
Council | and Environment | Proposed Diversion of part of Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm, Pendle Borough. g

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed.
Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from the 1:24,000 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

Page 313



Page 314



Gl¢ abed

Highways Act 1980 — Section 119
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Diversion of Part of
Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm,
Wycoller Road, Trawden, Pendle Borough.

Lancashire
County ‘@Q:"bv
Council (,?&:'3‘{)




91¢ abed

Existing footpath proposed to be diverted

A-B-C

Lancashire
: County ‘6"‘::9?'
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %&:.33




,1€ obed

Lancashire
County ‘6‘%?-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?&g‘?




8l ¢ abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9?-

A )
Council ?&g{




61¢ abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancashire
County ‘6‘-‘:9@-

A )
Council ?&g{




0z¢g abed

www.lancashire.gov.

i
Sncaslxe
Council %ﬁ.’




Lz¢ ebed

Lancashire
County ‘@9'?;3.

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %‘é’:‘%")
L/ 5




zzs abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

County -
Council

Lancash.ige

6;,“..

%“



cze abed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Proposed alternative route
A-D-E

Lancashire
County ‘@Q?r
Council (&,&:}?




yzg abed

Lancashire

County Gz
Council ?&g‘?

www.lancashire.gov.uk



Geg obed

www.lancashire.gov.uk

Lancas

Council

q

County ‘6’:9"-3.
& ‘.gg



9z¢ abed

www.lancashire.gov.

Lancas

County -
Council




Page 327

=
(]
i
£
=
7
o
(3]
=
il
W




gz¢ abed

Lancashire

County ‘6‘*‘%@-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?&'3‘{)




Agenda Iltem 11

Regulatory Committee
Meeting to be held on 16 September 2020

| Part |

Electoral Division affected:
Mid Rossendale

Highways Act 1980 — Section 118

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Extinguishment of Part of the Recorded Route of Footpath
Rawtenstall 205, From Windsor Avenue to Staghills Road, Rossendale
Borough

(Annexes 'B' and 'C' refer)

Contact for further information:
Mrs R Paulson, Planning and Environment Group
07917 836628, ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

The proposed extinguishment of part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Rossendale
Borough.

Recommendation

(1) That subject to no significantly adverse responses to the consultations, an
Order be made under Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980 to extinguish
part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, on the route shown by a bold continuous
line and marked A-B-C on the attached map.

(i) That in the event of no objections being received, the Order be confirmed
and in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn, the Order
be sent to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and the Authority take a neutral stance with respect to its
confirmation.

(i)  That provision be included in the Order such that it is also made under
Section 53A of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in consequence of
the coming into operation of the extinguishment order.

Background

An application has been received from the person authorised to act on behalf of the
registered owners of 25 Windsor Avenue for an Order to be made under Section 118
of the Highways Act 1980, to extinguish part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Rossendale

Lancashire
County ‘6;:@?.
Council ?&:.3{)

Page 329


mailto:hannah.baron@lancashire.gov.uk

Borough that crosses three properties on a housing estate that was built in the mid
1950's.

The applicant's parents moved to 25 Windsor Avenue in 1954 and lived in the house,
firstly as tenants of Rossendale Borough Council local authority housing scheme then
subsequently purchasing the property from the local authority in 1981.

At no point in the applicant's parents' tenancy, or during their time as owners of the
property had they ever been made aware that a public right of way recorded on the
Definitive Map and Statement for Public Rights of Way crossed their property.

A local authority search, carried out in connection with the sale of the property,
revealed that a public footpath is recorded passing through 25 Windsor Avenue and
the properties to the rear, 104 and 106 Staghills Road.

Rossendale Borough Council and Lancashire County Council do not have any record
that a legal order has been made to divert, stop up or extinguish any part of the
footpath.

The length of existing path proposed to be extinguished is shown by a bold continuous
line and marked on the attached map as A-B-C.

Consultations

Rossendale Borough Council been consulted and at the time of writing, the response
is awaited. The Peak and Northern Footpaths Society and the Rossendale branch of
the Ramblers have been consulted and at the time of writing, their responses are also
awaited.

The consultation with the statutory undertakers has been carried out and, at the time
of writing, no objections or adverse comments on the proposal have been received.

Advice

Points annotating the routes on the attached map

Point Grid Reference | Description

A SD 8323 2235 | Junction of Footpath Rawtenstall 205 and the northern
boundary of 25 Windsor Avenue.

B SD 8322 2233 | Point where Footpath Rawtenstall 205 crosses the
southern boundary of 25 Windsor Avenue and the
northern boundary of 104 Staghills Road.

C SD 8322 2231 | Junction of Footpath Rawtenstall 205 and the southern
edge of the boundary between104 and 106 Staghills
Road.

Page 330



Description of existing footpath to be extinguished
(All lengths and compass points given are approximate).

The entire width of that part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, commencing at Point A,
running south-south-west for 20 metres, crossing 25 Windsor Avenue to point B then
south for 15 metres, crossing 104 and 106 Staghills Road to point C.

Variation to the particulars of the path recorded on the Definitive Statement

If this application is approved by the Regulatory Committee, the Head of Service
Planning and Environment suggests that Order should also specify that the Definitive
Statement for Footpath Rawtenstall 205 be amended to read as follows:

The 'Position' column to read:

"From Dark Lane from Church Street, Newchurch S to terminate at the northern
boundary of 25 Windsor Avenue at SD 8323 2235. The section of footpath between
SD 8323 2235 and SD 8322 2231 has been extinguished. At the southern edge of
the boundary between104 and 106 Staghills Road at SD 8322 2231 the footpath
then runs to Bacup Road.

The 'length’ column be amended to read:
"0.78 km"

Criteria satisfied to make and confirm the Order

The proposed Order meets the criteria for an extinguishment of a public right of way
under section 118 of the Highways Act 1980, i.e. that it is expedient that the path
should be stopped up on the grounds that it is not needed for public use.

The footway of Windsor Avenue and Staghills Road provides a safe and convenient
link to either end of that part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205 that is proposed to be
extinguished.

Since the houses were built over 67 years ago, there has not been a footpath available
to be walked on the ground. Since that time the footpath has been obstructed by the
houses, fences, walls and front and back gardens.

There is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under, in, upon,
over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route, of which we are
aware at the time of writing.

It is advised that the proposed Order, if confirmed, will not have any adverse effect on
the needs of agriculture and forestry and desirability of conserving flora, fauna and
geological and physiographical features. It is also suggested that the proposal will not
have an adverse effect on the biodiversity or natural beauty of the area.

The applicant is authorised to act on behalf of the registered owners of 25 Windsor
Avenue, crossed by the length to be stopped up, marked A-B. There are two other

Page 331



properties that are crossed by the length of Footpath Rawtenstall 205 proposed to be
stopped up. The owners of those properties have been consulted and are not expected
to raise any objection to the extinguishment proposal.

The applicant has agreed to bear all advertising and administrative charges incurred
by the county council in the Order making procedures.

It is also advised that the needs of disabled people have been actively considered and
the availability of the footways of Windsor Road and Staghills Road have been taken
into consideration and therefore the proposal is compatible with the duty of the county
council, as a Highway Authority, under The Equality Act 2010.

Further, it is also advised that the effect of the Order is compatible with the material
provisions of the county council’s ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’.

It is considered that having regard to the above and all other relevant matters, it would
be expedient generally to confirm the Order.

Stance on Submitting the Order for Confirmation (Annex C refers)

It is recommended that the county council should not necessarily promote every Order
submitted to the Secretary of State at public expense where there is little or no public
benefit and therefore it is suggested that in this instance the promotion of this
extinguishment to confirmation in the event of objections, which unlike the making of
an Order is not rechargeable to the applicant, is not undertaken by the county council.
In the event of an Order being submitted to the Secretary of State the applicant can
support or promote it to confirmation, including participation at public inquiry or
hearing. It is suggested that the authority takes a neutral stance.

Risk Management

Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with
this proposal. The Committee is advised that, provided the decision is taken in
accordance with the advice and guidance contained in Annexes B and C included in
the Agenda papers, and is based upon relevant information contained in the report,
there are no significant risks associated with the decision-making process.

Alternative options to be considered
To not agree that the Order be made.

To agree the Order be made but not yet be satisfied regarding the criteria for
confirmation and request a further report at a later date.

To agree that the Order be made and promoted to confirmation by the county
council.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 20585
List of Background Papers

Page 332



Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel

File Ref: 211- 727 Planning and Environment
Group
File Ref: PRW-9-21-205 Mrs R J Paulson,

07917 836628
Reason for inclusion in Part Il, if appropriate

N/A

Page 333



Page 334



422400

422350

422300

422250

383200

383250

383300

b e T~
[ e 77
Length to be extinguished
(A-B-C) B
= = == = == Unaffected public right of way .:‘r' i
i
& -3
\ - N
vy "'-.._' N
- <
10 20 Meters
o
n
[
N
N
<
o
o
[
N
N
<
o
n
S
383200 383250 383300 q

Andrew Mullaney
Head of Planning
and Environment

Lancashire County Council

Contact:-
Ros Paulson
Public Rights of Way

ros.paulson@lancashire.gov.uk

01772 532459

Highways Act 1980 Section 118

Extinguishment of part of the recorded route of Footpath
Rawtenstall 205, Rossendale,

Windsor Avenue to Staghills Road.

Scale 1: 800 @A4

Plan No:
211-727v2

This Map is reproduced from the 1:800 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infrin?es Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

The digitised Rights o

Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Rights of Way
information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

Page 335



Page 336



382000 000000

384000 000000

Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Windsor Avenue to Staghills Road, Rossendale Borough.

: <
g [=3
3 =]
3 <
< N
N <
° H
g [=3
g (=]
g N
< N
N <
i T
\'nr__calﬂr' I'e?_-:
<k Cowpe Lawe
S “440
: 3
g [=]
g [=]
§ [=]
< N
N ¥ <
Cragg Quarry =
[dizigead]
382000 000000 384000 000000
Lancashire| Andrew Mullaney _ Location Plan . .
Count Head of Planning Highways Act 1980 — Section 118 . .
Councsill and Environment Proposed Extinguishment of Part of the Recorded Route of %E’

The digitised Rights of Way information should be used for guidance only as its accuracy cannot be guaranteed.
Rights of Way information must be verified on the current Definitive Map before being supplied or used for any purpose.

This Map is reproduced from the 1:24,000 Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to Prosecution or civil proceedings. Lancashire County Council Licence No. 100023320

Page 337



Page 338



6c€ abed

Highways Act 1980 — Section 118
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Section 53A

Proposed Extinguishment of Part of the Recorded
Route of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, From Windsor
Avenue to Staghills Road, Rossendale Borough.

Lancashire
County ‘@Q:"bv
Council %&2.3?




o€ abed

\r
Lancashire

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %‘:)
L/ 5




L€ ebed

Lancashire
County ‘(f}?-

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ("&:3‘:)
L/ 5



Zv€ abed

Lancashire

County ‘6‘*‘%?-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council %\.9\‘})

J
F&



cp¢ abed

Lancashire

County ‘6"‘%@-
www.lancashire.gov.uk Council ?g;?




yv¢ abed

Lancashire

County ‘6;}?.

www.lancashire.gov.uk Council g‘%‘:)
L/ 5




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	4 Guidance
	Guidance ANNEX A
	Guidance ANNEX B
	Guidance ANNEX C

	5 The Constitution, Membership, Terms of Reference and Programme of Meetings for the Regulatory Committee
	Appendix 1 The Constitution, Membership, Terms of Reference and Programme of Meetings for the Regulatory Committee

	6 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981<br/>Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation<br/>Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall and Upgrade of Footpath to Bridleway from Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle<br/>File No. 804-609 <br/>
	Route Plan 1 DMMO Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall and Upgrade of Footpath to Bridleway from Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle
	Route Plan 2 DMMO Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall and Upgrade of Footpath to Bridleway from Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle
	Location Plan DMMO Addition of Bridleway from Noyna Road to Noyna Hall and Upgrade of Footpath to Bridleway from Noyna Hall to Moss Houses Road, Foulridge, Pendle
	Powerpoint

	7 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981<br/>Definitive Map Modification Order Investigation<br/>Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Strongstry Bridge to Stubbins Station<br/>File No. 804-614
	Appendix 1 DMMO Investigation - Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Strongstry Bridge to Stubbins Station
	Appendix 2 DMMO Investigation - Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Strongstry Bridge to Stubbins Station
	Appendix 3 DMMO Investigation - Addition of Footpath along dismantled railway line from Strongstry Bridge to Stubbins Station
	Powerpoint

	8 Highways Act 1980 - Section 119<br/>Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A <br/>Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton, Chorley Borough<br/>
	Committee plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton, Chorley
	Location plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton, Chorley
	Powerpoint:Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Heapey 27 at Black Lion Farm, Wheelton, Chorley

	9 Highways Act 1980 - Section 119<br/>Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A <br/>Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Wheelton 19 at Clovian House and Miry Fold Farm, Briers Brow, Wheelton, Chorley Borough<br/>
	Committee plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19 at Clovian House, Briers Brow, Chorley
	Location plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19 at Clovian House, Briers Brow, Chorley
	Powerpoint: Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Wheelton 19 at Clovian House, Briers Brow, Chorley

	10 Highways Act 1980 - Section 119<br/>Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A <br/>Proposed Diversion of Part of Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm, Wycoller Road, Trawden, Pendle Borough<br/>
	Committee plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm, Wycollar Road, Colne
	Location plan Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm, Wycollar Road, Colne
	Powerpoint: Section 119 Diversion of part of Footpath Trawden 188 at Parson Lee Farm, Wycollar Road, Colne

	11 Highways Act 1980 - Section 118<br/>Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Section 53A <br/>Proposed Extinguishment of Part of the Recorded Route of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, From Windsor Avenue to Staghills Road, Rossendale Borough<br/>
	Committee plan Section 118 Extinguishment of part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Windsor Avenue, Newchurch, Rossendale
	Location plan Section 118 Extinguishment of part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Windsor Avenue, Newchurch, Rossendale
	Appendix 1 Section 118 Extinguishment of part of Footpath Rawtenstall 205, Windsor Avenue, Newchurch, Rossendale


